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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forwardlooking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements
because they contain words such as "may," "will," "appears," "shall," "should," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "could," "intends," "target," "projects,"
"contemplates," "believes," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," or "continue," or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern our
expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, but are not limited to, statements
related to the impacts of the COVID-19 global health pandemic, including its impact on us, our operations, or our future financial or operational results; our
expectations regarding restructuring charges with respect to the workforce reduction implemented in response to the COVID-19 global health pandemic;
statements regarding our credit agreement and our convertible senior notes, including the intended use of the net proceeds; statements about our future financial
performance, including our revenue, costs of revenue and operating expenses; our anticipated growth and growth strategies and our ability to effectively manage
that growth; our ability to achieve and grow profitability; the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs; our ability to
maintain the security and availability of our platform; our predictions about industry and market trends; our ability to attract and retain creators; our ability to
successfully operate internationally; our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property; our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and
key personnel; our ability to comply with modified or new laws and regulations applying to our business; and our ability to successfully defend litigation brought
against us.
The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including
those described in the section titled "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all
of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future
events.
All forward-looking statements are based on information and estimates available to the Company at the time of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and are
not guarantees of future performance. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to reflect
events or circumstances after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as
required by law.

Table of Contents

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except par value and share amounts)
(Unaudited)
September 30,
2020
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Funds receivable
Accounts receivable, net
Creator signing fees, net
Creator advances, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Creator signing fees, noncurrent
Creator advances, noncurrent
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Acquired intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable, creators
$
Accounts payable, trade
Chargebacks and refunds reserve
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued taxes
Operating lease liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Accrued taxes, noncurrent
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding as of September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 1,100,000,000 shares authorized; 91,618,627 shares issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 2020; 85,718,860 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$

(See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements)
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December 31,
2019

543,296
9,616
736
5,105
8,456
11,957
579,166
2,632
8,669
886
13,536
18,076
170,560
41,332
9,969
844,826

$

217,762
1,414
49,588
5,961
2,199
6,245
10,300
293,469
14,439
13,667
201,531
103
523,209

$

$

420,712
54,896
2,932
9,597
22,282
14,157
524,576
2,228
16,710
922
19,735
22,160
170,560
49,158
1,966
808,015

307,871
1,870
2,699
6,347
5,409
9,115
16,997
350,308
15,173
16,162
—
557
382,200

—

—

1
898,929
(577,313)
321,617
844,826

1
798,640
(372,826)
425,815
808,015

$
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September
Nine Months Ended September
30,
30,
2020
2019
2020
2019
$
21,868 $
82,052 $
79,348 $
244,136
11,231
33,389
49,330
95,073
10,637
48,663
30,018
149,063

Net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Product development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Net loss

$

11,540
(5,011)
15,845
22,374
(11,737)
(10,284)
—
2,837
(19,184)
243
(19,427) $

Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding used to compute net loss per
share, basic and diluted

$

(0.21) $
90,973

16,211
28,764
27,390
72,365
(23,702)
(853)
(1,742)
(3,700)
(29,997)
147
(30,144) $

42,758
91,831
80,426
215,015
(184,997)
(13,921)
—
(5,262)
(204,180)
307
(204,487) $

47,436
76,542
75,057
199,035
(49,972)
(2,978)
(1,742)
(1,145)
(55,837)
(946)
(54,891)

(0.36) $

(2.31) $

(0.68)

83,063

(See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements)
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88,441

81,094

Table of Contents

EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)
Common Stock-Class A
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2019
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options
Issuance of restricted stock awards
Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs
Shares withheld related to net share settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to Class A
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2020
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs
Shares withheld related to net share settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to Class A
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Equity component of convertible notes, net of issuance costs
Purchase of convertible senior notes capped calls
Issuance of common stock for ESPP Purchase
Shares issued in connection with term loans stock purchase
agreement
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at June 30, 2020
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options
Issuance of restricted stock awards
Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs
Shares withheld related to net share settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to Class A
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2020

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock-Class B

Amount

Shares

Amount

61,863,617 $
738,410
480
304,600
(110,411)
262,483
—
—
—
63,059,179
1,290,333
228,233
(70,098)
221,847
—
—
—
98,476

1
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

23,855,243 $
—
—
—
—
(262,483)
—
—
—
23,592,760
13,004
—
—
(221,847)
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

2,599,174
—
—
67,427,144
536,240
17,638
392,720
(139,032)
13,620
—
—
68,248,330 $

—
—
—
1
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1

—
—
—
23,383,917
—
—
—
—
(13,620)
—
—
23,370,297 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

(See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements)
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Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

798,640 $ (372,826) $ 425,815
4,654
—
4,654
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,713)
—
(1,713)
—
—
—
61
—
61
11,201
—
11,201
—
(146,476)
(146,476)
812,843
(519,302)
293,542
6,837
—
6,837
—
—
—
(616)
—
(616)
—
—
—
180
—
180
45,452
—
45,452
(15,600)
—
(15,600)
721
—
721
27,369
—
9,718
—
—
(38,584)
886,904
(557,886)
2,624
—
—
—
—
—
(1,218)
—
—
—
10,619
—
—
(19,427)
898,929 $ (577,313) $

27,369
9,718
(38,584)
329,019
2,624
—
—
(1,218)
—
10,619
(19,427)
321,617
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)
Common Stock-Class A
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2018
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Issuance of restricted stock awards
Issuance of common stock for settlement of
RSUs
Shares withheld related to net share settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to
Class A
Retirement of treasury shares
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of
ASU 2014-09
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of
ASU 2016-02
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2019
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Issuance of restricted stock awards
Issuance of common stock for settlement of
RSUs
Issuance of common stock for ESPP Purchase
Shared withheld related to the net share
settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to
Class A
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at June 30, 2019
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock options
Issuance of restricted stock awards
Issuance of common stock for settlement of
RSUs
Shares withheld related to net share settlement
Conversion of common stock from Class B to
Class A
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Stock-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at September 30, 2019

Amount

11,502,993

$

Common Stock-Class B
Shares

Treasury Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

—

66,855,401 $

—

1,785,106
4,402

—
—

249,207
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

12,427
—

—
—

12,427
—

62,263
(24,249)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(560)

—
—

—
(560)

21,095,075
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

(21,095,075)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
188,480
—
—

—
488
—
—

—
(488)
92
8,330

—
—
—
—

—
—
92
8,330

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(600)

(600)

—
—
34,425,590

—
—
—

—
—
46,009,533

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
738,206

(771)
(9,953)
(314,019)

(771)
(9,953)
424,187

1,785,361
21,016

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

10,526
—

—
—

10,526
—

52,204
167,706

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
2,234

—
—

—
2,234

(11,858)

—

—

—

—

—

(253)

—

(253)

11,491,455
—
—
—
47,931,474

—
—
—
—
—

(11,491,455)
—
—
—
34,518,078

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
92
9,154
—
759,959

—
—
—
(14,794)
(328,813)

—
92
9,154
(14,794)
431,146

1,486,012
369,140

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

9,859
—

—
—

9,859
—

107,554
(40,157)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
(704)

—
—

—
(704)

7,399,542
—
—
—
57,253,565 $

1
—
—
—
1

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
(1)
—
—
92
—
—
10,276
—
—
—
(30,144)
— $ 779,481 $ (358,957) $

(7,399,542)
—
—
—
27,118,536 $

(188,480) $ (488) $ 718,405

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements)
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$ (302,695) $

415,222

—
92
10,276
(30,144)
420,525
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of creator signing fees
Noncash operating lease expense
Accretion of debt discounts and issuance costs
Loss on debt extinguishment
Stock-based compensation
Provision for chargebacks and refunds
Impairment charges
Provision for bad debt and creator advances
Loss on disposal of assets
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Funds receivable
Creator signing fees, net
Creator advances, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable, creators
Accounts payable, trade
Chargebacks and refunds reserve
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued taxes
Operating lease liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes, noncurrent
Other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized internal-use software development costs
Net cash used in investing activities

9

$

(204,487) $

(54,891)

17,272
7,260
5,872
9,775
—
30,541
73,168
9,873
16,743
2,393
(23)

18,081
7,741
5,969
326
1,742
26,769
15,209
2,955
3,982
61
(778)

(1,989)
45,280
(3,943)
1,137
1,703
444
(90,109)
(577)
(26,279)
(385)
(3,210)
(7,222)
(9,821)
(711)
16
(127,279)

(1,182)
14,280
(16,505)
(6,690)
6,262
84
94,596
1,068
(14,357)
(22)
(3,350)
(6,472)
6,546
(669)
(902)
99,853

(1,316)
(3,292)
(4,608)

(4,959)
(6,416)
(11,375)
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ESPP
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards
Principal payments on debt obligations
Proceeds from issuance of debt and common stock, net of issuance costs paid
Purchase of convertible notes capped calls
Payments on finance lease obligations
Payments of deferred offering costs
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Beginning of period
End of period
Supplemental cash flow data
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net of refunds
Noncash investing and financing activities
Vesting of early exercised stock options
Purchases of property and equipment, accrued but unpaid
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities

721
14,115
(666)
—
256,729
(15,600)
(424)
—
254,875
122,988

$

$

439,400
487,415

$

1,935
619

$

2,632
860

$

241
61
2,273

$

276
167
—

(See accompanying Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements)
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422,940
545,928

2,234
32,814
(833)
(73,594)
(457)
—
(214)
(413)
(40,463)
48,015
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EVENTBRITE, INC.
Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business
Eventbrite, Inc. (Eventbrite or the Company) has built a powerful, broad technology platform to enable creators to solve the challenges associated with
creating live and online experiences. The Company’s platform integrates components needed to seamlessly plan, promote and produce live events, thereby
allowing creators to reduce friction and costs, increase reach and drive ticket sales.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company are unaudited. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and
footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 included herein was
derived from the audited financial statements as of that date.
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial
statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments of a normal and recurring nature considered necessary to state fairly the Company's
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The
interim results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2020 or for any other future annual or interim period.
The information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations," "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" and the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto
included in Items 7, 7A and 8, respectively, in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2019 Form 10-K).
The Company adopted ASC 842 in the 2019 Form 10-K and retroactively applied its provisions to January 1, 2019 in accordance with ASU No. 2018-11,
Targeted Improvements to ASC 842 using a modified retrospective approach, thereby recasting the results of operations for each of the first three quarters of 2019.
The recast results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 are reflected as such in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. For further information,
see Note 7.
Use of Estimates
In order to conform with U.S. GAAP, the Company is required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions when preparing its consolidated
financial statements. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the reported assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported periods. These estimates include, but are not limited
to, the recoverability of creator signing fees and creator advances, the chargebacks and refunds reserve, the capitalization and estimated useful life of internal-use
software, certain assumptions used in the valuation of equity awards, assumptions used in determining the fair value of business combinations, the allowance for
doubtful accounts, indirect tax reserves and contra-revenue amounts related to fraudulent events, customer disputed transactions and refunds. The Company
evaluates these estimates on an ongoing basis. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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COVID-19 Impacts
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a global health pandemic referred to as COVID-19 arose and has disrupted many industries around the
world, including the live events industry, resulting in the cancellation or postponement of live events. The effect of and uncertainties surrounding the COVID-19
pandemic has caused the Company to make significant estimates in its unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2020, specifically related to chargebacks and refunds due to cancelled or postponed events, which impacts net revenue, advance
payouts, creator signing fees and creator advances. The COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing in nature and the Company will continue to revise such estimates in future
reporting periods to reflect management's best estimates of future outcomes. The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected the Company’s results of operations
in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. Significant uncertainty remains regarding the extent and duration of the impact that the COVID-19
pandemic will have on the Company’s business. The full extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition
cannot be predicted at this time, and the impact of COVID-19 may persist for an extended period of time or become more pronounced.
2020 Restructuring
In April 2020, the Company's board of directors approved a program to reduce the Company's global workforce personnel by approximately 45% (the RIF).
This resulted in total restructuring costs of $9.5 million associated with the RIF which was substantially completed in the second quarter of 2020. Remaining
restructuring costs during the three months ended September 30, 2020 were immaterial.
Comprehensive Loss
For all periods presented, comprehensive loss equaled net loss. Therefore, the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss have been omitted
from the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
Segment Information
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is the chief operating decision maker. The Company's CEO reviews discrete financial information presented
on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating the Company’s financial performance. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it
operates as a single operating segment and has one reporting unit.
2. Significant Accounting Policies
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes (ASU 2019-12). This standard simplifies accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles and amending
existing guidance to improve consistent application. The Company adopted this new standard effective January 1, 2020. Its adoption had no material impact on the
Company's financial reporting or results of operations.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework-Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for
Fair Value Measurement (ASU 2018-13). The amendments modify the disclosure requirements in Topic 820 to add disclosures regarding changes in unrealized
gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements and the narrative description
of measurement uncertainty. Certain disclosure requirements in Topic 820 are also removed or modified. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted this new standard effective January 1, 2020. Its adoption had no
material impact on the Company's financial reporting or results of operations.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (ASU 201704), which eliminates the requirement to calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. The Company adopted this new
standard effective January 1, 2020. Its adoption had no material impact on the Company's financial reporting or results of operations.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments
(ASU 2016-13), which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost, including trade receivables.
ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss model that requires the use of forward-looking information to calculate
credit loss estimates. The Company adopted this new standard effective January 1, 2020 and has considered forward-looking information in its measurement and
recognition of expected credit losses for its accounts receivables, creator signing fees and creator advances, including consideration of the financial statement
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Refer to Note 3, Note 4 and Note 5 for further information.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Topic 470) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Topic 815), which eliminates the beneficial conversion and cash conversion accounting models for convertible instruments. It also amends
the accounting for certain contracts in an entity’s own equity that are currently accounted for as derivatives because of specific settlement provisions. In addition,
the new guidance modifies how particular convertible instruments and certain contracts that may be settled in cash or shares impact the diluted earnings per share
computation. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company is evaluating the accounting, transition and disclosure requirements of this standard.
Significant Accounting Policies
The Company's significant accounting policies are discussed in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies" in
the 2019 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes to these policies that have had a material impact on the Company's unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes, except as noted below.
Revenue Recognition
The Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Other Assets and Deferred Costs—Contracts with Customers
(Subtopic 340-40) (ASC 606) on January 1, 2019.
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
Determination of the transaction price
Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Recognition of revenue, when, or as, the Company satisfies the performance obligation

The Company derives its revenues primarily from service fees and payment processing fees charged at the time a ticket for an event is sold. The Company
also derives revenues from providing certain creators with account management services and customer support. The Company's customers are event creators who
use the Company's platform to sell tickets to attendees. Revenue is recognized when or as control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers, in
an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The Company allocates the transaction price by
estimating a standalone selling price for each performance obligation using an expected cost plus a margin approach. For service fees and payment processing fees,
revenue is recognized when the ticket is sold. For account management services and customer support, revenue is recognized over the period from the date of the
sale of the ticket to the date of the event.
The event creator has the choice of whether to use Eventbrite Payment Processing (EPP) or to use a third-party payment processor, referred to as Facilitated
Payment Processing (FPP). Under the EPP option, the Company is the merchant of record and is responsible for processing the transaction and collecting the face
value of the ticket and all associated fees at the time the ticket is sold. The Company is also responsible for remitting these amounts collected, less the Company's
fees, to the event creator. Under the FPP option, Eventbrite is not responsible for processing the transaction or collecting the face value of the ticket and associated
fees. In this case, the Company invoices the creator for all of the Company's fees.
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The Company evaluates whether it is appropriate to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon its evaluation of whether the Company obtains
control of the specified goods or services by considering if it is primarily responsible for fulfillment of the promise, has inventory risk, and has the latitude in
establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other factors. The Company determined the event creator is the party responsible for fulfilling the promise to
the attendee, as the creator is responsible for providing the event for which a ticket is sold, is responsible for determining the price of the ticket and is responsible
for providing a refund if the event is canceled. The Company's service provides a platform for the creator and event attendee to transact and the Company's
performance obligation is to facilitate and process that transaction and issue the ticket. The amount that the Company earns for its services is fixed. For the
payment processing service, the Company determined that it is the principal in providing the service as the Company is responsible for fulfilling the promise to
process the payment and has discretion and latitude in establishing the price of its service. Based on management's assessment, the Company records revenue on a
net basis related to its ticketing service and on a gross basis related to its payment processing service. As a result, costs incurred for processing the transactions are
included in cost of net revenues in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Revenue is presented net of indirect taxes, value-added taxes, creator royalties and reserves for customer refunds, payment chargebacks and estimated
uncollectible amounts, including estimates related to the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic. If an event is cancelled by a creator, then any obligations to provide
refunds to event attendees are the responsibility of that creator. If a creator is unwilling or unable to fulfill their refund obligations, the Company may, at its
discretion, provide attendee refunds. Revenue is also presented net of the amortization of creator signing fees. The benefit the Company receives by securing
exclusive ticketing and payment processing rights with certain creators from creator signing fees is inseparable from the customer relationship with the creator and
accordingly these fees are recorded as a reduction of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. See also the descriptions of the Company’s
advance payouts under the sections Accounts Payable, Creators and Chargebacks and Refund Reserve below.
Cost of Net Revenue
Cost of net revenue consists primarily of payment processing fees, platform and website hosting fees and operational costs, amortization of acquired
developed technology costs, amortization of capitalized internal-use software development costs, field operations costs and allocated customer support costs.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents includes bank deposits and money market funds held with financial institutions. Cash and cash equivalents balances include the
face value of tickets sold on behalf of creators and their share of service charges, which are to be remitted to the creators. Such balances were $208.8 million and
$256.8 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Although creator cash is legally unrestricted, the Company does not utilize creator
cash for its own financing or investing activities as the amounts are payable to creators on a regular basis. These amounts due to creators are included in accounts
payable, creators on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company considers all highly liquid investments, including money market funds with an original
maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents.
The Company has issued letters of credit under lease agreements and other agreements which have been collateralized with cash. This cash is classified as
noncurrent restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets. The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of the same amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$
$

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

543,296
2,632
545,928

December 31,
2019

$
$

420,712
2,228
422,940

Funds Receivable
Funds receivable represents cash-in-transit from third-party payment processors that is received by the Company within approximately five business days
from the date of the underlying ticketing transaction. The funds receivable balances include the face value of tickets sold on behalf of creators and their share of
service charges, which amounts are to be remitted to the creators. Such amounts were $9.0 million and $51.1 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively.
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Accounts Payable, Creators
Accounts payable, creators consists of unremitted ticket sale proceeds, net of Eventbrite service fees and applicable taxes. Amounts are remitted to creators
within five business days subsequent to the completion of the related event. Creators may apply to receive these proceeds prior to completion of their events as
creators often need these funds to pay for event-related costs. For qualified creators, the Company passes ticket sales proceeds to the creator prior to the event,
subject to certain limitations. Internally, the Company refers to these payments as advance payouts. When an advance payout is made, the Company reduces its
cash and cash equivalents with a corresponding decrease to its accounts payable, creators. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect of causing creators
to cancel, postpone or reschedule events, the Company temporarily suspended its advance payouts program on March 11, 2020, at which date the total advance
payouts to creators related to future events was approximately $354.0 million. As of September 30, 2020, the advance payouts outstanding had reduced to
approximately $227.1 million, as a result of creators fulfilling their refund obligations with creator funds as well as events taking place. The Company is exploring
new ways to make advance payouts to qualified creators who meet strict guidelines and has started making advance payouts available to a limited number of low
risk creators.
Chargebacks and Refunds Reserve
The terms of the Company's standard merchant agreement obligate creators to reimburse attendees who are entitled to refunds. When the Company provides
advance payouts, it assumes risk that the event may be cancelled, fraudulent, or materially not as described, resulting in significant chargebacks and refund
requests. If the creator is insolvent or has spent the proceeds of the ticket sales for event-related costs, the Company may not be able to recover its losses from these
events, and such unrecoverable amounts could equal the value of the transaction or transactions settled to the creator prior to the event that is disputed, plus any
associated chargeback fees not assumed by the creator. The Company records estimates for refunds and chargebacks of its fees as contra-revenue. The Company
records estimates for losses related to chargebacks and refunds of the face value of tickets as an operating expense classified within sales, marketing and support.
Reserves are recorded based on the Company's assessment of various factors, including the amounts paid and outstanding to creators in conjunction with the
advance payout program, the size and nature of future events, the remaining time to event date, and actual chargeback and refund activity during the current year.
The chargebacks and refunds reserve was $49.6 million and $2.7 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The increase in the
reserve balance during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was the result of estimated losses from the advance payout program and estimated future
refunds of its fees, relating largely to the COVID-19 pandemic. Prior to March 31, 2020, the Company included its chargebacks and refunds reserve in other
accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, and has reclassified the balance as of December 31, 2019 on the condensed consolidated balance sheets
included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be consistent with the presentation as of September 30, 2020.
Impairment of Long-lived Assets
The carrying amounts of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, capitalized internal-use software, acquired intangible assets and right-of-use
operating lease assets are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may
not be recoverable or that the useful life is shorter than originally estimated. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying
amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows the asset is expected to generate over its remaining life.
If the asset is considered to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the
impaired asset. If the useful life is shorter than originally estimated, the Company amortizes the remaining carrying value over the revised shorter useful life.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company determined that conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic warranted an interim
assessment of its long-lived assets balance. The Company performed a recoverability test and concluded no impairment of the carrying value was required.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets
acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but the Company evaluates goodwill impairment of its single reporting unit annually in the fourth
quarter, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired.
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The Company determined that the conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and the decline in the market value of the Company's common stock
warranted an interim assessment of its goodwill carrying amount. On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU 2017-04, which eliminates the requirement to
calculate the implied fair value of goodwill to measure a goodwill impairment charge. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company performed
its analysis by comparing the estimated fair value of the Company to its carrying amount, including goodwill. The Company's analysis indicated that its estimated
fair value, using the market price of its common stock, exceeded its carrying amount and therefore goodwill was not impaired and no additional steps were
necessary.
Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value at each reporting date using a fair value hierarchy that requires the Company to
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s classification within the
fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Three levels of inputs may be used to measure fair
value:
Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2 – Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity.
The Company’s cash equivalents, funds receivable, accounts receivable, accounts payable, funds payable and other current liabilities approximate their fair
value. All such financial assets and liabilities are Level 1 and are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. There were no other Level 1 assets or liabilities
recorded at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Refer to Note 8 “Debt” for details regarding the fair value of our term loans and convertible senior notes.
3. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net is comprised of invoiced amounts to customers who use FPP for payment processing as well as other invoiced amounts. During the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recorded $0.1 million and $2.1 million, respectively, of incremental allowance for doubtful
accounts, including estimated future losses in consideration of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following table summarizes the Company’s accounts
receivable balances as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Accounts receivable, customers
Allowance for doubtful accounts

$
$

Accounts receivable, net

16

2,484 $
(1,748)
736 $

December 31,
2019

4,979
(2,047)
2,932
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4. Creator Signing Fees, Net
Creator signing fees are incentives paid by the Company to secure exclusive ticketing and payment processing rights with certain creators. As of
September 30, 2020, the balance of creator signing fees, net is being amortized over a weighted-average remaining contract life of 3.02 years on a straight-line
basis. The write-offs and other adjustments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 include estimated future losses in consideration of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The following table summarizes the activity in creator signing fees for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Balance, beginning of period
Creator signing fees paid
Amortization of creator signing fees
Write-offs and other adjustments

$

$

Balance, end of period

16,750 $
41
(1,960)
(1,057)
13,774 $

20,763
7,254
(2,826)
(215)
24,976

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Balance, beginning of period
Creator signing fees paid
Amortization of creator signing fees
Write-offs and other adjustments

$

$

Balance, end of period

26,307 $
3,943
(7,260)
(9,216)
13,774 $

17,005
16,440
(7,741)
(728)
24,976

Creator signing fees are classified as follows on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Creator signing fees, net
Creator signing fees, noncurrent

$

Total creator signing fees

$

5,105
8,669
13,774

December 31,
2019

$
$

9,597
16,710
26,307

5. Creator Advances, Net
Creator advances provide the creator with funds in advance of the event and are subsequently recovered by withholding amounts due to the Company from
the sale of tickets for the event until the creator payment has been fully recovered. The write-offs and other adjustments for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020 include estimated future losses in consideration of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following table summarizes the activity in creator advances
for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Balance, beginning of period
Creator advances paid
Creator advances recouped
Write-offs and other adjustments
Balance, end of period

$

$

17

11,418 $
—
(2,050)
(26)
9,342 $

28,716
8,525
(10,348)
(2,096)
24,797

Table of Contents

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Balance, beginning of period

$

23,204

Creator advances paid
Creator advances recouped
Write-offs and other adjustments
Balance, end of period

$

7,665

27,609

(8,803)

(21,011)

(12,724)
9,342 $

$

23,142

(4,943)
24,797

Creator advances, net are classified as follows on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Creator advances, net
Creator advances, noncurrent
Total creator advances

$

8,456
886
9,342

$

December 31,
2019

$
$

22,282
922
23,204

6. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Capitalized internal-use software development costs
Furniture and fixtures
Computers and computer equipment
Leasehold improvements
Finance lease right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

$

$

Property, plant and equipment, net

December 31,
2019

48,384 $
3,664
8,912
8,221
607
69,788
(56,252)
13,536 $

44,194
3,861
14,836
8,393
1,005
72,289
(52,554)
19,735

The Company recorded the following amounts related to depreciation of fixed assets and capitalized internal-use software development costs during the
periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Depreciation expense

$

Capitalized internal-use software development costs
Amortization of capitalized internal-use software development costs

863
1,166
1,885

18

$

1,591
2,485
1,965

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

$

3,354
4,190
6,092

$

4,827
7,407
5,464
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7. Leases
Adoption of ASC 842
The Company adopted ASC 842 in the fourth quarter of 2019, effective as of January 1, 2019 and applied a modified retrospective transition approach. The
Company will continue to account for comparative reporting periods prior to that date under ASC 840.
Upon the adoption of ASC 842, the Company derecognized the build-to-suit asset and related lease financing obligation in their entirety, with the exception
of the remaining net book value of lessee-owned tenant improvement assets which will be depreciated over the remaining term of the lease. The Company
reclassified the San Francisco office lease as an operating lease consistent with the adoption ASC 842. The adoption effect of derecognizing the build-to-suit assets
and lease financing obligation and recognizing operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balances sheets was as follows
(in thousands):
December 31,
2019

Property, plant and equipment, net
Other accrued liabilities
Build-to-suit lease financing obligation
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Operating lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent
Accumulated deficit

$

814
—
—
5,953
5,580
1,446
135

January 1,
2019

$

December 31,
2018

(26,676) $
(552)
(28,510)
10,130
5,167
7,026
135

28,101
552
28,510
—
—
—
—

As a result of the derecognition of the San Francisco office lease as a build-to-suit lease and reclassification to an operating lease under ASC 842, the
Company recast its previously reported results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Initially
Effect of ASC 842
Recast
As Reported
Adoption
As Reported

Net Revenue
Cost of Net Revenue
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses:
Product Development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative

$

82,052
33,345
48,707

$

15,902
28,552
27,159
71,613

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision
$

Net loss

19

(22,906)
(1,681)
(1,742)
(3,700)
(30,029)
147
(30,176) $

— $
44
(44)

82,052
33,389
48,663

309
212
231
752

16,211
28,764
27,390
72,365

(796)
828
—
—
32
—
32 $

(23,702)
(853)
(1,742)
(3,700)
(29,997)
147
(30,144)
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Initially
Effect of ASC 842
Recast
As Reported
Adoption
As Reported

Net Revenue
Cost of Net Revenue
Gross Profit
Operating Expenses:
Product Development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision

$

Net loss

$

244,136
94,936
149,200

$

— $
137
(137)

244,136
95,073
149,063

46,461
75,986
74,337
196,784
(47,584)
(5,482)
(1,742)
(1,145)
(55,953)
(946)
(55,007) $

975
556
720
2,251
(2,388)
2,504
—
—
116
—
116 $

47,436
76,542
75,057
199,035
(49,972)
(2,978)
(1,742)
(1,145)
(55,837)
(946)
(54,891)

The Company has also recast its previously reported consolidated cash flows in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the nine months ended September
30, 2019. The derecognition of the build-to-suit lease resulted in a reclassification of $0.6 million of cash outflow in financing activities to cash outflow in
operating activities. The $0.6 million was reclassified to cash flows from operating activities amongst net loss, depreciation and amortization, noncash operating
lease expense, prepaid expenses and other current assets, operating lease liabilities, other current liabilities and other liabilities in the condensed consolidated
statements of cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Operating Leases
The Company leases its office facilities under operating lease arrangements with varying expiration dates through 2029. Operating lease right-of-use assets
and operating lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. Right-of-use
assets also include adjustments related to prepaid or deferred lease payments and lease incentives. As most of the Company's leases do not provide an implicit
interest rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The incremental
borrowing rate is calculated based on hypothetical fully-secured borrowings to fund each respective lease over the lease term as of the lease commencement date,
based on an assessment of the company's implied credit rating.
Options to extend or terminate a lease are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. As of
September 30, 2020, the remaining lease term of the Company's operating leases ranges from less than one year to ten years.
The components of operating lease costs were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Operating lease costs
Sublease income
Total operating lease costs, net

$

1,977 $
(1,082)
895 $

$

2,036 $
(995)
1,041 $

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

5,872 $
(3,124)
2,748 $

5,969
(2,939)
3,030

The Company made cash payments of $2.3 million and $7.2 million for operating lease liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020, respectively, and $2.4 million and $6.5 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, which is included within the
operating activities section on the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.
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As of September 30, 2020, the Company's operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 4.66 years and a weighted-average discount rate
of 3.5%.
As of September 30, 2020, maturities of operating lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
Operating Leases

The remainder of 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total operating lease payments
Less: Imputed interest

$

Total operating lease liabilities

$

2,270
5,280
3,823
3,646
2,525
4,628
22,172
(2,260)
19,912

Finance Leases
The Company leases certain computer equipment under finance leases. Finance lease right-of-use assets had a carrying amount of $0.1 million and $0.4
million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 respectively and are included in property, plant and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets.
Finance lease liabilities totaled $0.3 million as of September 30, 2020, with $0.2 million and $0.1 million included in other accrued liabilities and other noncurrent
liabilities, respectively on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. Finance lease liabilities totaled $0.7 million as of December 31, 2019, with $0.4 million and
$0.3 million included in other accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities, respectively, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
8. Debt
As of September 30, 2020, long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
Convertible Notes
(2025 Notes)

Term Loans

Outstanding principal balance
Less: Unamortized discount
Less: Debt issuance costs

$

$

Carrying amount, long-term debt

125,000 $
(19,663)
(4,529)
100,808 $

Total

150,000 $
(45,511)
(3,766)
100,723 $

275,000
(65,174)
(8,295)
201,531

The Company had no outstanding debt as of December 31, 2019.
The following tables set forth the total interest expense recognized related to the Term Loans and liability component for the 2025 Notes (in thousands):
Term Loans
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

Convertible Notes (2025 Notes)
Three Months Ended
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020
September 30, 2020

Cash interest expense
Amortization of debt discount
Amortization of debt issuance costs

$

$

Total interest expense

$

1,290
4,437
1,022
6,749

21

$

$

1,874
6,415
1,478
9,767

$

1,875
1,504
125
3,504

$

$

2,188
1,739
144
4,071
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Term Loans
In May 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement (Credit Agreement) with FP EB Aggregator, L.P. and FP Credit Partners, L.P., as the
administrative agent, which Credit Agreement was amended on June 15, 2020 to, among other things, appoint Wilmington Trust, National Association as
administrative agent in place of FP Credit Partners, L.P. The Credit Agreement provides for initial term loans (Initial Term Loans) in the aggregate principal
amount of $125.0 million, and delayed draw term loans (Delayed Draw Term Loans, and together with the Initial Term Loans, Term Loans) in an aggregate
principal amount of $100.0 million. The Delayed Draw Term Loans may only be accessed from December 31, 2020 until September 30, 2021 (Delayed Draw
Termination Date), subject to certain conditions. In accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, the amount currently available under the Delayed Draw
Term Loans is $50.0 million as a result of the Company issuing $150.0 million in convertible senior notes, discussed in further detail below. The full amount of the
Initial Term Loans were drawn on May 19, 2020 (Initial Funding Date). Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (i) 4.0%
payable in Cash Pay Interest (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and (ii) 8.5% Payment in Kind (PIK) Interest (as defined in the Credit Agreement). PIK interest
is payable by increasing the principal amount over the term of the Initial Term Loans. The Initial Term Loans mature on the fifth anniversary of the Initial Funding
Date, and there are no periodic payments with respect to the principal of the Initial Term Loans. Cash interest payments are due quarterly on each of June 30,
September 30, December 31, and March 31. The Company incurred total cash costs of $13.2 million, of which $7.6 million were debt issuance costs and the
remaining $5.6 million debt discount.
In May 2020, in connection with the execution of the Credit Agreement, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement (Stock Purchase Agreement)
with FP EB Aggregator, L.P. (Purchaser) to issue and sell 2,599,174 shares of Class A Common Stock to the Purchaser for a purchase price of $0.01 per share.
These shares were purchased on the Initial Funding Date. The Company accounted for these shares at fair value and recorded $27.4 million as additional debt
discount, resulting in total debt issuance costs and discount of $40.6 million.
The Company allocated $29.0 million of the total debt discount and issuance costs to the Initial Term Loans and $11.6 million of the total debt discount and
issuance costs to the Delayed Draw Term Loans. The amount allocated to the Initial Term Loans is recorded as a reduction to the carrying amount of the debt and
is being accreted over the contractual term of the loans using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the Initial Term Loans is 18.5%. The
amount allocated to the Delayed Draw Term Loans is recorded in Other assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheets and is being amortized straight-line
through the Delayed Draw Termination Date. Once the Delayed Draw Term Loans are drawn, the Company will derecognize the associated asset and record a
discount on Delayed Draw Term Loans equal to the unamortized fee. If the Company borrows a portion of Delayed Draw Term Loans, only a proportionate
amount of the asset should be recognized as debt discount.
Optional prepayments of borrowings under the Credit Agreement are permitted at any time, in whole or in part, but are subject to a prepayment premium
during the first four years following the Initial Funding Date at a Make-Whole Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in year one, 12% in year two, 10% in
year three and 8% in year four as more fully set forth in the Credit Agreement. Subject to certain exceptions, the Company will be required to prepay certain
amounts outstanding under the Term Loans with the net cash proceeds (as customarily defined in the Credit Agreement) of certain asset sales, certain casualty
events, certain issuances of non-permitted debt and certain excess cash flow (as customarily defined in the Credit Agreement). The Credit Agreement provides for
customary events of default including non-payment of obligations, inaccuracy of representations or warranties, non-performance of covenants and obligations,
default on other material debt, bankruptcy or insolvency events, material judgments, change of control, material ERISA events and certain customary events of
default relating to collateral or guarantees. Upon the occurrence of any event of default, subject to the terms of the Credit Agreement including any cure periods
specified therein, customary remedies may be exercised by the lenders under the Credit Agreement against the Company and its properties. The Company was in
compliance with all covenants as of September 30, 2020.
As of September 30, 2020, the total estimated fair value of the Term Loans was approximately $144.1 million. The fair value is considered a Level 3
valuation input.
Convertible Senior Notes
In June 2020, the Company issued the 2025 Notes, which consisted of $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000% convertible senior notes due
2025 in a private offering, inclusive of the initial purchaser's exercise in full of their option to purchase additional notes. The 2025 Notes are senior, unsecured
obligations of the Company and bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.000% per year. Interest is payable in cash semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and December 1 of
each year, beginning on December 1, 2020. The 2025 Notes mature on December 1, 2025 unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. The total net
proceeds from the 2025 Notes, after deducting the initial purchasers' discounts and debt issuance costs of $5.7 million, was $144.3 million.
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The terms of the 2025 Notes are governed by an Indenture by and between the Company and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as Trustee (the
Indenture). Upon conversion, the 2025 Notes may be settled in cash, shares of Class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of Class A common
stock, at the Company's election. It is the Company's current intent to settle the principal amount of the 2025 Notes with cash and remaining conversion value, if
any, in shares of the Class A common stock.
The 2025 Notes are convertible at an initial conversion rate of 79.3903 shares of Class A common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 2025 Notes, which
is equal to an initial conversion price of approximately $12.60 per share of Class A common stock. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment under certain
circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. Holders of the 2025 Notes may convert all or a portion of their 2025 Notes only in multiples of
$1,000 principal amount, under the following circumstances:
•

during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on September 30, 2020 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last
reported sale price per share of our Class A common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the 2025 Notes for each of the at least 20 trading
days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter;

•

during the five consecutive business days immediately after any 10 consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal
amount of 2025 Notes for each trading day of that 10 consecutive trading day period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price
of Class A common stock and the conversion rate on such trading day;

•

upon the occurrence of certain corporate events or distributions on the Company's Class A common stock, as described in the Indenture;

•

if the Company calls the 2025 Notes for redemption; or

•

at any time from, and including, June 2, 2025 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date.

Holders of the 2025 Notes who convert their 2025 Notes in connection with certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole fundamental change (as
defined in the Indenture) are, under certain circumstances, entitle to an increase in the conversion rate.
The 2025 Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the Company's option at any time and from time to time, on or after June 1, 2023 and on or before the
40th scheduled trading day immediately prior to the maturity date, at a cash redemption price equal to the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, but only if the last reported sale price per share of Class A common stock exceeds 130%
of the conversion price on (1) each of at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading dates ending on, and including, the
trading day immediately before the date the Company sends the related redemption notice; and (2) the trading day immediately before the date the Company sends
such notice. Additionally, calling any of the 2025 Notes for redemption will constitute a make-whole fundamental change with respect to that portion of the 2025
Notes, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of those 2025 Notes will be increased in certain circumstances (as described in the Indenture)
if it is converted after it is called for redemption.
If certain corporate events that constitute a “Fundamental Change” (as defined in the Indenture) occur, then, subject to a limited exception for certain cash
mergers, noteholders may require the Company to repurchase their 2025 Notes at a cash repurchase price equal to the principal amount of the 2025 Notes to be
repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the Fundamental Change repurchase date. The definition of Fundamental Change includes
certain business combination transactions involving the Company and certain de-listing events with respect to the Company’s Class A common stock.

23

Table of Contents

The 2025 Notes have customary provisions relating to the occurrence of “Events of Default” (as defined in the Indenture), which include the following: (i)
certain payment defaults on the 2025 Notes; (ii) the Company’s failure to send certain notices under the Indenture within specified periods of time; (iii) the
Company’s failure to comply with certain covenants in the Indenture relating to the Company’s ability to consolidate with or merge with or into, or sell, lease or
otherwise transfer, in one transaction or a series of transactions, all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to
another person; (iv) a default by the Company in its other obligations or agreements under the Indenture or the 2025 Notes if such default is not cured or waived
within 60 days after notice is given in accordance with the Indenture; (v) the rendering of certain judgments against the Company or any of its subsidiaries for the
payment of at least $10,000,000, where such judgments are not discharged or stayed within 45 days after the date on which the right to appeal has expired or on
which all rights to appeal have been extinguished; (vi) certain defaults by the Company or any of its significant subsidiaries with respect to indebtedness for
borrowed money of at least $10,000,000; and (vii) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency and reorganization involving the Company or any of the Company’s
significant subsidiaries.
If an Event of Default involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization events with respect to the Company (and not solely with respect to a significant
subsidiary of the Company) occurs, then the principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the 2025 Notes then outstanding will immediately
become due and payable without any further action or notice by any person. If any other Event of Default occurs and is continuing, then, the Trustee, by notice to
the Company, or noteholders of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of 2025 Notes then outstanding, by notice to the Company and the Trustee, may
declare the principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the 2025 Notes then outstanding to become due and payable immediately. However,
notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may elect, at its option, that the sole remedy for an Event of Default relating to certain failures by the Company to
comply with certain reporting covenants in the Indenture consists exclusively of the right of the noteholders to receive special interest on the 2025 Notes for up to
180 days at a specified rate per annum not exceeding 0.50% on the principal amount of the 2025 Notes.
In accounting for the issuance of the 2025 Notes, the Company separated the 2025 Notes into liability and equity components. The carrying amount of the
liability component was calculated measuring the fair value of similar liabilities that do not have associated convertible features. The carrying amount of the equity
component representing the conversion option was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the par value of the 2025 Notes. The
Company bifurcated the conversion option of the 2025 Notes from the debt instrument, classified the conversion option in equity, and will accrete the resulting
debt discount as interest expense over the contractual term of the 2025 Notes using the effective interest rate method. The carrying amount of the equity component
representing the conversion option was $47.3 million which is recorded in additional paid-in capital and is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the
conditions for equity classification. The net carrying amount of the equity component of the 2025 Notes as of September 30, 2020 was as follows:
Convertible Notes
(2025 Notes)

Proceeds allocated to the conversion option
Less: issuance costs

$
$

Carrying amount of the equity component

47,250
(1,739)
45,511

The effective interest rate of the liability component of the 2025 Notes is 13.9%, which is based on the interest rates of similar liabilities held by other
companies with similar credit risk ratings at the time of issuance that did not have associated convertible features.
Total issuance costs of $5.7 million related to the 2025 Notes were allocated between liabilities and equity in the same proportion as the allocation of the
total proceeds to the liability and equity components. Issuance costs attributable to the liability component are being amortized to interest expense over the
respective term of the 2025 Notes using the effective interest rate method. The issuance costs attributable to the equity component were netted against the
respective equity component in Additional paid-in capital. The Company recorded liability issuance costs of $3.9 million and equity issuance costs of $1.8 million.
As of September 30, 2020, the total estimated fair value of the 2025 Notes was approximately $167.4 million. The fair value was determined based on the
closing trading price per $100 of the Notes as of the last available day of trading for the period. The fair value of the Notes is primarily affected by the trading price
of our common stock and market interest rates. The fair value of the Notes is considered a Level 2 measurement as they are not actively traded.
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Capped Call Transactions
In June 2020, in connection with the offering of the 2025 Notes, the Company entered privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain financial
institutions (the Capped Calls). The Capped Calls have an initial strike price of approximately $12.60 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price
of the 2025 Notes. The Capped Calls cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the conversion rate of the 2025 Notes,
the number of shares of Class A common stock initially underlying the 2025 Notes. The Capped Calls are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to the
Company’s Class A common stock upon any conversion of the 2025 Notes and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the
principal amount of converted 2025 Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap, initially equal to $17.1520, and is subject to
certain adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call transactions. The Capped Calls will expire in December 2025, if not exercised earlier.
The Capped Calls are subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specified extraordinary events affecting the company, including merger events, tender
offers and announcement events. In addition, the Capped Calls are subject to certain specified additional disruption events that may give rise to a termination of the
Capped Calls, including nationalization, insolvency or delisting, changes in law, failures to deliver, insolvency filings and hedging disruptions. For accounting
purposes, the Capped Calls are separate transactions, and not part of the terms of the Notes. As these transactions meet certain accounting criteria, the Capped Calls
are recorded in stockholders’ equity and are not accounted for as derivatives.
In June 2020, the Company paid an aggregate of $15.6 million for the Capped Calls, which was recorded as a reduction to Additional paid-in capital in the
condensed consolidated balance sheets and will not be remeasured as long as they continue to meet certain accounting criteria.
9. Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets, Net
The carrying amounts of the Company's goodwill was $170.6 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company determined that conditions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic warranted an interim
assessment of the carrying amount of goodwill, however the Company concluded no impairment of the carrying value of goodwill was required.
Acquired intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
September 30, 2020

Accumulated
Amortization

Cost

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Tradenames
Acquired intangible assets, net

$

19,096
74,484
1,600
95,180

$

$

$

19,096
33,152
1,600
53,848

Net Book
Value

$

$

—
41,332
—
41,332

Weightedaverage
remaining
useful life
(years)

4.5

December 31, 2019

Accumulated
Amortization

Cost

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Tradenames
Acquired intangible assets, net

$

19,096
74,484
1,600
95,180

$

25

$

$

19,062
25,360
1,600
46,022

Net Book
Value

$

$

34
49,124
—
49,158

Weightedaverage
remaining
useful life
(years)

0.2
5.2
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The Company recorded amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Cost of net revenue
Sales, marketing and support

$
$

Total amortization of acquired intangible assets

—
2,616
2,616

$
$

66
2,616
2,682

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

$
$

34
7,792
7,826

$
$

390
7,775
8,165

As of September 30, 2020, the total expected future amortization expense of acquired intangible assets by year is as follows (in thousands):
The remainder of 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
$

Total expected future amortization expense

2,616
10,197
8,202
7,709
7,583
5,025
41,332

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Letters of Credit
The Company has issued letters of credit under lease and other banking agreements, which have been collateralized with cash. This cash is classified as
noncurrent restricted cash on the condensed consolidated balance sheets based on the term of the underlying agreements. Restricted cash was $2.6 million and $2.2
million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
Creator Signing Fees and Creator Advances
Creator signing fees and creator advances represent contractual amounts paid to customers pursuant to event ticketing and payment processing agreements.
Certain of the Company’s contracts include terms where future payments to creators are committed to, based on performance, as part of the overall ticketing
arrangement. The Company's contracts state that these future payments require the customer to meet certain revenue milestones or minimum ticket sales provisions
in order to earn the payment, and if that milestone or minimum is not met, the Company is not required to make such payment. The following table presents, by
year, the future creator payments not yet paid as of September 30, 2020 (in thousands):
Creator
Signing Fees

Creator Advances

The remainder of 2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

$

Total

4,530
10,427
5,453
3,919
751
25,080

$

$

1,252
2,152
379
235
—
4,018

Total

$

$

5,782
12,579
5,832
4,154
751
29,098

Litigation and Loss Contingencies
The Company accrues estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses are probable and estimable. From time to time, the Company
may become a party to litigation and subject to claims incident to the ordinary course of business, including intellectual property claims, labor and employment
claims, and threatened claims, breach of contract claims, tax and other matters. The matters discussed below summarize the Company's current ongoing pending
litigation.
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On June 4, 2020, three plaintiffs, seeking to represent a proposed class of individuals who purchased tickets on or after June 3, 2016, filed suit against
Eventbrite in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, in a case captioned Snow, et al. v. Eventbrite, Inc., Case No. 20-cv-03698 (the
Class Action). Plaintiffs allege that Eventbrite failed to provide an opportunity for purchasers of tickets to events sold through Eventbrite’s platform to obtain a
refund where the event is postponed, rescheduled, or canceled. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief in addition to restitution and monetary damages under California’s
Consumer Legal Remedies Act, False Advertising Law, and Unfair Competition Law, in addition to claims brought under California common law. Eventbrite
denies the allegations and intends to defend the case vigorously. The case is in its early stages. While the Court denied the Company's motion to compel arbitration,
the Company has not yet answered the complaint, no other motions have been made, and no other rulings have been issued. The Company is unable to predict the
likely outcome at this point.
Beginning on April 15, 2019, purported stockholders of the Company filed two putative securities class action complaints in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of California, and three putative securities class action complaints in the Superior Court of California for the County of San Mateo, against
the Company, certain of its executives and directors, and its underwriters for the Company's initial public offering (IPO). Some of these actions also name as
defendants venture capital firms that were investors in the Company as of the IPO.
On August 22, 2019, the federal court consolidated the two pending actions and appointed lead plaintiffs and lead counsel (the Federal Action). On October
11, 2019, the lead plaintiffs in the Federal Action filed their amended consolidated complaint. The amended complaint generally alleges that the Company
misrepresented and/or omitted material information in its IPO offering documents in violation of the Securities Act. The amended complaint also challenges public
statements made after the IPO in violation of the Exchange Act. The amended complaint seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief on behalf of
investors who purchased the Company's Class A common stock issued pursuant and/or traceable to the IPO offering documents, or between September 20, 2018
and May 1, 2019, inclusive. On December 11, 2019, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. On March 18, 2020, the court vacated the
hearing on the defendants' motion to dismiss set for April 16, 2020. On April 28, 2020, the court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss in its entirety with leave to
amend and set a deadline of June 24, 2020 for lead plaintiff to file its second amended consolidated complaint. On June 22, 2020, the Court extended lead
plaintiff’s deadline to file its second amended consolidated complaint to August 10, 2020.
On July 29, 2020, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the lead plaintiff in the Federal Action. The “Settlement Class” is defined in the
settlement agreement as “all persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired Eventbrite, Inc. securities: (a) pursuant or traceable to Eventbrite’s
registration statement and prospectus (“Registration Statement”) issued in connection with the Company’s September 20, 2018 IPO; or (b) between September 20,
2018 and May 1, 2019, both dates inclusive (the “Class Period”), and were damaged thereby,” excluding defendants and certain of their affiliates. If members of
the Settlement Class do not opt out and the settlement is approved, they will waive, release, discharge, and dismiss, and be forever barred and enjoined from
asserting, instituting, maintaining, prosecuting, or enforcing, claims that, among other things, “arise out of or relate in any way to both (i) the purchase, sale, or
holding of Eventbrite securities pursuant or traceable to Eventbrite’s registration statement and prospectus (“Registration Statement”) issued in connection with the
Company’s September 20, 2018 IPO or were otherwise purchased, sold, or held during the Class Period, and (ii) the allegations, transactions, acts, facts, events,
circumstances, statements, or omissions that were or could have been alleged or asserted by Plaintiffs or any member of the Settlement Class in the [Federal]
Action or in any other action in any court or forum which relate to the subject matter of [the Federal] Action.” We recorded $1.9 million of expense during the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 related to the expected settlement of the Federal Action.
On August 27, 2020, the lead plaintiff in the Federal Action filed a motion for preliminary approval of the settlement. On October 21, 2020, the Court
vacated the preliminary approval hearing set for October 29, 2020, indicating that it would decide lead plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval of settlement on
the papers. On October 30, 2020, the Court issued an order continuing the hearing date for lead plaintiff's motion for preliminary approval, tentatively scheduling a
hearing for March 18, 2021.
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On June 24, 2019, the state court consolidated two state actions pending at that time (the State Action). On July 24, 2019, the two plaintiffs in the State
Action filed a consolidated complaint. The consolidated complaint generally alleged that the Company misrepresented and/or omitted material information in the
IPO offering documents, in violation of the Securities Act. The amended complaint sought unspecified monetary damages and other relief on behalf of investors
who purchased the Company's Class A common stock issued pursuant and/or traceable to the IPO offering documents. On August 23, 2019, defendants filed
demurrers to the consolidated complaint. A third state-court action was filed on August 23, 2019. On September 11, 2019, that complaint was consolidated into the
operative complaint filed on July 24, 2019, and the court ordered that the arguments in defendants’ pending demurrers would apply to that newly filed complaint.
At the hearing on defendants’ demurrers on November 1, 2019, the court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. On December 13, 2019, the court granted
requests by two plaintiffs to voluntarily dismiss their claims without prejudice. The remaining plaintiff and two new named plaintiffs filed a first amended
consolidated complaint (FAC) on February 10, 2020. Defendants filed demurrers to the FAC on March 26, 2020. On June 10, 2020, the Court held a hearing on
Defendants’ demurrers. At the hearing and in a subsequent order on June 23, 2020, the court sustained the demurrers with leave to amend for failure to state a
claim but did not set a deadline for plaintiffs to file their second amended consolidated complaint (SAC) given certain outstanding discovery disputes between the
parties. On November 4, 2020, the court ordered plaintiffs to file the SAC on or before November 9, 2020, set a deadline of November 20, 2020 for defendants to
file any demurrers to the SAC, and scheduled a hearing on defendants’ anticipated demurrers for December 17, 2020.
The Company believes that these actions are without merit and intends to vigorously defend them. The Company cannot predict the outcome of or estimate
the possible loss or range of loss from the above described matters.
On July 16, 2019, the Company filed two complaints in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, entitled Eventbrite, Inc. v.
MF Live, Inc., et al., 3:19-CV-04084 (the MFL Action) and Eventbrite, Inc. v. Fab Loranger et al., 3:19-CV-04083 (the Loranger Action and, together with the
MFL Action, the Roxodus Lawsuits). The Roxodus Lawsuits arise out of MF Live’s (MFL) cancellation of the Roxodus music festival in Ontario, Canada, and
MFL's and Loranger's subsequent refusals to issue refunds to impacted ticket buyers or to reimburse Eventbrite for payments to such ticket buyers. Eventbrite
provided ticketing and payment processing services for the event pursuant to a written contract. When the event was cancelled and MFL refused to issue refunds,
Eventbrite issued refunds totaling $4.0 million to ticket buyers who bought tickets on the Eventbrite platform. Pursuant to Eventbrite's Merchant Agreement, MFL
was contractually required to reimburse Eventbrite for such refunds, and Loranger had signed a personal guaranty agreement committing to personally honor
MFL’s obligations if the entity failed to do so. Accordingly, the Roxodus Lawsuits assert claims for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing, fraud, money had and received, and actual and constructive fraudulent transfers.
With respect to the MFL Action, there has been no meaningful progress in the case because MFL filed for bankruptcy in Canada, effectively staying the
MFL Action. The case is in its early stage and the Company cannot predict the likelihood of success. The Company is monitoring and participating in the
bankruptcy process pursuant to its rights under Canadian law.
With respect to the Loranger Action, on October 27, 2020, the Company and the defendants attended a mediation which resulted in a settlement to resolve
the Company’s claims. The parties are preparing to execute a long-form settlement agreement. In light of the parties’ settlement, upon the occurrence of certain
agreed-upon events, the Company will seek to dismiss the Loranger Action with prejudice.
On June 18, 2020, the Company filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against M.R.G. Concerts Ltd.
(MRG) and Matthew Gibbons (Gibbons), asserting claims for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, declaratory
judgment, unfair competition, and common counts under California law, arising out of MRG and Gibbons’s termination of certain contracts with the Company and
their refusal to make various payments to the Company required by those contracts. MRG asserted counterclaims against Eventbrite for breach of one of the
contracts in issue, as well as for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unfair competition, and declaratory judgment. On October 1, 2020,
Eventbrite moved to dismiss MRG’s counterclaims and certain of MRG and Gibbons’s affirmative defenses. No ruling has been issued on that motion. No other
motions have been filed, and no rulings have issued. The case is in its early stages, and the Company cannot presently predict the likelihood of success.
In addition to the litigation discussed above, from time to time, the Company may be subject to legal actions and claims in the ordinary course of business.
The Company has received, and may in the future continue to receive, claims from third parties. Future litigation may be necessary to defend the Company or its
creators. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on
the Company because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
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The Company is currently under audit in certain jurisdictions with regard to indirect tax matters. The Company establishes reserves for indirect tax matters
when it determines that the likelihood of a loss is probable, and the loss is reasonably estimable. Accordingly, the Company has established a reserve for the
potential settlement of issues related to sales and other indirect taxes in the amount of $13.1 million and $14.8 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively. These amounts, which represent management’s best estimates of its potential liability, include potential interest and penalties of $1.6 million
and $1.4 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
The Company does not believe that any ultimate liability resulting from any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its business, consolidated
financial position, results of operations or liquidity. However, the outcome of these matters is inherently uncertain. Therefore, if one or more of these matters were
resolved against the Company for amounts in excess of management’s expectations, the Company’s financial statements, including in a particular reporting period
in which any such outcome becomes probable and estimable, could be materially adversely affected.
Indemnifications
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into contractual arrangements under which the Company agrees to provide indemnification of
varying scope and terms to business partners and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of the breach of such
agreements, intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties, and other liabilities relating to or arising from the Company’s online ticketing platform
or the Company’s acts or omissions. In these circumstances, payment may be conditional on the other party making a claim pursuant to the procedures specified in
the particular contract. Further, the Company’s obligations under these agreements may be limited in terms of time and/or amount, and in some instances, the
Company may have recourse against third parties for certain payments. In addition, the Company has indemnification agreements with its directors and executive
officers that require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or
officers. The terms of such obligations vary.
11. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock
The Company has two classes of common stock, Class A and Class B. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share and holders of
Class B common stock are entitled to ten votes per share. The Company’s common stock has no preferences or privileges and is not redeemable. Holders of Class
A and Class B common stock are entitled to dividends, if and when declared, by the Company’s board of directors.
2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
As of September 30, 2020, a total of 2,318,083 shares of the Company's Class A common stock were authorized for issuance under the 2018 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). On May 31, 2020, 98,476 shares were purchased under the ESPP and as of September 30, 2020, 1,948,313 shares of Class A common
stock were available for future issuance under the ESPP.
Common Stock Subject to Repurchase
At September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, outstanding common stock included 0 and 18,665 shares of our outstanding common stock, respectively,
that were subject to repurchase related to stock options early exercised and unvested. The Company had a liability of zero and $0.2 million as of September 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, related to early exercises of stock options. The liability is reclassified into stockholders’ equity as the awards vest.
2004 and 2010 Stock Option Plans
In 2004, the board of directors and stockholders of the Company authorized and ratified the 2004 Stock Plan (2004 Plan), as amended. The 2004 Plan
allowed for the issuance of incentive stock options (ISOs), non-statutory stock options (NSOs) and stock purchase rights. The 2004 Plan states the maximum
aggregate number of shares that may be subject to options or stock purchase rights and sold under the plan is 6,000,000.
In 2010, the board of directors and stockholders of the Company authorized and ratified the 2010 Stock Plan (2010 Plan), as amended. The 2010 Plan
allowed for the issuance of ISOs, NSOs and stock purchase rights. The 2010 Plan states the maximum aggregate number of shares that may be subject to options or
stock purchase rights and sold under the plan is 30,663,761 shares. The Company no longer grants awards under the 2004 Plan or the 2010 Plan.
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2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
The 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (2018 Plan) allows for the granting of ISOs, NSOs, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock
units (RSUs), unrestricted stock awards, dividend equivalent rights and cash-based awards. The 2018 Plan replaces the 2010 Plan, but the 2010 Plan will continue
to govern outstanding equity awards granted thereunder. The Company initially reserved 7,672,600 shares of Class A common stock for the issuance of awards
under the 2018 Plan and 7,122,958 shares of Class A common stock were reserved as of September 30, 2020.
As of September 30, 2020, there were 14,493,070 options issued and outstanding under the 2004 Plan, 2010 Plan and 2018 Plan (collectively, the Plans).
Stock options granted typically vest over a four-year period from the date of grant. Options awarded under the plan may be granted at an exercise price per
share not less than the fair value at the date of grant and are exercisable up to ten years.
Stock option activity under the Plans is as follows:

Weightedaverage exercise
price

Outstanding
options

Balance at December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Balance at September 30, 2020

Weightedaverage
remaining
contractual
term (years)

Vested and exercisable as of September 30, 2020

15,684,021 $
3,062,634
(2,577,987)
(1,675,598)
14,493,070
9,136,720

Vested and expected to vest as of September 30, 2020

14,094,825

9.28
9.15
5.48
10.89
9.75

Aggregate
intrinsic
value
(thousands)

6.3 $

170,847
18,049

6.5

36,064

8.54

5.2

31,166

9.70

6.4

35,653

The total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested options outstanding was $31.8 million and $38.2 million as of September 30, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively, to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.63 years and 2.39 years, respectively.
Restricted Stock Units
Restricted stock unit activity for the periods indicated is presented as follows:

Outstanding
RSUs and RSAs

Balance at December 31, 2019
Awarded
Released
Cancelled

3,791,543
2,793,205
(884,553)
(1,858,099)
3,842,096

Balance at September 30, 2020

3,330,303

Vested and expected to vest as of September 30, 2020

Weightedaverage grant
date fair value
per share

$

Weightedaverage
remaining
contractual
term (years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value
(thousands)

20.44
9.31
18.11
18.52

1.8 $

76,596

13.85

1.3

41,687

13.77

1.2

36,134

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to RSUs outstanding was $40.5 million and $57.3 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019, respectively, to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.53 years and 3.41 years, respectively.
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Stock-based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation expense is allocated based on the cost center to which the award holder belongs. Total stock-based compensation expense by
function is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
260 $
393
3,101
3,322
1,281
1,569
5,465
4,652
$
10,107 $
9,936

Cost of net revenue
Product development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative
Total

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
890 $
962
10,156
7,547
3,613
4,038
15,882
14,222
$
30,541 $
26,769

The Company capitalized $0.5 million and $0.3 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with the cost for developing software for internal
use in the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $1.0 million in each of the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.
12. Net Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, less
shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. In periods of net
loss, basic net loss per share and diluted net loss per share are equal as including the potentially dilutive securities has an anti-dilutive effect.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share data):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Net loss
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic
and diluted
Net loss per share, basic and diluted

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

$

(19,427) $

(30,144) $

(204,487) $

(54,891)

$

90,973
(0.21) $

83,063
(0.36) $

88,441
(2.31) $

81,094
(0.68)

The following outstanding shares of potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because including them
would have had an anti-dilutive effect (in thousands):
September 30,
2020

Options to purchase common stock
Shares related to convertible senior notes
Restricted stock and restricted stock units
Early exercised options

2019

14,493
11,909
4,141
—
30,543

Total shares of potentially dilutive securities

17,229
—
3,564
31
20,824

As we expect to settle the principal amount of our convertible senior notes in cash, we use the treasury stock method for calculating any potential dilutive
effect on diluted net income per share, if applicable. The conversion spread of 11.9 million shares will have a dilutive impact on diluted net income per share of
common stock when the average market price of our common stock for a given period exceeds the conversion price of $12.60 per share.

31

Table of Contents

13. Income Taxes
The Company recorded an income tax expense of $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively,
compared to an income tax expense of $0.1 million and income tax benefit of $0.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively.
The change was attributable to changes in our year over year taxable earnings mix and the recognition of tax attributes in our non-U.S. subsidiaries.
The differences in the tax provision for the periods presented and the U.S. federal statutory rate is primarily due to foreign taxes in profitable jurisdictions
and the recording of a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets.
The Company applies the discrete method provided in ASC 740 to calculate its interim tax provision.
14. Geographic Information
The following table presents the Company's total net revenue by geography based on the currency of the underlying transaction (in thousands):
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

United States
International
Total net revenue

$

12,691
9,177
21,868

$

$
$

59,364
22,688
82,052

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

$
$

54,317
25,031
79,348

$
$

177,834
66,302
244,136

Except for the United Kingdom, no individual country, included in International net revenue, represents more than 10% of the total consolidated net revenue
for any of the periods presented. The increase in the United Kingdom's net revenue in the three months ended September 30, 2020, is primarily attributed to a
payment for service fees received from a customer as part of an early termination agreement.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with the audited financial statements included in the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (2019 Form 10-K) filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) on March 2, 2020. In addition to historical condensed consolidated financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements that are based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q. References herein to "Eventbrite," "the Company," "we," "us" or "our" refer to Eventbrite, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise.
Overview
We built a powerful, broad technology platform to enable event creators to solve the challenges associated with creating live experiences. Our platform
integrates components needed to seamlessly plan, promote and produce live and online events, thereby allowing event creators to reduce friction and costs,
increase reach and drive ticket sales.
We were founded in 2006 and our mission is to bring the world together through live and online experiences. We succeed when our creators succeed. We
charge creators on a per-ticket basis when an attendee purchases a paid ticket for an event. We grow with creators as they plan, promote and produce more events
and grow attendance. In 2019, we helped more than 949,000 creators issue approximately 309 million free and paid tickets across approximately 4.7 million events
in over 180 countries.
Our platform meets the complex needs of creators through a modular and extensible design. It can be accessed from Eventbrite.com, our mobile apps and
through other websites, and is designed to be used without training, support or professional services. This modularity facilitates product development and allows
third-party developers to integrate features and functionality from Eventbrite into their environment. Our platform also allows developers to seamlessly integrate
services from third-party partners such as Salesforce, Facebook and HubSpot. This platform approach has allowed us to pioneer a powerful business model that
drives our go-to-market strategy and allows us to efficiently serve a large number and variety of creators. To reach new creators, we plan to capitalize on creators'
experiences as attendees, word of mouth from other creators, our prominence across the live events landscape, targeted marketing and our presence in search
engine results.
In the first quarter of 2020, an unprecedented global health pandemic referred to as COVID-19 drastically changed the landscape of the live events industry.
The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in the worldwide cancellation or postponements of live events and adversely affected our paid ticket volume and results of
operations in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to 2019. However, during the three months ended September 30, 2020, we have
experienced an increase in paid tickets compared to the second quarter of 2020. The improvement was driven by increased ticket sales for in-person events as
various regions around the world start to reopen, and an increase in online events as creators continue to shift their business models to adapt to the COVID-19
environment. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, creators with published events in the remainder of 2020 or in 2021 may postpone or cancel these or other events,
and there is significant uncertainty regarding the extent and duration of the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on our business. The full extent to which
COVID-19 impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition cannot be predicted at this time, and the impact of COVID-19 may persist for an
extended period of time or become more pronounced.
In April 2020, our board of directors approved a program to reduce our global workforce personnel by approximately 45% (the RIF). This resulted in total
restructuring costs of $9.5 million associated with the RIF which was substantially completed in the second quarter of 2020. Remaining restructuring costs during
the three months ended September 30, 2020 were immaterial. We expect that, together with other cost-savings measures, this RIF will yield annualized operating
expense savings of at least $100 million. With this RIF, we are repositioning our platform to focus on self-sign on and sales creators who use our platform with
limited training, support or professional services. We intend to strategically grow our business by delivering a robust self-service platform experience and driving
demand to our event creators.
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In May 2020, we entered into a credit agreement (Credit Agreement) with FP EB Aggregator, L.P. (FP) and FP Credit Partners, L.P., as the administrative
agent, which Credit Agreement was amended on June 15, 2020 to, among other things, appoint Wilmington Trust, National Association as administrative agent in
place of FP Credit Partners, L.P. The Credit Agreement provides for initial term loans (Initial Term Loans) in the aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million and
delayed draw term loans (Delayed Draw Term Loans, and together with the Initial Term Loans, Term Loans) in an aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million.
The Delayed Draw Term Loans may only be accessed from December 31, 2020 until September 30, 2021, subject to certain conditions. The full amount of the
Initial Term Loans was funded in May 2020. In connection with the Credit Agreement, we also entered into a stock purchase agreement with FP and issued
2,599,174 shares of our Class A common stock for a purchase price of $0.01 per share. The fair value of these shares, which was $27.4 million as of the issuance
date, is being accounted for as additional debt issuance costs, reducing the initial carrying amount of the debt, and will be amortized using the effective interest rate
method over the contractual term of the Initial Term Loans.
In June 2020, we issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000% convertible senior notes due 2025 in a private offering, inclusive of the initial
purchaser's exercise in full of their option to purchase additional notes (2025 Notes). The Company determined the carrying amount of the liability component of
the 2025 Notes by estimating the fair value of similar liabilities that do not have associated convertible features and separated the principal amount of the 2025
Notes into a liability component and an equity component. The fair value of the equity component was recorded as a discount to the debt and is being amortized
using the effective interest rate method over the contractual term of the 2025 Notes.
Key Business Metric
We monitor the following key metrics to help us evaluate our business, identify trends affecting our business, formulate business plans and make strategic
decisions.
Paid Ticket Volume
Our success in serving creators is measured in large part by the number of tickets sold on our platform that generate ticket fees, referred to as paid ticket
volume. We consider paid ticket volume an important indicator of the underlying health of the business. We have previously referred to this metric as 'paid tickets'
and we calculate and report paid ticket volume in the same manner as we calculated and reported paid tickets. The table below sets forth the paid ticket volume for
the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
(in thousands)

Paid Ticket Volume

9,190

26,897

36,118

80,461

Our paid ticket volume for events outside of the United States represented 48.3% and 36.7% of our total paid tickets in the three months ended September
30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and 45.4% and 36.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We believe that the use of Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow is helpful to our investors as they are metrics used by management in assessing the health
of our business and our operating performance. These measures are not prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAP) and have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results of operations
as reported under GAAP. In addition, other companies may not calculate these financial measures in the same manner as we calculate them, limiting their
usefulness as comparative measures. You are encouraged to evaluate the adjustments and the reasons we consider them appropriate.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is a key performance measure that our management uses to assess our operating performance. Because Adjusted EBITDA facilitates
internal comparisons of our historical operating performance on a more consistent basis, we use this measure for business planning purposes and in evaluating
acquisition opportunities.
We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, interest expense, direct
and indirect acquisition-related costs, employer taxes related to employee equity transactions, other income (expense), which consisted of interest income, foreign
exchange rate gains and losses and income tax provision (benefit). Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net loss or any other measure of
financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.
The following table presents our Adjusted EBITDA for the periods indicated and a reconciliation of our Adjusted EBITDA to the most comparable GAAP
measure, net loss, for each of the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
(in thousands)

Net loss
Add:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Direct and indirect acquisition related costs (1)
Employer taxes related to employee equity transactions
Other (income) expense, net
Income tax provision (benefit)

$

(19,427) $

(30,144)

Adjusted EBITDA

$

5,363
10,107
10,284
—
—
218
(2,837)
243
3,951 $

6,112
9,936
853
1,742
34
182
3,700
147
(7,438)

$

(204,487) $

(54,891)

$

17,272
30,541
13,921
—
—
912
5,262
307
(136,272) $

18,081
26,769
2,978
1,742
837
893
1,145
(946)
(3,392)

(1) Direct and indirect acquisition related costs consist primarily of transaction and transition-related fees and expenses incurred within one year of the acquisition date, including legal,
accounting, tax and other professional fees as well as personnel-related costs such as severance and retention bonuses for completed, pending and attempted acquisitions.
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Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include (i) Adjusted EBITDA does not properly reflect capital spending that occurs off of the income
statement or account for future contractual commitments, (ii) although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the underlying assets may need to be
replaced and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect these capital expenditures and (iii) Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest and principal required to service
our indebtedness. In evaluating Adjusted EBITDA, you should be aware that in the future we will incur expenses similar to the adjustments in this presentation.
Our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by these expenses or any unusual or nonrecurring items. When evaluating our performance, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including our net loss
and other GAAP results.
Free Cash Flow
Free cash flow is a key performance measure that our management uses to assess our overall performance. We consider free cash flow to be a liquidity
measure that provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash generated by our business that can be used for strategic
opportunities, including investing in our business, making strategic acquisitions and strengthening our financial position.
We calculate free cash flow as cash flow from operating activities less purchases of property and equipment and capitalized internal-use software
development costs, over a trailing twelve-month period. Because quarters are not uniform in terms of cash usage, we believe a trailing twelve-month view provides
the best understanding of the underlying trends of the business.
The following table presents our free cash flow and a reconciliation of our free cash flow to the most comparable GAAP measure, net cash provided by
operating activities, for each of the periods indicated:
Twelve Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Purchases of property and equipment and capitalized internal-use software
development costs

$

(198,475) $

34,230

Free cash flow

$

(6,831)
(205,306) $

(13,858)
20,372

Although we believe free cash flow provides another important lens into the business, free cash flow is presented for supplemental informational purposes
only and should not be considered a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP. Free cash flow has limitations as an analytical tool,
and it should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of other GAAP financial measures, such as net cash provided by operating activities.
Some of the limitations of free cash flow is that it may not properly reflect capital commitments to creators that need to be paid in the future or future contractual
commitments that have not been realized in the current period.
Components of Results of Operations
Net Revenue
We generate revenues primarily from service fees and payment processing fees from the sale of paid tickets on our platform. We also generate revenues
from fees for providing certain creators with account management services and customer support services. Our fee structure typically consists of a fixed fee and a
percentage of the price of each ticket sold by a creator. Revenue is recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to the creator, which for
service fees and payment processing fees is when the ticket is sold. For account management services and customer support, revenue is recognized over the period
from the date of the sale of the ticket to the date of the event. Net revenue excludes sales taxes and value added taxes (VAT) and is presented net of estimated
customer refunds, chargebacks and amortization of creator signing fees. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, our actual refunds of our
fees and our estimates for future customer refunds were significantly higher than previous periods as a result of refund activity largely related to the COVID-19
pandemic.
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Cost of Net Revenue
Cost of net revenue consists of fixed costs related to making our platform generally available and variable costs related to activities on our platform. Our
fixed costs consist primarily of expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of our platform, including website hosting fees and platform infrastructure
costs, amortization of capitalized software development costs, onsite operations costs and allocated customer support costs. Cost of net revenue also includes the
amortization expense related to our acquired developed technology assets, which may be incurred in future periods related to future acquisitions. Variable costs
relate to creator activity and primarily consist of payment processing fees.
Generally, we expect cost of net revenue to fluctuate as a percentage of net revenue in the near- to mid-term primarily as a result of both our geographical
revenue mix and our total net revenue. Our payment processing costs for credit and debit card payments are generally lower outside of the United States due to a
number of factors, including lower card network fees and lower cost alternative payment networks. Consequently, if we generate more revenue internationally than
in the United States, we expect that our payment processing costs will decline as a percentage of revenue. As our total net revenue increases or decreases and our
fixed costs are unaffected, our cost of net revenue as a percentage of net revenue will similarly fluctuate. Consequently, the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and
our increased refunds and revenue reserves for estimated future refunds in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 resulted in a significant increase in
our cost of net revenue as a percentage of net revenue.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of product development, sales, marketing and support and general and administrative expenses. Direct and indirect personnel
costs, including stock-based compensation expense, are the most significant recurring component of operating expenses. We also include sublease income as a
reduction of our operating expenses.
As our total net revenue increases or decreases and to the extent our operating expenses are not equally affected, our operating expenses as a percentage of
net revenue will similarly fluctuate. The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on our operating expenses, along with the related decrease in net revenue
resulted in a significant increase in our operating expenses as a percentage of our net revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020.
In April 2020, our Board of Directors approved a global RIF impacting approximately 45% of our employees as part of an expense reduction plan related to
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on the Company's reported paid ticket volume and net revenue. With this reduction in workforce, we are
repositioning our platform to focus on self-sign on and sales creators who use our platform with limited training, support or professional services. We recorded
approximately $9.5 million in operating expenses in the three months ended June 30, 2020 related to this reduction in workforce, of which $7.5 million was related
to severance costs and post-termination employee benefits and the remaining $2.0 million were costs related primarily to disposals of assets.
Product development. Product development expenses consist primarily of costs associated with our employees in product development and product
engineering activities. We expect our product development expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars over the long term. In the near-term, we anticipate
our product development expenses will increase as we focus on enhancing, improving and expanding the capabilities of our platform. We also expect to continue
investing in building Eventbrite's infrastructure to enhance and support development of new technologies. Over the long-term, we anticipate that product
development expenses will decrease as a percentage of net revenue as our revenue recovers and grows and as we continue to expand our development staff in
lower cost markets.
Sales, marketing and support. Sales, marketing and support expenses consist primarily of costs associated with our employees involved in selling and
marketing our products, public relations and communication activities, marketing programs, travel and customer support costs associated with free events on our
platform. For our sales teams, this also includes commissions. Sales, marketing and support expenses are driven by investments to grow and retain creators and
attendees on our platform. Additionally, we classify certain creator-related expenses, such as refunds of the ticket price paid by us on behalf of a creator as sales,
marketing and support expense. In April 2020, we reduced our sales, marketing and support personnel by 64%, consistent with our increased priority on delivering
a self-service platform experience to our creators. The majority of the related headcount reduction costs were recorded in the three months ended June 30, 2020. As
a result of the workforce reduction, we expect personnel-related sales, marketing and support expenses to decrease over the near-term.
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During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we increased our chargebacks and refunds reserve by $43.2
million to account for estimated losses related to event cancellations and postponements, recorded within sales, marketing and support expense. Our reserves were
increased by $76.5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2020 followed by a reduction of $18.1 million in the three months ended June 30, 2020 and a
reduction of $15.2 million in three months ended September 30, 2020. This reduction of reserves as of September 30, 2020 versus June 30, 2020 is principally
driven by the reduction in the advance payouts balance which was $253.3 million on June 30, 2020 versus $227.1 million as of September 30, 2020. This reserve is
an estimate and requires significant judgement. Due to the nature of the COVID-19 situation and the limited amount of currently available data, there is a high
degree of uncertainty around these reserves and our actual losses could be materially different from our current estimates. We will adjust our recorded reserves in
the future to reflect our best estimates of future outcomes.
General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs, including stock-based compensation, for finance, accounting,
legal, risk, human resources and administrative personnel. It also includes professional fees for legal, accounting, finance, human resources and other corporate
matters. Our general and administrative expenses also include accruals for sales tax and VAT, as well as impairment charges related to creator upfront payments,
which increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 as a result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our general and administrative
expenses have increased on an actual dollar basis over time. Over the long-term, we anticipate general and administrative expenses to decline as a percentage of net
revenue as we expect to grow our net revenues and scale our business.
Interest Expense
Interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, consists primarily of cash interest expense and amortization of the discount and debt
issuance costs on our Term Loans and 2025 Notes. The Credit Agreement entered in May 2020, provides for Initial Term Loans in an aggregate principal amount
of $125.0 million. In June 2020, we also issued the 2025 Notes, which consisted of $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000% convertible senior notes
due 2025.
Previously, interest expense consisted primarily of interest related to a senior secured credit facility, which consisted of term loans with an aggregate
principal amount of $75.0 million (2019 Term Loans), which was fully repaid in September 2019.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income and foreign exchange rate remeasurement gains and losses recorded from consolidating
our subsidiaries each period-end. The primary driver of our other income (expense), net is fluctuation in the value of the U.S. dollar against the local currencies of
our foreign subsidiaries.
Income Tax Provision (benefit)
Income tax provision consists primarily of U.S. federal and state income taxes and income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct
business. The differences in the tax provision and benefit for the periods presented and the U.S. federal statutory rate is primarily due to foreign taxes in profitable
jurisdictions and the recording of a full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets. We apply the discrete method provided in ASC Topic 740 to calculate our
interim tax provision.
Results of Operations
The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes
included in Part I, Item 1, "Financial Information" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
As discussed in the Overview above, in the first quarter of 2020, an unprecedented global health pandemic referred to as COVID-19 drastically changed the
landscape of the live events industry. The COVID-19 pandemic and the self-imposed social distancing and government mandates to restrict gatherings of people
have negatively impacted our results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. During the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2020, we experienced a significant decrease in our net revenues as a result of decreased paid ticket volume, increased
refunds of our fees and increased estimated future refunds of our fees. We also recorded a significant increase in our reserves for estimated chargebacks and
refunds related to advance payouts and higher impairment charges for creator signing fees and creator advances.
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The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations data and such data as a percentage of net revenue for the periods presented (in
thousands):
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Product development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)

$

Net loss

$

Consolidated Statements of Operations,
as a percentage of net revenue

21,868
11,231
10,637

$

82,052
33,389
48,663

11,540
(5,011)
15,845
22,374
(11,737)
(10,284)
—
2,837
(19,184)
243
(19,427) $

Net loss

39

$

16,211
28,764
27,390
72,365
(23,702)
(853)
(1,742)
(3,700)
(29,997)
147
(30,144) $

Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

Net revenue
Cost of net revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Product development
Sales, marketing and support
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Loss on debt extinguishment
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

79,348
49,330
30,018

$

244,136
95,073
149,063

42,758
91,831
80,426
215,015
(184,997)
(13,921)
—
(5,262)
(204,180)
307
(204,487) $

47,436
76,542
75,057
199,035
(49,972)
(2,978)
(1,742)
(1,145)
(55,837)
(946)
(54,891)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019

100.0 %
51.4 %
48.6 %

100.0 %
40.7 %
59.3 %

100.0 %
62.2 %
37.8 %

100.0 %
38.9 %
61.1 %

52.8 %
(22.9)%
72.5 %
102.4 %
(53.8)%
(47.0)%
—%
13.0 %
(87.8)%
1.1 %
(88.9)%

19.8 %
35.1 %
33.4 %
88.3 %
(29.0)%
(1.0)%
(2.1)%
(4.5)%
(36.6)%
0.2 %
(36.8)%

53.9 %
115.7 %
101.4 %
271.0 %
(233.2)%
(17.5)%
—%
(6.6)%
(257.3)%
0.4 %
(257.7)%

19.4 %
31.4 %
30.7 %
81.5 %
(20.4)%
(1.2)%
(0.7)%
(0.5)%
(22.8)%
(0.4)%
(22.4)%
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
Net revenue
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Net revenue

$

21,868

$

82,052

$

Change
%

(60,184)

(73.3)%

The decrease in net revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to the decrease in
our paid ticket volume resulting from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Paid tickets decreased by 65.8%, from 26.9 million paid tickets in the three months
ended September 30, 2019 to 9.2 million paid tickets in the same period of 2020.
In the three months ended September 30, 2020, largely as a result of COVID-19 and its effect on our creators' events, we incurred actual refunds of our fees
of $5.1 million and increased our estimated revenue reserves for future refunds by $3.4 million.
Reported net revenue per paid ticket was $2.38 in the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $3.05 in the same period of 2019. The decrease
in net revenue per paid ticket in the three months ended September 30, 2020 was driven by the increase in actual refunds and estimated future refunds of our fees
discussed above.
Cost of net revenue
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Cost of net revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Gross margin

$

11,231
$
51.4 %
48.6 %

33,389
$
40.7 %
59.3 %

Change
%

(22,158)

(66.4)%

The decrease in cost of net revenue during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a decrease
in payment processing costs of $15.9 million, a decrease in field operations costs of $2.5 million, a decrease in allocated customer support costs of $1.1 million and
decreases in other event-related costs, largely driven by the reductions in our paid ticket volume resulting from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Operating expense
Product development
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Product development
Percentage of total net revenue

$

11,540
$
52.8 %

16,211
$
19.8 %

Change
%

(4,671)

(28.8)%

The decrease in product development expense during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to
a decrease of $5.3 million in compensation costs due to lower headcount, offset by an increase in software maintenance costs.
Sales, marketing and support
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Sales, marketing and support
Percentage of total net revenue

$

(5,011)
$
(22.9)%

40

28,764
$
35.1 %

Change

(33,775)

%

(117.4)%
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The decrease in sales, marketing and support expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was
primarily due to a net decrease in our chargebacks and refunds reserve. Overall, organizer related expenses decreased by $21.3 million, driven by a $15.2 million
reduction in our chargebacks and refunds reserves, which are recorded in anticipation of future event cancellations and postponements. Additionally, direct and
discretionary marketing costs decreased by $2.2 million and compensation costs decreased by $8.3 million due to lower headcount.
General and administrative
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

General and administrative
Percentage of total net revenue

$

15,845
$
72.5 %

27,390
$
33.4 %

Change
%

(11,545)

(42.2)%

The decrease in general and administrative expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily
due to a decrease of $4.7 million in professional services, $1.4 million in compensation costs due to lower headcount, and $1.9 million in sales and other business
taxes due to reductions in ticket sales, and $1.6 million impairment charges related to creator advances and creator signing fees.
Interest expense
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Interest expense
Percentage of total net revenue

$

(10,284)
$
(47.0)%

(853)
$
(1.0)%

Change
%

9,431

1105.6 %

The increase in interest expense during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period of 2019 was the result of higher amounts
of interest-bearing debt outstanding during the three months ended September 30, 2020 with higher effective interest rates.
The Initial Term Loans and the 2025 Notes which were outstanding in the three months ended September 30, 2020 bore interest at a rate higher than the
2019 Term Loans, which were outstanding during the three months ended September 30, 2019. In September 2019, we repaid the 2019 Term Loans in full, and we
terminated the underlying credit agreement.
Loss on debt extinguishment
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Loss on debt extinguishment
Percentage of total net revenue

$

—
$
—%

(1,742)
$
(2.1)%

Change
%

(1,742)

100.0 %

In September 2019, we repaid the 2019 Term Loans in full making payments of $62.2 million of principal and $0.8 million of accrued interest and fees, and
we terminated the underlying credit agreement. We recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $1.7 million during the three months ended September 30, 2019
related to the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.
Other income, net
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Other income (expense), net
Percentage of total net revenue

$

2,837
$
13.0 %

41

(3,700)
$
(4.5)%

6,537

Change
%

(176.7)%
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The increase in other income, net during the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period of 2019 was driven by foreign currency
rate measurement fluctuations. We recognized higher foreign currency rate measurement gains during the three months ended September 30, 2020, as a result of
the weakening of the U.S. dollar compared to the currencies with which we operate and process transactions.
Income tax provision
Three Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands except percentages)

Income tax provision
Percentage of total net revenue

$

243
$
1.1 %

147
$
0.2 %

Change
%

96

65.3 %

The provision for income taxes increased $0.1 million in the three months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. The increase
was primarily attributable to changes in our year over year taxable earnings mix.
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Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
Net revenue
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Net revenue

$

79,348

$

244,136

$

Change
%

(164,788)

(67.5)%

The decrease in net revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to the decrease in
our paid ticket volume resulting from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Paid tickets decreased by 55.1%, from 80.5 million paid tickets in the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 to 36.1 million paid tickets in the same period of 2020.
In the nine months ended September 30, 2020, largely as a result of COVID-19 and its effect on our creators' events, we incurred actual refunds of our fees
of $21.2 million and increased our estimated revenue reserves for future refunds by $17.9 million.
Reported net revenue per paid ticket was $2.20 in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to $3.03 in the same period of 2019. Decrease in net
revenue per paid ticket in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was driven by the increases in actual refunds and estimated future refunds of our fees
discussed above.
Cost of net revenue
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Cost of net revenue
Percentage of total net revenue
Gross margin

$

49,330
$
62.2 %
37.8 %

95,073
$
38.9 %
61.1 %

Change
%

(45,743)

(48.1)%

The decrease in cost of net revenue during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a decrease
in payment processing costs of $39.4 million and a decrease in field operations cost of $4.5 million largely driven by the reductions in our paid ticket volume
resulting from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our gross margin decreased in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 primarily due to the significant increase in our actual refunds and estimated
future refunds of our fees discussed above under net revenue.
Operating expense
Product development
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Product development
Percentage of total net revenue

$

42,758
$
53.9 %

47,436
$
19.4 %

Change
%

(4,678)

(9.9)%

The decrease in product development costs during nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily due to a
decrease of $6.1 million in compensation costs due to lower headcount, offset by an increase in software maintenance costs.
Sales, marketing and support
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Sales, marketing and support
Percentage of total net revenue

$

91,831
$
115.7 %

43

76,542
$
31.4 %

Change

15,289

%

20.0 %
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The increase in sales, marketing and support expenses of $15.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in
2019 was primarily due to a net increase in our chargebacks and refunds reserve. Overall, organizer related expenses increased by $33.2 million, driven by a $43.2
million increase in our chargebacks and refunds reserves offset by decreases primarily in event cancellation losses.
This increase was partially offset by decreased compensation costs of $11.5 million due to lower headcount, decreased direct and discretionary marketing
costs of $4.4 million and decreases in costs relating to event hosting and professional services.
General and administrative
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative
Percentage of total net revenue

$

80,426
$
101.4 %

75,057
$
30.7 %

Change
%

5,369

7.2 %

The increase in general and administrative expenses during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily
due to an increase of $17.0 million in organizer related expenses driven by the increased reserves for creator signing fees and creator advances, as a result of the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
This increase was partially offset by decreased compensation costs of $5.1 million due to lower headcount, $2.4 million in creator related asset write-offs,
and $2.1 million in professional services and other costs.
Interest expense
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense
Percentage of total net revenue

$

(13,921)
$
(17.5)%

(2,978)
$
(1.2)%

Change
%

10,943

367.5 %

The increase in interest expense during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was the result of higher amounts of
interest-bearing debt outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 with higher effective interest rates.
The Initial Term Loans and the 2025 Notes which were outstanding since the second quarter of 2020 bore interest at a rate higher than the 2019 Term
Loans, which were outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2019. In September 2019, we repaid the 2019 Term Loans in full, and we terminated
the underlying credit agreement.
Loss on debt extinguishment
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Loss on debt extinguishment
Percentage of total net revenue

$

—
$
—%

(1,742)
(0.7)%

Change
%

(1,742)

(100.0)%

In September 2019, we repaid the 2019 Term Loans in full making payments of $62.2 million of principal and $0.8 million of accrued interest and fees, and
we terminated the underlying credit agreement. We recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $1.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019
related to the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.
Other income (expense), net
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Other income (expense), net
Percentage of total net revenue

$

(5,262)
$
(6.6)%
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(1,145)
$
(0.5)%

Change

(4,117)

%

359.6 %
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The increase in other expense, net during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 was driven by foreign currency
rate fluctuations. We recognized foreign currency rate remeasurement losses during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 as a result of the strengthening of
the U.S. dollar compared to the currencies with which we operate and process transactions. We recognized foreign currency rate remeasurement gains in the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 as a result of an overall weakening U.S. dollar compared to the currencies with which we operate and process transactions.
Income tax provision (benefit)
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
$
(in thousands, except percentages)

Income tax provision (benefit)
Percentage of total net revenue

$

307
$
0.4 %

(946)
$
(0.4)%

Change
%

1,253

(132.5)%

The provision for income taxes increased $1.3 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019 and was
primarily attributable to changes in our year over year taxable earnings mix and the recognition of tax attributes in our non-U.S. subsidiaries.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of September 30, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $543.3 million. Our cash and cash equivalents includes bank deposits and money market
funds held by financial institutions and is held for working capital purposes. Collectively, our cash and cash equivalents balances represent a mix of cash that
belongs to us and cash that is due to creators. The amounts due to creators, which was $217.8 million as of September 30, 2020, are captioned on our consolidated
balance sheets as accounts payable, creators. Although creator cash is legally unrestricted, the Company does not utilize creator cash for its own financing or
investing activities as the amounts are payable to creators on a regular basis.
We make payments of our funds to creators to provide the creator with short-term liquidity in advance of ticket sales. These amounts are recovered by us as
tickets are sold by the respective creator, and are typically expected to be recovered within 12 months of the payment date. Amounts expected to be recovered
within 12 months of the balance sheet date are classified as creator advances, net, and any remaining amounts are classified as creator advances, noncurrent. We
maintain an allowance for estimated creator advances that are not recoverable and present the creator advances balances net on our condensed consolidated balance
sheets. Creator advances, net was $8.5 million and $22.3 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and creator advances, noncurrent
was $0.9 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Until March 11, 2020, for qualified creators who applied to receive their funds in advance of their events, we passed proceeds from ticket sales to the
creators prior to the events, subject to certain limitations. We refer to these payments as advance payouts. When we provide advance payouts, we assume
significant risk that the event may be cancelled, postponed, fraudulent, materially not as described or removed from our platform due to its failure to comply with
our terms of service or our merchant agreement, which could result in significant chargebacks, refund requests and/or disputes between attendees and creators. This
risk has been significantly exacerbated by the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic. The terms of our standard merchant agreement obligate creators
to repay us for ticket sales advanced under such circumstances. However, we may not be able to recover our losses from these events, and COVID-19 has
significantly increased the likelihood that we will not recover these losses. Such unrecoverable amounts could equal up to the value of the transaction or
transactions settled to the creator prior to the event that has been postponed or cancelled or is otherwise disputed. This amount could be many multiples of the fees
we collected from such transaction. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily suspended the advance payout program on March 11, 2020. We are
exploring new ways to make advance payouts to qualified creators who meet strict guidelines and have started making advance payouts available to a limited
number of low risk creators. As of November 3, 2020, we have extended less than $7.4 million in new advance payouts on total transacted ticket proceeds of
$319.6 million since the pilot began.
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As of September 30, 2020, our chargebacks and refunds reserve increased to $49.6 million from $2.7 million at December 31, 2019, an increase of $46.9
million. This increase was largely driven by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and related event cancellations and postponements and our estimated costs
related to chargebacks and refunds, in part driven by our advance payouts program. Due to the nature of the COVID-19 situation and the limited amount of
currently available data, there is a high degree of uncertainty around these reserves and our actual losses could be materially different from our current estimates.
We will adjust our recorded reserves in the future to reflect our best estimates of future outcomes, and we may pay in cash a portion of, all, or a greater amount
than the $49.6 million provision recorded as of September 30, 2020.
As of September 30, 2020 our chargebacks and refunds reserve on the condensed balance sheets has decreased by $16.3 million compared to June 30, 2020.
This reduction of reserves is principally driven by the reduction in the advance payouts balance which was $253.3 million as of June 30, 2020 versus $227.1
million as of September 30, 2020. Advance payout balance declined to $220.1 million as of November 4, 2020.
In May 2020, we entered into the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement provides for the Initial Term Loans in the aggregate principal amount of $125.0
million and the Delayed Draw Term Loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to the lesser of (x) $100.0 million or (y) if we incur certain convertible
indebtedness pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, $325.0 million less the sum of (i) the aggregate principal amount of the Initial Term Loans outstanding
at such time and (ii) the aggregate principal amount of such convertible indebtedness outstanding at such time. The amount currently available under the Delayed
Draw Term Loans is $50.0 million as a result of the issuance of $150.0 million in 2025 Notes, discussed in further detail below. The Delayed Draw Term Loans
may only be accessed from December 31, 2020 until September 30, 2021, subject to certain conditions. The full amount of the Initial Term Loans was funded in
May 2020. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (i) 4.0% payable in cash and (ii) 8.5% payable in kind. The Term
Loans mature on the fifth anniversary of the Initial Funding Date, and there are no amortization payments with respect to the Term Loans.
In June 2020, we completed a private offering of the 2025 Notes and received aggregate net proceeds of $144.3 million. after deducting the initial
purchasers' discounts and commissions and debt issuance costs of $5.7 million. In connection with the offering of the 2025 Notes, we entered into capped call
transactions with certain financial institutions (Capped Calls). We used $15.6 million of the net proceeds from the sale of the 2025 Notes to purchase the Capped
Calls. We intend to use the remaining net proceeds from the sale of the 2025 Notes for general corporate purposes. See Note 8 to our unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for additional information about the 2025 Notes and Capped Calls.
We believe that our existing cash, including proceeds from the Initial Term Loans and 2025 Notes, together with cash generated from operations, will be
sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. However, our liquidity assumptions may prove to be incorrect, and we could exhaust
our available financial resources sooner than we currently expect. We may seek to raise additional funds at any time through debt, equity and equity-linked
arrangements.
As of September 30, 2020, approximately 25.1% of our cash was held outside of the United States, which was held primarily on behalf of, and to be
remitted to, creators and to fund our foreign operations. We do not expect to incur significant taxes related to these amounts.
Cash Flows
Our cash flow activities were as follows for the periods presented:
Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020
2019
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

(127,279) $

99,853

Investing activities

$

(4,608)

(11,375)

Financing activities

254,875
122,988

(40,463)
48,015

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$
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Comparison of Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
The net cash used in operating activities of $127.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was due primarily to a net loss of $204.5 million
with adjustments for our provision for chargebacks and refunds of $73.2 million, impairment charges of $9.9 million related to creator advances and creator
signing fees, stock-based compensation expense of $30.5 million, an increase in the provision for bad debt and creator advances of $16.7 million, depreciation and
amortization of $17.3 million, amortization of creator signing fees of $7.3 million, noncash operating lease expense of $5.9 million, loss on disposal of assets of
$2.4 million and accretion of debt discounts and issuance costs of $9.8 million. Additionally, the changes in our operating assets and liabilities consisted of a
decrease in accounts payable to creators of $90.1 million, cash paid for refunds and chargebacks of $26.3 million, a decrease in other accrued liabilities of $9.8
million, cash paid for creator signing fees of $3.9 million, cash paid for operating lease liabilities of $7.2 million and a decrease in accrued taxes of $3.9 million,
partially offset by a decrease in funds receivable of $45.3 million, an increase in accounts payable, trade of $0.6 million and a decrease in prepaid expenses and
other current assets of $1.7 million.
The net cash provided by operating activities of $99.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was due primarily to a net loss of $54.9
million with adjustments for stock-based compensation expense of $26.8 million, depreciation and amortization of $18.1 million, provisions for chargebacks and
refunds of $15.2 million, amortization of creator signing fees of $7.7 million, noncash operating lease expense of $6.0 million, provisions for bad debt and creator
advances of $4.0 million and impairment charges of $3.0 million related to creator signing fees and creator advances. Additionally, the changes in our operating
assets and liabilities consisted of an increase in accounts payable to creators of $94.6 million, a decrease in funds receivable of $14.3 million and an increase in
other accrued liabilities of $6.5 million, partially offset by cash paid for refunds and chargebacks of $14.4 million, cash paid for creator signing fees of $16.5
million, cash paid for creator advances of $6.7 million, cash paid for operating lease liabilities of $6.5 million and a decrease in accrued taxes of $4.0 million.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
The net cash used in investing activities of $4.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 consisted of capitalized internal-use software
development costs of $3.3 million and cash paid for purchases of property and equipment of $1.3 million.
The net cash used in investing activities of $11.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 consisted of capitalized software development costs
of $6.4 million and purchases of property and equipment of $5.0 million.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
The net cash provided by financing activities of $254.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 was due primarily to proceeds from
issuing the Initial Term Loans and 2025 Notes of $256.7 million, net of issuance costs and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $14.1 million, partially
offset by the purchase of the Capped Calls at $15.6 million in connection with the issuance of the 2025 Notes.
The net cash used in financing activities of $40.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was due primarily to proceeds from the exercise
of stock options of $32.8 million and proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our ESPP of $2.2 million, partially offset by principal payments on our
debt obligations of $73.6 million.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no customers that represented 10% or more of our accounts receivable balance. There were
no customers that individually exceeded 10% of our net revenue during the three months or nine ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following table summarizes our consolidated principal contractual cash obligations and rights as of September 30, 2020 (in thousands):

Total

Term Loans Due 2025
Interest obligations on Term loans (1)
Convertible Senior Notes Due 2025
Interest obligations on Convertible Senior Notes (1)
Operating lease obligations (2)
Sublease income
Future creator signing fees and creator advances (3)

$

Total

$

125,000 $
95,289
150,000
40,979
22,172
(2,922)
29,098
459,616 $

Less than
1 year

Payments due by Period
Between
1-3 years

— $
5,402
—
7,208
6,703
(2,521)
5,782
22,574 $

— $
12,290
—
15,000
7,484
(401)
18,411
52,784 $

Between
3-5 years

125,000
77,597
—
15,021
5,080
—
4,905
227,603

More Than 5
Years

$

$

—
—
150,000
3,750
2,905
—
—
156,655

(1) Represents

aggregate interest obligations for our outstanding respective Term loans and Convertible Senior Notes that are payable in cash, excluding non-cash amortization of
debt issuance costs. Borrowings under the term loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to (i) 4.0% payable in Cash Pay Interest and (ii) 8.5% Payment in Kind (PIK)
Interest. The Convertible Senior Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 5.000% per year. For further details on our debt, refer to Note 8 to the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
(2)

Consists of our operating lease obligations (partially offset by sublease income) for office space under non-cancelable agreements. Total payments listed represent total
minimum future lease payments.
(3)

Future creator signing fees and creator advances represent contractual amounts paid in advance to customers pursuant to event ticketing and payment processing agreements.
Certain of the Company’s contracts include terms where future payments to creators are committed to, based on performance, as part of the overall ticketing arrangement. The
Company's contracts state that these future payments require the customer to meet certain revenue milestones or minimum ticket sales provisions in order to earn the payment,
and if that milestone or minimum is not met, the Company is not required to make such payment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements and did not have any such arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2019 or the nine
months ended September 30, 2020.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these condensed consolidated
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related
disclosures. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and we
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, there is uncertainty and significant disruption in the global
economy and financial markets. We have had to make significant estimates in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, specifically related to
chargebacks and refunds due to cancelled or postponed events, which impacts net revenue, advance payouts, creator signing fees and creator advances. We are not
aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require an update to our estimates or assumptions or a revision of the carrying value of assets or liabilities
as of the date of filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. These estimates and assumptions may change in the future, however, as new events occur and
additional information is obtained. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.
Our significant accounting policies are discussed in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies" in the 2019
Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes to these policies that have had a material impact on our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
and related notes, except as noted in Note 2 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to Note 2 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Sensitivity
As of September 30, 2020 we have outstanding Term Loans and Convertible Senior Notes which are both subject to fixed annual interest charges. We have
therefore no financial or economic exposure associated with changes in interest rates. However, the fair value of these financial instruments may fluctuate when
interest rates change or can be affected when the market price of our common stock fluctuates. We carry the Term Loans and Convertible Senior Notes at face
value less unamortized discount on our balance sheet, and we present the fair value for required disclosure purposes only.
Foreign Currency Risk
Many creators live or operate outside the United States, and therefore, we have significant ticket sales denominated in foreign currencies, most notably the
British Pound, Euro, Canadian Dollar, Australian Dollar, Brazilian Real and Argentinian Peso. If currency exchange rates remain at current levels, currency
translation could continue to negatively affect net revenue growth for events that are not listed in U.S. dollars and could also reduce the demand for U.S. dollar
denominated events from attendees outside of the United States. Because the functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar, fluctuations due to
changes in currency exchange rates cause a recognition of transaction gains and losses in the statement of operations. A 10% increase or decrease in current
exchange rates would not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period
covered by this report.
Based on that evaluation, the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer concluded that, as of September 30, 2020, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required for disclosure in reports filed or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to Company management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, that
occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2020 which have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, management recognizes that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the
design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that
management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
On June 4, 2020, three plaintiffs, seeking to represent a proposed class of individuals who purchased tickets on or after June 3, 2016, filed suit against us in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, in a case captioned Snow, et al. v. Eventbrite, Inc., Case No. 20-cv-03698 (the Class
Action). Plaintiffs allege that we failed to provide an opportunity for purchasers of tickets to events sold through our platform to obtain a refund where the event is
postponed, rescheduled, or canceled. Plaintiffs seek injunctive relief in addition to restitution and monetary damages under California’s Consumer Legal Remedies
Act, False Advertising Law, and Unfair Competition Law, in addition to claims brought under California common law. We deny the allegations and intend to
defend the case vigorously. The case is in its early stages. While the Court denied our motion to compel arbitration, we have not yet answered the complaint, no
other motions have been made, and no other rulings have been issued. We are unable to predict the likely outcome at this point.
Beginning on April 15, 2019, purported stockholders of our company filed two putative securities class action complaints in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of California, and three putative securities class action complaints in the Superior Court of California for the County of San Mateo, against
us, certain of our executives and directors, and our underwriters for our initial public offering (IPO). Some of these actions also name as defendants venture capital
firms that were our investors as of the IPO.
On August 22, 2019, the federal court consolidated the two pending actions and appointed lead plaintiffs and lead counsel. The consolidated federal case is
titled In re Eventbrite, Inc. Securities Litigation, 5:19-cv-02019-EJD (the Federal Action). On October 11, 2019, the lead plaintiffs in the Federal Action filed their
amended consolidated complaint. The amended complaint generally alleges that we misrepresented and/or omitted material information in our IPO offering
documents in violation of the Securities Act. The amended complaint also challenges public statements made after the IPO in violation of the Exchange Act. The
amended complaint seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief on behalf of investors who purchased our Class A common stock issued pursuant and/or
traceable to the IPO offering documents, or between September 20, 2018 and May 1, 2019, inclusive. On December 11, 2019, defendants filed a motion to dismiss
the amended complaint. On March 18, 2020, the court vacated the hearing on the defendants' motion to dismiss set for April 16, 2020. On April 28, 2020, the court
granted defendants’ motion to dismiss in its entirety with leave to amend and set a deadline of June 24, 2020 for plaintiff to file its second amended consolidated
complaint. On June 22, 2020, the Court extended lead plaintiff's deadline to file its second amended consolidated complaint to August 10, 2020.
On July 29, 2020, we entered into a settlement agreement with the lead plaintiff in the Federal Action. The “Settlement Class” is defined in the settlement
agreement as “all persons and entities that purchased or otherwise acquired Eventbrite, Inc. securities: (a) pursuant or traceable to Eventbrite’s registration
statement and prospectus (“Registration Statement”) issued in connection with the Company’s September 20, 2018 IPO; or (b) between September 20, 2018 and
May 1, 2019, both dates inclusive (the “Class Period”), and were damaged thereby,” excluding defendants and certain of their affiliates. If members of the
Settlement Class do not opt out and the settlement is approved, they will waive, release, discharge, and dismiss, and be forever barred and enjoined from asserting,
instituting, maintaining, prosecuting, or enforcing, claims that, among other things, “arise out of or relate in any way to both (i) the purchase, sale, or holding of
Eventbrite securities pursuant or traceable to Eventbrite’s registration statement and prospectus (“Registration Statement”) issued in connection with the
Company’s September 20, 2018 IPO or were otherwise purchased, sold, or held during the Class Period, and (ii) the allegations, transactions, acts, facts, events,
circumstances, statements, or omissions that were or could have been alleged or asserted by Plaintiffs or any member of the Settlement Class in the [Federal]
Action or in any other action in any court or forum which relate to the subject matter of [the Federal] Action.” We recorded $1.9 million of expense during the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 related to the expected settlement of the Federal Action.
On August 27, 2020, the lead plaintiff in the Federal Action filed a motion for preliminary approval of the settlement. On October 21, 2020, the Court
vacated the preliminary approval hearing set for October 29, 2020, indicating that it would decide lead plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval of settlement on
the papers. On October 30, 2020, the Court issued an order continuing the hearing date for lead plaintiff’s motion for preliminary approval, tentatively scheduling a
hearing for March 18, 2021.
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On June 24, 2019, the state court consolidated two state actions pending at that time. The consolidated state case is titled In re Eventbrite, Inc. Securities
Litigation, Lead Case No, 19-CIV-02798 (the State Action). On July 24, 2019, the two plaintiffs in the State Action filed a consolidated complaint. The
consolidated complaint generally alleged that we misrepresented and/or omitted material information in our IPO offering documents, in violation of the Securities
Act. The amended complaint sought unspecified monetary damages and other relief on behalf of investors who purchased our Class A common stock issued
pursuant and/or traceable to the IPO offering documents. On August 23, 2019, defendants filed demurrers to the consolidated complaint. A third state-court action
was filed on August 23, 2019. On September 11, 2019, that complaint was consolidated into the operative complaint filed on July 24, 2019, and the court ordered
that the arguments in defendants’ pending demurrers would apply to that newly filed complaint. At the hearing on defendants’ demurrers on November 1, 2019, the
court sustained the demurrer with leave to amend. On December 13, 2019, the court granted requests by two plaintiffs to voluntarily dismiss their claims without
prejudice. The remaining plaintiff and two new named plaintiffs filed a first amended consolidated complaint (FAC) on February 10, 2020. Defendants filed
demurrers to the FAC on March 26, 2020. On June 10, 2020, the Court held a hearing on Defendants’ demurrers. At the hearing and in a subsequent order on June
23, 2020, the court sustained the demurrers with leave to amend for failure to state a claim but did not set a deadline for plaintiffs to file their second amended
consolidated complaint (SAC) given certain outstanding discovery disputes between the parties. On November 4, 2020, the court ordered plaintiffs to file the SAC
on or before November 9, 2020, set a deadline of November 20, 2020 for defendants to file any demurrers to the SAC, and scheduled a hearing on defendants’
anticipated demurrers for December 17, 2020.
We believe that these actions are without merit and intend to vigorously defend them. We cannot predict the outcome of or estimate the possible loss or
range of loss from the above described matters.
On July 16, 2019, we filed two complaints in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, entitled Eventbrite, Inc. v. MF Live,
Inc., et al., 3:19-CV-04084 (the MFL Action) and Eventbrite, Inc. v. Fab Loranger et al., 3:19-CV-04083 (the Loranger Action and, together with the MFL Action,
the Roxodus Lawsuits). The Roxodus Lawsuits arise out of MF Live’s (MFL) cancellation of the Roxodus music festival in Ontario, Canada, and MFL's and
Loranger's subsequent refusals to issue refunds to impacted ticket buyers or to reimburse us for payments to such ticket buyers. We provided ticketing and payment
processing services for the event pursuant to a written contract. When the event was cancelled and MFL refused to issue refunds, we issued refunds totaling $4.0
million to ticket buyers who bought tickets on our platform. Pursuant to our Merchant Agreement, MFL was contractually required to reimburse us for such
refunds, and Loranger had signed a personal guaranty agreement committing to personally honor MFL’s obligations if the entity failed to do so. Accordingly, the
Roxodus Lawsuits assert claims for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraud, money had and received, and actual
and constructive fraudulent transfers.
With respect to the MFL Action, there has been no meaningful progress in the case because MFL filed for bankruptcy in Canada, effectively staying the
MFL Action. The case is in its early stage and we cannot predict the likelihood of success. We are monitoring and participating in the bankruptcy process pursuant
to our rights under Canadian law.
With respect to the Loranger Action, on October 27, 2020, we and the defendants attended a mediation which resulted in a settlement to resolve Eventbrite’s
claims. The parties are preparing to execute a long-form settlement agreement. In light of the parties’ settlement, upon the occurrence of certain agreed-upon
events, we will seek to dismiss the Loranger Action with prejudice.
On June 18, 2020, we filed a Complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against M.R.G. Concerts Ltd. (MRG) and
Matthew Gibbons (Gibbons), asserting claims for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, declaratory judgment, unfair
competition, and common counts under California law, arising out of MRG and Gibbons’s termination of certain contracts with us and their refusal to make
various payments to us required by those contracts. MRG asserted counterclaims against us for breach of one of the contracts in issue, as well as for breach of the
implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, unfair competition, and declaratory judgment. On October 1, 2020, we moved to dismiss MRG’s counterclaims
and certain of MRG and Gibbons’s affirmative defenses. No ruling has issued on that motion. No other motions have been filed, and no rulings have issued. The
case is in its early stages, and we cannot presently predict the likelihood of success.
In addition to the litigation discussed above, from time to time, we may be subject to legal actions and claims in the ordinary course of business. We have
received, and may in the future continue to receive, claims from third parties. Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves or our creators. The results of
any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense
and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

51

Table of Contents

Item 1A. Risk Factors
A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended
March 31, 2020 and June 30, 2020 and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, and other documents that we file with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects could be harmed. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part
or all of your investment. Many of the following risks and uncertainties are, and will be, exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and any worsening of the global
business and economic environment as a result.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Factors adversely affecting the live event market could impact our results of operations.
We help creators organize, promote and sell tickets and registrations to a broad range of events. Our business is directly affected by the success of such
events and our revenue is impacted by the number of events, types of events and ticket prices of events produced by creators. Adverse trends in one or more event
industries could adversely affect our business. A decline in attendance at or reduction in the number of events may have an adverse effect on our revenue and
operating income.
The global COVID-19 pandemic and the preventative and protective actions that governments, other third parties or we have taken or may in the future take
in respect of COVID-19, including the shelter-in-place mandates, have resulted, and will continue to result, in a period of business disruption and reduced
operations. Further, during the three months ended September 30, 2020, our net revenue decreased by 73.3% and our paid ticket volume decreased by 65.8%
compared to the same period in 2019. There is significant uncertainty regarding the extent and duration of the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on
our business. We expect our net revenue trends to experience a meaningful deterioration from those achieved in fiscal 2019 and to experience a material adverse
impact on our fiscal 2020 results. The extent to which COVID-19 impacts our business, result of operations and financial condition will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the
actions taken to contain it or treat its impact. The full extent to which COVID-19 impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition cannot be
predicted at this time and the impact of COVID-19 may persist for an extended period of time or become more pronounced.
In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic may adversely impact the business and operations of third party service providers who perform critical services for
our business, which in turn may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Further, our business depends on discretionary consumer and corporate spending. During periods of economic slowdown and recession, such as the
worldwide recession triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting high levels of unemployment, consumers have historically reduced their discretionary
spending. The impact of economic slowdowns on our business is difficult to predict, but they may result in reductions in ticket and registration sales and our ability
to generate revenue. Many factors related to discretionary consumer and corporate spending, including employment, fuel prices, interest and tax rates and inflation,
can adversely impact our results of operations.
In addition, the occurrence and threat of extraordinary events, such as public health concerns, epidemics and pandemics (including the COVID-19
pandemic), terrorist attacks, mass-casualty incidents, natural disasters or similar events, or loss or restriction of individuals’ rights to assemble, may deter creators
from producing large events and substantially decrease the attendance at live events. For example, in January 2017, five people were killed at a music festival in
Mexico ticketed by us, and in July 2019, four people were killed at a community festival in Gilroy, California, which was ticketed by us. Terrorism and security
incidents, military actions in foreign locations and periodic elevated terrorism alerts have increased public concerns regarding air travel, military actions and
national or local catastrophic incidents. These concerns have led to numerous challenging operating factors at live events, including additional logistics for event
safety and increased costs of security. These challenges may impact the creator and attendee experience and lead to fewer events by creators and as a result may
harm our results of operations.
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Furthermore, adverse weather and climate conditions could impact the success of an event and disrupt our operations in any of our offices or the operations
of creators, third-party providers, vendors or partners. Climate change is expected to continue to cause adverse weather conditions and natural disasters to become
more frequent and less predictable. If an event is cancelled due to weather, attendees may expect and may be entitled to a refund, which may harm our results of
operations and those of creators.
Accordingly, any adverse condition could lead to unsatisfied attendees that require refunds or chargebacks or increase the complexity and costs for creators
and us, which will harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our business may be subject to significant chargebacks and other losses for various reasons, including due to fraud or unsuccessful, postponed or cancelled
events. These chargebacks and other losses may harm our results of operations and business.
We have experienced, and will continue to experience, chargebacks related to postponed or cancelled events and claims from attendees that creators have
not performed their obligations or that events did not match their descriptions. These claims could arise from creator fraud or misuse, an unintentional failure of the
event, which includes reschedules, indefinite postponements and cancellations, or from fraudulent claims by an attendee. We have experienced a high volume of
event reschedules, postponements and cancellations because of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has significantly increased attendee claims and related reversals of
payments received by us from payment card networks (known as chargebacks) and losses as a result of advance payment of ticket fees to creators. We expect we
will experience a high volume of event reschedules, postponements and cancellations in the event of future global health crises, epidemics and pandemics.
Historically, for qualified creators who applied for payments in advance of their events to fund event-related costs, we passed proceeds from ticket sales to
the creators prior to the events as we received the ticket sales proceeds, subject to certain limitations. We refer to these payments as advance payouts. When we
provide advance payouts, we assume significant risk that the event may be cancelled, postponed, fraudulent, materially not as described or removed from our
platform due to its failure to comply with our terms of service or merchant agreement, resulting in significant chargebacks, refund requests and/or disputes between
attendees and creators. This risk has been significantly exacerbated by the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19 pandemic. The terms of our standard merchant
agreement obligate creators to repay us for ticket sales advanced under such circumstances. However, we may not be able to recover our losses from these events,
and COVID-19 has significantly increased the likelihood that we will not recover these losses. Such unrecoverable amounts could equal up to the value of the
transaction or transactions settled to the creator prior to the event that has been postponed or cancelled or is otherwise disputed. This amount could be many
multiples of the fees we collected from such transaction.
In March 2020, in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily stopped making advance payouts to creators, which has led to creator claims against us
and has put us at a competitive disadvantage to other ticketing providers that continue to make advance payouts to event creators on their platforms. We are
exploring new ways to make advance payouts to qualified creators who meet strict guidelines and have started making advance payouts available to a limited
number of low risk creators. As of November 3, 2020, we have extended less than $7.4 million in new advance payouts on total transacted ticket proceeds of
$319.6 million since the pilot began. Our potential advance payout exposure was approximately $227.1 million as of September 30, 2020. Since mid-March 2020,
creators and the funds we hold on their behalf have covered more than 99% of the advanced payout refunds requested. As of September 30, 2020, we have
recorded estimated chargebacks and refunds reserves of $49.6 million on the unaudited condensed consolidated balances sheets, but it is possible that that amount
will not be sufficient. Due to the nature of the COVID-19 situation and the limited amount of currently available data, there is a high degree of uncertainty around
these reserves and our actual losses could be materially different from our current estimates. We will adjust our reserves in the future to reflect our best estimates
of future outcomes.
We cannot predict the outcome of or estimate the possible recovery or range of recovery from these matters. The total write-off from all lost advance
payouts and other chargebacks was $13.0 million and $6.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2020, we increased our reserves for estimated chargebacks and refunds by $46.9 million, of which $43.2 million relates to our advance payouts
program.
Further, we have experienced fraudulent activity on our platform in the past, including fake events in which a person sells tickets to an event but does not
intend to hold an event or fulfill the ticket, email spam being sent through our platform, a third party taking over the account of a creator to receive payments owed
to such creator or orders placed with fraudulent or stolen credit card data and other erroneous transmissions. Although we have measures in place to detect and
reduce the occurrence of fraudulent activity on our platform, those measures are not always effective. These measures must be continually improved and may not
be effective against evolving methods of fraud or in connection with new platform offerings. If we cannot adequately control the risk of fraudulent activity on our
platform, it could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We have in the past, and may in the future, pay upfront creator signing fees and creator advances to certain creators when entering into exclusive ticketing or
services agreements and if these arrangements do not perform as we expect or the scheduled events are cancelled, our business, results of operations and
financial condition may be harmed.
We have in the past, and may in the future, pay upfront non-recoupable or recoupable signing fees to certain creators in order to incentivize them to organize
certain events on our platform or obtain exclusive rights to ticket their events. These payments are common practice in certain segments of the ticketing industry
and are typically made to a creator upon entering into a multi-year exclusive ticketing or service contract with us. In March 2020, in light of the COVID-19
pandemic, we substantially curtailed upfront payments to creators entering into new or renewed ticketing arrangements with us. We are also renegotiating the
upfront payment portion of our contracts with some of our existing creators when such creators have missed contractual minimums to qualify for upfront payments
or when such creators have experienced material adverse changes. We are continuing to evaluate our position on upfront payments, and we do not know when, or
if, we will offer upfront payments to new or renewing creators in the future. We believe this lack of upfront payments will put us at a competitive disadvantage to
ticketing solutions that offer cash incentives to newly acquired creators.
The multi-year exclusive arrangements that we entered into between 2014 and 2019 had an average term of 37 months and were typically for exclusive
ticketing rights. A creator who receives a non-recoupable upfront payment, which we refer to as creator signing fees, keeps the entire signing upfront payment, so
long as the creator complies with the terms of the creator’s contract with us, including performance of an event. If a creator does not comply with the terms of the
contract or perform an event, generally the creator is obligated to repay the fees to us, although there is no guarantee that we will be able to collect such repayment.
Creator signing fees, including noncurrent balances, were $13.8 million and $26.3 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and, as
of September 30, 2020, these payments are being amortized over a weighted-average remaining life of 3.0 years on a straight-line basis.
For recoupable fees, which we refer to as creator advances, we are entitled to recoup the entire advance by withholding all or a portion of the ticket sales
sold by the creator to whom the advance was previously paid. Creator advances, including noncurrent balances, were $9.3 million and $23.2 million as of
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. We pay these advances based on the expectations of future ticket sales on our platform by such creators.
We make the decision to make these payments based on our assessment of the past success of the creator, past event data, future events the creator is producing and
other financial information. We include commercial and legal protections in our contracts that may include signing fees, such as issuing the advance only after the
creator begins selling tickets on our platform and requiring a third-party to guarantee the obligations and liabilities of the creator receiving such a payment, to
mitigate the financial risk of making these payments. However, event performance may vary greatly from year-to-year and from event to event. If our assumptions
and expectations with respect to event performance prove wrong or if a counterparty defaults or an event is not successful or is cancelled, our return on these
advances will not be realized and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
Our corporate strategy and restructuring plan may not be successful.
In April 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we decided to refocus our strategy on acquiring and retaining creators who use our platform without
training, support or professional services, rather than creators who require significant event success and customer support. As of December 31, 2019, creators
acquired through our sales channel, many of whom expected significant customer support, made up approximately half of our gross ticket fees. As part of this
effort, we have reduced the size of our customer support and event success teams. We announced a global workforce reduction impacting approximately 45% of
our employees as part of an expense reduction plan related to the impact of COVID-19. The success of this restructuring will depend on, among other things, our
ability to implement the refocused strategy, reduce operating expenses and retain senior management and other highly qualified personnel. Our workforce after this
restructuring may not be sufficient to fully execute our strategy, and we may not be able to effectively attract or retain senior management or other qualified
employees needed to implement this strategy. If we are unable to successfully execute our strategy, our business, results of operations and financial condition may
be adversely affected.
Our success depends on our ability to attract new creators and retain existing creators.
In April 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we decided to refocus our strategy on acquiring and retaining creators who use our platform without
training, support or professional services, rather than creators who required significant event success and customer support. As of December 31, 2019, creators
acquired through our sales channel, many of whom expected significant customer support, made up approximately half of our gross ticket fees. As part of this
effort, we have reduced the size of our customer support and event success teams. We anticipate creators who require a higher level of customer support will leave
our platform to find a different ticketing solution.
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Our success depends on our ability to attract new creators and retain existing creators. In addition to risks related to our refocused strategy on self-service
creators, we may fail to attract new creators and retain existing creators due to a number of factors outlined in this section, including:
• COVID-19 and other global health conditions and related government prohibitions, limitations or recommendations on in-person gatherings, and
creators’ and consumers’ perceived safety of in-person gatherings;
• our ability to maintain and continually enhance our platform and provide services that are valuable and helpful to creators, which maintenance and
enhancements may take place at a slower pace because of our reduced workforce;
• our ability to offer customer support to creators and consumers, which has been significantly limited by our strategy shift and reduced workforce;
• competitive factors, including the actions of new and existing competitors in our industry, such as competitors buying exclusive ticketing rights or
entering into or expanding within the market in which we operate;
• our ability to convince creators to migrate to our platform from their current practices, which include online ticketing platforms, venue box offices
and do-it-yourself spreadsheets and forms;
• changes in our relationships with third parties, including our partners, developers and payment processors, that make our platform less effective for
and attractive to creators;
• the quality and availability of key payment and payout methods;
• our ability to manage fraud risk that negatively impacts creators; and
• our ability to adapt to changes in market practices or economic incentives for creators, including larger or more frequent signing fees.
If we are unable to effectively manage these risks as they occur, creators may seek other solutions and we may not be able to retain them or acquire
additional creators to offset any such departures, which would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, the loss of creators
and our inability to replace them with new creators and events of comparable quality and standing would harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
We have a history of losses and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and maintain profitability.
We incurred net losses of $204.5 million and $54.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and as of September 30,
2020, we had an accumulated deficit of $577.3 million. Our net revenues were $79.3 million and $244.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Because of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, our revenue decreased significantly in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020
as compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, and we expect that our revenue will decrease significantly in the near-term and for the year
ending December 31, 2020. We do not know when our net revenue will return to its pre-COVID-19 levels, if ever.
As of September 30, 2020, our chargebacks and refunds reserve increased to $49.6 million from $2.7 million at December 31, 2019. The increase was
driven by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and related event cancellations and postponements and our estimated costs related to chargebacks and refunds,
driven primarily by our advance payouts program. Due to the rapidly evolving COVID-19 situation and the limited amount of currently available data, there is a
high degree of uncertainty around these reserves and future events, and our actual losses could materially differ from these estimates. We may pay in cash a portion
of, all, or a greater amount than the $49.6 million provision recorded as of September 30, 2020.
You should not rely on the revenue growth of any prior quarterly or annual period as an indication of our future performance. Although we anticipate our
costs to decrease in the short-term, we expect to continue to incur losses due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, the future of live events
and the global economy. If we are unable to return to revenue growth and manage our expenses effectively, we will not be able to achieve and maintain
profitability.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows or raise the additional capital necessary to fund our operations or other liquidity needs.
As of September 30, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $543.3 million, of which $217.8 million was cash held on behalf of and due to our creators.
The remaining cash and cash equivalents balance is available to us to fund our operating, investing and financing activities. In addition, due to the COVID-19
pandemic, which has drastically changed the landscape of the live events industry, we experienced a significant decrease in our net revenues as a result of
decreased paid ticket volume and a significant increase in our operating expenses as a result of reserves recorded for our advanced payouts program and higher
impairments of creator signing fees and creator advances. Our net revenues were $79.3 million and $244.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, respectively, and the net cash (used in) provided by operating activities was $(127.3) million and $99.9 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively. There is significant uncertainty regarding the extent and duration of the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on our
business, and we could exhaust our available financial resources sooner than we expect.
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We may need to raise additional funds, and we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on favorable terms, if at all. Our ability to
obtain financing will depend on a number of factors, including:
•
•
•
•

general economic and capital market conditions, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic;
the availability of credit from banks or other lenders;
investor confidence in us; and
our results of operations

We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that we will be able to obtain financing, in an amount
sufficient to fund our operations or other liquidity needs.
If we raise additional equity financing, our security holders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests, and any new equity securities
we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock. In connection with the
credit agreement we entered into in May 2020, we entered into a stock purchase agreement, pursuant to which we issued and sold 2,599,174 shares of Class A
common stock for a purchase price of $0.01 per share, resulting in dilution to our equity holders.
The credit agreement we entered into in May 2020 provides for initial term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million and delayed draw term
loans in an aggregate principal amount of up to $100.0 million, subject to certain adjustments, which delayed draw term loans may only be accessed from
December 31, 2020 until September 30, 2021, subject to certain conditions. In addition, in June 2020, we issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of
5.000% convertible senior notes due 2025 (2025 Notes). The term loans, the 2025 Notes and any additional funding from debt financings may make it more
difficult for us to operate our business because a portion of our cash generated from internal operations will be used to make principal and interest payments on the
indebtedness and we are, or may be, obligated to abide by restrictive covenants contained in the debt financing agreements. See the risk factors below titled
“Substantial levels of indebtedness could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business and to fulfill our obligations under our
indebtedness” and “The terms of our debt covenants limit our discretion in operating our business and any failure to comply with such covenants could result in the
default of all of our debt.”
If we need additional capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, if at all, we may not be able to, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•

develop and enhance our platform and solutions;
continue to expand our technology development, sales and marketing organizations;
hire, train and retain employees;
respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements; or
pursue acquisition opportunities.

Our inability to do any of the foregoing could reduce our ability to compete successfully and could have an adverse effect on our business.
Substantial levels of indebtedness could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to operate our business and to fulfill our obligations under our
indebtedness.
In May 2020, we entered into a credit agreement that provides for initial term loans in the aggregate principal amount of $125.0 million and delayed draw
term loans, which are currently available to us in an aggregate principal amount of $50.0 million. The delayed draw term loans may only be accessed from
December 31, 2020 until September 30, 2021, subject to certain conditions. In addition, in June 2020, we issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of
5.000% convertible senior notes due 2025. Substantial levels of indebtedness would increase the possibility that we may not generate enough cash flow from
operations to pay, when due, the principal of, interest on or other amounts due in respect of, these obligations. Other risks relating to long-term indebtedness
include:
• increased vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
• a need to divert a significant portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of cash to
fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, investments and other general corporate purposes;
• limited ability to obtain additional financing, on terms we find acceptable, if needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, expansion plans and
other investments, which may adversely affect our ability to implement our business strategy;
• limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our businesses and the markets in which we operate or to take advantage of market
opportunities; and
• a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt.
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The terms of our debt covenants limit our discretion in operating our business and any failure to comply with such covenants could result in the default of all
of our debt.
The credit agreement we entered into in May 2020 contains various covenants that limit our discretion in operating our business, including financial
maintenance covenants and negative covenants that restrict our or our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things:
• incur liens on our property or assets;
• borrow money, and guarantee or provide other support for the indebtedness of third parties;
• pay dividends or make other distributions on, redeem or repurchase our capital stock;
• prepay, redeem or repurchase certain of our indebtedness;
• enter into certain change of control transactions;
• make investments in entities that we do not control, including joint ventures;
• enter into certain asset sale transactions, including divestiture of certain company assets and divestiture of capital stock of wholly-owned subsidiaries;
• enter into certain transactions with affiliates;
• change our fiscal year; and
• enter into substantially different lines of business.
Agreements governing any future indebtedness will likely contain similar covenants. These covenants may limit our ability to effectively operate our
businesses or maximize stockholder value.
In addition, our credit agreement requires that we meet certain financial tests, including a liquidity covenant that will be tested beginning in the fiscal quarter
ending December 31, 2020 and a minimum EBIDTA covenant that will be tested on a consolidated basis beginning in the fiscal quarter ending December 2021.
Our ability to satisfy these tests may be affected by factors and events beyond our control, and we may be unable to meet such tests in the future.
Any failure to comply with the restrictions of our credit agreement or any agreement governing any future indebtedness may result in an event of default
under those agreements. Such default under our current credit agreement allows the lenders to accelerate, which may trigger cross-acceleration or cross-default
provisions in other debt. In addition, the lenders would be able to terminate its commitment to fund us with the second tranche of funding under the credit
agreement. Similar provisions would likely be included in any agreement governing future indebtedness.
We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary for cash settlement upon conversion of the 2025 Notes or to repurchase the 2025 Notes for cash
following a fundamental change, and our future debt may contain limitations on our ability to pay cash upon conversion of the 2025 Notes or to repurchase
the 2025 Notes.
Subject to limited exceptions, holders of the 2025 Notes have the right to require us to repurchase their 2025 Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental
change (as defined in the indenture governing the 2025 Notes) at a cash repurchase price generally equal to the principal amount of the 2025 Notes to be
repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. In addition, upon conversion of the 2025 Notes,
unless we elect to deliver solely shares of our Class A common stock to settle such conversion (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share),
we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the 2025 Notes being converted. However, we may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain
financing at the time we are required to make repurchases of 2025 Notes surrendered therefor or pay the cash amounts, if any, due upon conversion. In addition,
our ability to repurchase the 2025 Notes or to pay cash upon conversions of the 2025 Notes may be limited by applicable law, by regulatory authorities or by
agreements governing our future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase the 2025 Notes at a time when such repurchase is required by the indenture governing the
2025 Notes or settle future conversions of the 2025 Notes as required by the indenture would constitute a default under such indenture. A default under the
indenture or the fundamental change itself may also lead to a default under agreements governing our existing or future indebtedness, which may result in such
existing or future indebtedness becoming immediately payable in full. We may not have sufficient funds to satisfy all amounts due under such existing or future
indebtedness and repurchase the 2025 Notes or make cash payments due, if any, upon conversions thereof.
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The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the 2025 Notes, could have a material effect on our reported
financial results.
Under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (ASC 470-20), an entity
must separately account for the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments (such as the 2025 Notes) that may be settled entirely or partially in
cash upon conversion in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. ASC 470-20 requires the value of the conversion option of the 2025 Notes,
representing the equity component, to be recorded as additional paid-in capital within stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheet and as a discount to
the debt component of the 2025 Notes, which reduces their initial debt carrying value reflected as a liability on our balance sheets. The carrying value of the debt
component of the 2025 Notes, net of the discount recorded, will be accreted up to the principal amount of the 2025 Notes from the issuance date until maturity,
which will result in non-cash charges to interest expense in our consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, we will report lower net income or higher net
loss in our financial results because ASC 470‑20 requires interest to include both the current period’s accretion of the debt discount and the instrument’s coupon
interest, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the trading price of our Class A common stock and the trading price of the 2025
Notes. However, in August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board published an Accounting Standards Update, which we refer to as ASU 2020-06,
eliminating the separate accounting for the debt and equity components as described above. ASU 2020-06 will be effective for us for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021. However, early adoption is permitted in certain circumstances for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. When effective, we expect
the elimination of the separate accounting described above to reduce the interest expense that we expect to recognize for the 2025 Notes for accounting purposes.
In addition, under certain circumstances, convertible debt instruments (such as the 2025 Notes) that may be settled entirely or partly in cash are currently
accounted for utilizing the treasury stock method, the effect of which is that the shares issuable upon conversion of the 2025 Notes are not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share except to the extent that the conversion value of the 2025 Notes exceeds their principal amount. Under the treasury stock
method, for diluted earnings per share purposes, the transaction is accounted for as if the number of shares of Class A common stock that would be necessary to
settle such excess, if we elected to settle such excess in shares, are issued. However, if accounting standards change in the future and we are not permitted to use
the treasury stock method, then our diluted earnings per share may decline. For example, ASU 2020-06 amends these accounting standards, effective as of the date
referred to above, to eliminate the treasury stock method for convertible instruments and instead require application of the “if-converted” method. Under that
method, diluted earnings per share would generally be calculated assuming that all the 2025 Notes were converted solely into shares of our Class A common stock
at the beginning of the reporting period, unless the result would be anti-dilutive. The application of the if-converted method may reduce our reported diluted
earnings per share.
The capped call transactions may affect the value of the 2025 Notes and our Class A common stock.
In connection with the offering of the 2025 Notes, we entered into capped call transactions (Capped Calls) with certain financial institutions (Option
Counterparties). The Capped Calls are expected generally to reduce potential dilution to our Class A common stock upon any conversion of the 2025 Notes and/or
offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted 2025 Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset
subject to a cap.
We have been advised that in connection with establishing their initial hedges of the Capped Calls, the Option Counterparties or their respective affiliates
entered into various derivative transactions with respect to our Class A common stock and/or purchased shares of our Class A common stock concurrently with or
shortly after the offering of the 2025 Notes.
In addition, we have been advised that the Option Counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or
unwinding various derivatives with respect to our Class A common stock and/or purchasing or selling our Class A common stock or other securities of ours in
secondary market transactions at any time prior to the maturity of the 2025 Notes (and are likely to do so during any observation period related to a conversion of
2025 Notes). This activity could cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our Class A common stock.
We do not make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any potential effect that the transactions described above may have on
the price of the 2025 Notes or our Class A common stock. In addition, we do not make any representation that the Option Counterparties will engage in these
transactions or that these transactions, once commenced, will not be discontinued without notice.
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Our results vary from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year. Our results of operations in certain financial quarters or years may not be indicative of, or
comparable to, our results of operations in subsequent financial quarters or years.
Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated significantly in the past due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and difficult
to predict. As a result, it is difficult for us to forecast the level or source of our revenue accurately.
The COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the events industry and global economy has and will make it extremely difficult for us to forecast the level or
source of our revenue accurately. In March 2020, we withdrew our first quarter and full year 2020 financial guidance. We do not know if and when we will be able
to reliably provide quarterly or full year financial guidance. Further, our April 2020 decision to refocus our strategy on acquiring and retaining self-service creators,
rather than creators who require significant event success and customer support, will make period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations less
meaningful.
Because our results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, our financial results for one quarter or year cannot necessarily be
compared to another quarter or year and may not be indicative of our future financial performance in subsequent quarters or years. Period-to-period comparisons of
our results of operations may not be meaningful, and you should not rely upon them as an indication of future performance. In addition to other risk factors listed in
this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may cause our results of operations to fluctuate include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

COVID-19 and other global health conditions, epidemics or pandemics and related government prohibitions, limitations or recommendations on inperson gatherings, and creators’ and consumers’ perceived safety of in-person gatherings;
changes in business or macroeconomic conditions;
creator acquisition and retention;
new solution introductions and expansions, or challenges with introduction;
acquisition of companies and the success, or lack thereof, of migration of such companies’ creators;
changes in pricing or packages;
the development and introduction of new products or services by us or our competitors;
increases in operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain competitive;
system failures or breaches of security or privacy;
changes in stock-based compensation expenses;
adverse litigation judgments, settlements or other litigation-related costs;
changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy or data protection, or enforcement by government regulators,
including fines, orders or consent decrees;
fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changes in the proportion of our revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies;
fluctuations in the market values of our portfolio investments and interest rates;
changes in our effective tax rate;
announcements by competitors or other third parties of significant new products or acquisitions or entrance into certain markets;
our ability to make accurate accounting estimates and appropriately recognize revenue for our solutions for which there are no relevant comparable
products; and
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles.

In addition, historically, before the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced more cash flow generally in the first and third quarters of a fiscal year. The
seasonality of our business could create cash flow management risks if we do not adequately anticipate and plan for periods of decreased activity, which could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

59

Table of Contents

If we do not continue to maintain and improve our platform or develop successful new solutions and enhancements or improve existing ones, our business will
suffer.
Our ability to attract and retain creators depends in large part on our ability to provide a user-friendly and effective platform, develop and improve our
platform and introduce compelling new solutions and enhancements. Our industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology, new service and product
introductions and changing demands of creators. We spend substantial time and resources understanding creators’ needs and responding to them. Building new
solutions is costly and complex, and the timetable for commercial release is difficult to predict and may vary from our historical experience. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, we shifted our focus to attracting and retaining creators who use our platform without training, support or professional services and reduced
our workforce by approximately 45%, including engineering and development personnel. This shift in focus and decrease in our workforce will likely result in
fewer, more targeted product enhancements and a slower product development timetable than we have experienced in the past. In addition, after development,
creators may not be satisfied with our enhancements or perceive that the enhancements do not adequately meet their needs. The success of any new solution or
enhancement to our platform depends on several factors, including timely completion and delivery, competitive pricing, adequate quality testing, integration with
our platform, creator awareness and overall market acceptance and adoption. If we do not continue to maintain and improve our platform or develop successful
new solutions and enhancements or improve existing ones, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
Our software is highly complex, and we have in the past, and may in the future, discover previously undetected errors.
The software underlying our platform is highly complex, and we have in the past, and may in the future, detect previously undetected errors or
vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code has been used in a production environment to deliver products and services. Any real or
perceived errors, failures, bugs or other vulnerabilities discovered in our code could result in negative publicity and damage to our reputation, loss of creators and
attendees, loss of or delay in market acceptance of our platform, loss of competitive position, loss of revenue or liability for damages, overpayments and/or
underpayments, any of which could harm the confidence of creators and attendees on our platform, our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
such an event, we may be required or may choose to expend additional resources in order to help correct the problem. Because creators use our platform for
processes that are critical to their businesses, errors, failures or bugs in our code have resulted, and could in the future result, in creators seeking significant
compensation from us for any losses they suffer and/or ceasing conducting business with us altogether. There can be no assurance that provisions typically
included in our agreements with creators that attempt to limit our exposure to claims would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from
liabilities or damages with respect to any particular claim. Even if unsuccessful, a claim brought against us by any creators would likely be time-consuming and
costly to defend and could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Any significant system interruption or delays could damage our reputation, result in a potential loss of creators and adversely impact our business.
Our ability to attract and retain creators depends on the reliable performance of our technology, including our websites, applications, information and related
systems. System interruptions, slow-downs and a lack of integration and redundancy in our information systems and infrastructure may adversely affect our ability
to operate our technology, handle sales for high-demand events, process and fulfill transactions, respond to creator and attendee inquiries and generally maintain
cost-efficient operations.
We also rely on affiliate and third-party computer systems, broadband and other communications systems and service providers in connection with the
provision of services generally, as well as to facilitate, process and fulfill transactions. Any interruptions, outages or delays in our systems and infrastructures, our
businesses, our affiliates’ and/or third-party systems we use, or deterioration in the performance of these systems and infrastructures, could impair our ability to
provide services, fulfill orders and/or process transactions. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, occasional system interruptions caused by
outages by our partners that made, or may make, some or all systems or data unavailable or prevented, or may prevent, us from efficiently providing services or
fulfilling orders. For example, in March 2020, most of our website experienced a 35 minute outage because of a hardware failure at one of our infrastructure
partners, and in October 2019, our homepage experienced an outage for approximately 6.4 hours. Neither of these events had a material impact on the Company,
but such events may reduce consumer trust in our platform.
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We outsource our cloud infrastructure to Amazon Web Services (AWS), which hosts our platform, and therefore we are vulnerable to service interruptions
at AWS, which could impact the ability of creators and attendees to access our platform at any time, without interruption or degradation of performance. Our
customer agreement with AWS will remain in effect until July 31, 2025. In the event that our AWS service agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service,
interruption of Internet service provider connectivity or damage to such facilities, we could experience interruptions in access to our platform as well as delays and
additional expense in arranging new facilities and services. For example, we previously experienced interruptions in performance of our platform because of a
hardware error that AWS experienced. We may also incur significant costs for using an alternative cloud infrastructure provider or taking other actions in
preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the AWS services we use.
In addition, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, natural disasters and similar
events or disruptions may damage or interrupt computer, broadband or other communications systems and infrastructures at any time. Any of these events could
cause system interruptions, outages, delays and loss of critical data, and could prevent us from providing services, fulfilling orders and/or processing transactions.
Our headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, an area subject to earthquakes and other seismic activity. While we have backup systems for certain
aspects of our operations, disaster recovery planning by its nature cannot be sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance
coverage to compensate for losses from a major interruption.
In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within a period of time acceptable to creators. It may
become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our platform performance, especially during peak usage times, as the features of our platform become more
complex and the usage of our platform increases. Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our reputation, cause creators to stop using our platform,
impair our ability to increase revenue, impair our ability to grow our business, subject us to financial penalties and liabilities under our service level agreements
and otherwise harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our platform and solutions are accessed by a large number of creators and attendees often at the same time. As we continue to expand the number of
creators and attendees and solutions available to creators and attendees, we may not be able to scale our technology to accommodate the increased capacity
requirements, which may result in interruptions or delays in service. Furthermore, capacity constraints could be due to a number of potential causes including
technical failures, natural disasters, fraud or security attacks. In addition, the failure of AWS cloud infrastructure or other third-party Internet service providers to
meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform or impede our ability to scale our operations. The occurrence of any
of these events could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If we cannot attract and retain attendees, our business will be harmed.
The global COVID-19 pandemic and the preventative and protective actions that governments, other third parties or we have taken or may in the future take
in respect of COVID-19, including the shelter-in-place mandates, have resulted, and will continue to result, a significant decrease in the number of events ticketed
by our platform. With this significant drop in event inventory, it is extremely difficult for us to attract and retain attendees. After shelter-in-place and social
distancing policies are relaxed, consumers may not immediately feel safe gathering in-person. We do not expect large-scale gatherings to occur in the near-term.
The extent to which COVID-19 impacts our ability to retain and attract new attendees will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot
be predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the actions taken to contain it or treat its impact. The full
extent to which COVID-19 impacts our business, results of operations and financial condition cannot be predicted at this time and the impact of COVID-19 may
persist for an extended period of time or become more pronounced.
Further, in order to continue to support creators, we need to continue to provide a compelling platform for creators to attract and retain attendees. Several
factors may impact an attendee’s experience with our platform, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

our ability to provide an easy solution for attendees to buy tickets or register for an event;
outages or delays in our platform and other services, including delays in getting into events;
compatibility with other third-party services, such as Facebook and Spotify, and our ability to connect with other applications through our application
programming interface (API);
fraudulent or unsuccessful events that may result in a bad experience for attendees;
breaches and other security incidents that could compromise the data of attendees; and
quality of our customer service and our ability to respond to complaints and other issues in a timely and effective manner.

If attendees become dissatisfied with their experiences on our platform or at an event, they may request refunds, provide negative reviews of our platform or
decide not to attend future events on our platform, all of which would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

61

Table of Contents

We rely on the experience and expertise of our founders, senior management team, key technical employees and other highly skilled personnel and the failure
to retain, motivate or integrate any of these individuals could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our success depends upon the continued service of our founders and senior management team and key technical employees, as well as our ability to
continue to attract and retain additional highly qualified personnel. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, retain
and integrate highly skilled personnel for all areas of our organization. Each of our founders, executive officers, key technical personnel and other employees could
terminate his or her relationship with us at any time. The loss of any of our founders or any other member of our senior management team or key personnel might
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives and could harm our business and our relationships. A number of members of our
management team have recently transitioned out of the Company. Competition in our industry for qualified employees is intense. In addition, our compensation
arrangements, such as our equity award programs, may not always be successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating our existing employees.
We face significant competition for personnel, particularly in the San Francisco Bay Area where our headquarters is located. To attract top talent, we have
had to offer, and believe we will need to continue to offer, competitive compensation and benefits packages. We may also need to increase our employee
compensation levels in response to competition. In April 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we reduced our global workforce by approximately 45%.
This workforce reduction may hurt our employment brand and may make it more difficult to hire employees in the future. Further, as the economy recovers from
the COVID-19 pandemic, we may not be able to hire new employees quickly enough to meet our needs. If we fail to effectively manage our hiring needs or
successfully integrate new hires, our efficiency, ability to meet forecasts and our employee morale, productivity and retention could suffer, which may harm our
business.
Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, we could lose the innovation, creativity and teamwork fostered by
our culture, which could harm our business.
We believe that our corporate culture has been an important contributor to our success, which we believe fosters innovation, teamwork and passion for
creators. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, our global workforce has moved to a remote working environment. With our employees working remotely, we
could face operational difficulties that could impair our ability to conduct and manage our business effectively. It is also possible that the nature of in-person work
will change as a result of COVID-19. As we work from home, we may find it difficult to maintain our corporate culture, which could limit our ability to innovate
and operate effectively. Further, to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on our business, in April 2020 we reduced our workforce by approximately 45% and
temporarily froze hiring, promotions and compensation increases. These actions are expected to negatively impact employee morale in the near term and our
productivity and retention could suffer, which may harm our business. Further, most of our employees have been with us for fewer than three years as a result of
our rapid growth in the past. If we return to growth, we must effectively integrate, develop and motivate a growing number of new employees. In addition, we
recently adopted our future work plan, which will provide our workforce with the option to come into the office for work when our offices reopen, to come into the
office occasionally and to work solely from home. While we believe this work plan will benefit our workforce and company, it is possible that it could result in
operational difficulties and affect our culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could also negatively affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel, maintain
our performance or execute on our business strategy, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We face potential liability, expenses for legal claims and harm to our business based on the nature of the events business.
We face potential liability and expenses for legal claims relating to the events business, including potential claims related to event injuries allegedly caused
by us, creators, service providers, partners or unrelated third parties. For example, third parties have asserted in the past, and may assert in the future, legal claims
against us in connection with personal injuries, which may include deaths, related to occurrences at an event. See the risk factor above titled “Factors adversely
affecting the live event market could impact our business and results of operations.” Even if our personnel are not involved in these occurrences, we may face legal
claims and incur substantial expenses to resolve such claims. Further, if we provide resources regarding event safety, or onsite personnel to support ticketing at an
event, we may face liability related to our provision of such services, including legal claims against us in connection with personal injuries, which may include
deaths, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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As a result of our March 2020 decision to temporarily suspend our advance payout program, we may face legal claims from such creators, which may harm
our business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, as a result of our April 2020 decision to refocus our strategy on acquiring and retaining creators
who use our platform without training, support or professional services, we may face legal claims from creators for whom we are no longer providing certain
services, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. We have also been named as a defendant in an employment lawsuit, and we
may experience an increase in employment claims against us as a result of our April 2020 global workforce reduction, which may harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition. In addition, class action lawsuits have been filed against other players in the live events space, including StubHub and Live
Nation, over their refund policies in response to events cancelled due to COVID-19. A similar lawsuit was recently filed against us, and it is possible that we will
become subject to other similar claims, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Such actions, and other actions we may have
taken or may take in the future in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our business, may open us up to additional legal claims or additional
liability, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Unfavorable outcomes in legal proceedings may harm our business and results of operations.
Our business and results of operations may be affected by the outcome of pending and future litigation, claims, investigations, legal and administrative cases
and proceedings, whether civil or criminal, or lawsuits by governmental agencies or private parties. For example, in April 2019, purported stockholders of our
company filed putative securities class actions in state and federal court in California against Eventbrite, certain of our executives and directors, our underwriters
for our initial public offering (IPO), and/or certain of our venture capital investors, on behalf of a putative class of persons who purchased or acquired Eventbrite
securities traceable to our IPO and/or who purchased or acquired Eventbrite securities after the IPO. These actions allege violations of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act based on alleged material misrepresentations and/or omissions in our IPO offering documents and subsequent statements. The actions seek
unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Regardless of whether or not there is merit to the claims underlying these class actions, any similar future
litigation, or any other legal proceedings to which we are subject, and regardless of whether or not we are found as a result of such proceedings to have violated
any applicable laws, such proceedings can be expensive to defend or respond to, and could result in substantial costs and diversion of management's attention and
resources, which could harm our business, and potentially could cause substantial and irreparable harm to our public reputation. Moreover, if the results or
settlement of these legal proceedings are unfavorable to us or if we are unable to successfully defend against third-party lawsuits, we may be required to pay
monetary damages or may be subject to fines, penalties, injunctions or other censure that could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and reputation. Further, our liability insurance coverage may not be sufficient to satisfy, or may not cover, any expenses or liabilities that may
arise. Even if we adequately address the issues raised by an investigation or proceeding or successfully defend a third-party lawsuit or counterclaim, we may have
to devote significant financial and management resources to address these issues, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our industry is highly fragmented. We compete against traditional solutions to event management and may face significant competition from both established
and new companies. If we are not able to maintain or improve our competitive position, our business could suffer.
We operate in a market that is highly fragmented. We compete with a variety of competitors to secure new and retain existing creators, including traditional
solutions to event management, such as offline, internal or ad hoc solutions, local or specialized market competitors, products offered by large technology
companies that have entered into or may enter the market, or other ticketing competitors. If we cannot successfully compete in the future with existing or potential
competitors, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be harmed.
Some of our current and potential competitors have significantly more financial, technical, marketing and other resources, are able to devote greater
resources to the development, promotion, sale and support of their services, have more extensive customer bases and broader customer relationships, have longer
operating histories and greater name recognition than we do. For example, in certain segments of the event market, event creators are accustomed to upfront
payments and advance payouts to incentivize them to join an event platform and to balance their cash flow needs. In March 2020, in light of the COVID-19
pandemic, we stopped offering upfront payments to creators entering into new or renewed ticketing arrangements with us, and we temporarily stopped making
advance payouts to creators. We are exploring new ways to make advance payouts to qualified creators who meet strict guidelines and have started making
advance payouts available to a limited number of low risk creators. We do not know when, or if, we will offer upfront sales incentive payments to new or renewing
creators or when, or if, we will start making advance payouts available to a wider range of creators. We believe this will put us at a competitive disadvantage to
ticketing solutions that offer these incentives to their creators.
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We may also compete with potential entrants into the market that currently do not offer the same services but could potentially leverage their networks in
the market in which we operate. For instance, large e-commerce companies such as eBay and Amazon have in the past operated, or currently operate, within the
ticketing space. In addition, other large companies with large user-bases that have substantial event-related activity, such as Facebook, Alphabet and Zoom, have
recently added product in the online events space. These competitors may be better able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns and/or offer their
solutions and services at a discount to ours. Furthermore, some of our competitors may customize their products to suit a specific event type, category or customer.
We also compete with self-service products that provide creators with alternatives to ticket their events by integrating such self-service products with creators’
existing operations. If we are unable to compete with such alternatives, the demand for our solutions could decline.
Some of our competitors have existing relationships or may develop relationships with potential creators or the venues or facilities used by those creators,
which have in the past caused and may in the future cause those creators to be unwilling or unable to use our platform and this may limit our ability to successfully
compete in certain markets where such relationships are common. For example, some competitors purchase venues or rights to events and/or enter into exclusivity
agreements with creators. If creators do not remain independent from our potential competitors, demand for our platform will diminish and our business, results of
operations and financial condition will be harmed.
Acquisitions, investments or significant commercial arrangements could result in operating and financial difficulties.
We have acquired or entered into commercial arrangements with a number of businesses in the past. For example, since 2015, we have acquired eight
companies, including ticketscript and Ticketfly in 2017 and Ticketea and Picatic in 2018. Our future growth may depend, in part, on future acquisitions,
investments or significant commercial arrangements, any of which could be material to our results of operations and financial condition. Financial and operational
risks related to acquisitions, investments and significant commercial arrangements that may have an impact on our business include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

use of cash resources and the incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities in funding acquisitions may limit other potential uses of our cash, including
for retirement of outstanding indebtedness and any future stock repurchases or dividend payments;
difficulties and expenses in assimilating the operations, products, data, technology, privacy, data protection systems and information security
systems, information systems or personnel of the acquired company;
failure of the acquired company to achieve anticipated benefits, revenue, earnings or cash flows or our failure to retain key employees from an
acquired company;
the assumption of known and unknown risks, debt and liabilities of the acquired company, deficiencies in systems or internal controls and costs
associated with litigation or other claims arising in connection with the acquired company;
potential accounting charges to the extent intangibles recorded in connection with an acquisition, such as goodwill, trademarks, customer
relationships, developed technology or intellectual property, are later determined to be impaired and written down in value;
failure to properly and timely integrate acquired companies and their operations, reducing our ability to achieve, among other things, anticipated
returns on our acquisitions through cost savings and other synergies;
adverse market reaction to acquisitions;
failure to consummate such transactions; and
other expected and unexpected risks with pursuing acquisitions, including, but not limited to, litigation or regulatory exposure, unfavorable
accounting treatment, increases in taxes due, a loss of anticipated tax benefits, costs or delays to obtain governmental approvals, diversion of
management’s attention or other resources from our existing business and other adverse effects on our business, results of operations or financial
condition.

When we acquire companies or other businesses, we face the risk that creators of the acquired companies or businesses may not migrate to our platform or
may choose to decrease their level of usage of our platform post migration. We have previously experienced customer loss in the process of integrating and
migrating acquired companies for a variety of reasons. The pace and success rate of migration may be influenced by many factors, including the pace and quality
of product development, our ability to operationally support the migrating creators and our adoption of business practices outside of our platform that matter to the
creator.
Moreover, we rely heavily on the representations and warranties and related indemnities provided to us by our acquired targets and their equity holders,
including as they relate to creation, ownership and rights in intellectual property, compliance with laws, contractual requirements and the ability of the acquisition
target to continue exploiting material intellectual property rights and technology after the acquisition. If any such representations are inaccurate or such warranties
are breached, or if we are unable to fully exercise our indemnification rights, we may incur additional liabilities, disruptions to the operations of our business and
diversion of our management’s attention.
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Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with past or future acquisitions, investments and significant commercial
arrangements could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such transactions, incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.
Our payments system depends on third-party providers and is subject to risks that may harm our business.
We rely on third-party providers to support our payments system. Over 90% of revenue on our platform is associated with payments processed through our
internal payment processing capabilities, called EPP. EPP uses a combination of multiple external vendors to provide a single, seamless payments option for
creators and attendees. Beyond EPP, the remainder of creators’ paid ticket sales are processed through linked, creator-owned, third-party accounts, including
PayPal and Authorize.net, which we call Facilitated Payment Processing (FPP).
We partner with third-party vendors to support EPP. In September 2017, we announced a partnership with Square where Square would become our primary
online payment processing partner for EPP in the United States, Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom as well as any new territories Square entered into over
time. Square was also intended to become our exclusive payment processing partner for all of our point-of-sale solutions in those same territories. In November
2019, we decided to reevaluate the scope of our partnership with Square, and our contract with Square was terminated in January 2020. We plan to continue
working with our other third-party vendors who support EPP, and we may in the future enter into another payment processing partnership. Our costs for payment
processing may increase with a new partner due to higher direct costs of development and implementation and fee structure.
As a complex, multi-vendor system with proprietary technology added, EPP relies on banks and third-party payment processors to process transactions and
access various payment card networks to allow creators to manage payments in an easy and efficient manner. We also rely on our providers to process transactions
as a payment facilitator of a payment network. Any of our payment providers and vendors that do not operate well with our platform could adversely affect our
payments systems and our business. We have multiple integrations in place at one time allowing for back up processing on EPP if a single provider is unable or
unwilling to process any given transaction, payment method or currency. However, if any or some of these providers do not perform adequately, determine certain
types of transactions as prohibitive for any reason or fail to identify fraud, if these providers’ technology does not interoperate well with our platform, or if our
relationships with these providers were to terminate unexpectedly, creators may find our platform more difficult to use and the ability of creators using our
platform to sell tickets could be adversely affected, which could cause creators to use our platform less and harm our business.
We must also continually integrate various payment methods used both within the United States and internationally into EPP. To enhance our acceptance in
certain international markets we have in the past adopted, and may in the future adopt, locally-preferred payment methods and integrate such payment methods into
EPP, which may increase our costs and also require us to understand and protect against unique fraud and other risks associated with these payment methods. For
example, in Brazil we localized our platform to allow the use of boleto bancário (bank slip) as a payment method, and we invested capital and management
attention to achieve this. If we are not able to integrate new payment methods into EPP effectively, our business, results of operations and financial condition could
be harmed.
Our payment processing partners require us to comply with payment card network operating rules, which are set and interpreted by the payment card
networks. The payment card networks could adopt new operating rules or interpret or re-interpret existing rules in ways that might prohibit us from providing
certain services to some creators, be costly to implement or difficult to follow. We have agreed to reimburse our payment processors for fines they are assessed by
payment card networks if we or creators using our platform violate these rules, such as our processing of various types of transactions that may be interpreted as a
violation of certain payment card network operating rules.
In addition, payment card networks and payment processing partners could increase the fees they charge us for their services or for an attendee using one of
their cards, which would increase our operating costs and reduce our margins. If we are unable to negotiate favorable economic terms with these partners, our
business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
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Data loss or security breaches could harm our business, reputation, brand and results of operations.
Security breaches, computer malware and computer hacking attacks have become more prevalent across industries and may occur on our systems or those
of our third-party service providers or partners. Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our third-party
service providers and partners are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, hacking and other means of unauthorized access, denial of service and other
attacks, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. Attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their
frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of
motives and expertise. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the
number of our employees who are working remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. In addition to
unauthorized access to or acquisition of personal data, confidential information, intellectual property or other sensitive information, such attacks could include the
deployment of harmful malware and ransomware, and may use a variety of methods, including denial-of-service attacks, social engineering and other means, to
attain such unauthorized access or acquisition or otherwise affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information.
Furthermore, the prevalent use of mobile devices increases the risk of data security incidents. In addition, misplaced, stolen or compromised mobile devices used at
events for ticket scanning, or otherwise, could lead to unauthorized access to the device and data stored on or accessible through such device. We have in the past
experienced breaches of our security measures, and our platform and systems are at risk for future breaches as a result of third-party action or employee, service
provider, partner or contractor error or malfeasance. For example, in June 2018, we publicly announced that a criminal was able to penetrate the Ticketfly website
and access certain consumer data, including names, email addresses, shipping addresses, billing addresses and phone numbers. For a short time, we disabled the
Ticketfly platform to contain the risk of the cyber incident, which disabled ticket sales through Ticketfly during that period. We have incurred costs related to
responding to and remediating this incident and have suffered a loss of revenue for the period during which the Ticketfly platform was disabled. In the year ended
December 31, 2018, we recorded $7.0 million for costs associated with this incident, of which $6.7 million was recorded as a reduction to net revenue and $0.3
million was recorded as an operating expense. We also recorded $6.6 million related to insurance proceeds to be received from the Ticketfly incident as a reduction
in general and administrative expenses in the year ended December 31, 2018. Such proceeds were a partial reimbursement for accommodations to creators which
were recorded as contra revenue. This cyber incident delayed the completion of the integration of Ticketfly, which resulted in extended customer migration time
and slower realization of synergies. We may be subject to litigation and experience reputational harm, and have been subject to claims and suffered customer loss,
related to this incident. In the future, our financial performance may be impacted further if we face additional costs and expenses from customer compensation and
retention incentives, creator loss, regulatory inquiries, litigation and further remediation and upgrades to our security infrastructure. Although we have insurance
coverage, our policy may not cover all financial expenses related to this matter.
In addition, our platform involves the storage and transmission of personal information of users of our platform in our facilities and on our equipment,
networks and internal or third-party systems. Security breaches could expose us to litigation, remediation costs, increased costs for security measures, loss of
revenue, damage to our reputation and potential liability. User data and corporate systems and security measures may be breached due to the actions of outside
parties, employee error or misconduct, malfeasance, a combination of these or otherwise, and, as a result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to our data or
data of creators and attendees. Additionally, outside parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees, creators or attendees to disclose sensitive information in
order to gain access to creator or attendee data. We must continuously examine and modify our security controls and business policies to address the use of new
devices and technologies, and the increasing focus by users and regulators on controlling and protecting user data. We may need to expend significant resources to
protect against and remedy any potential security breaches and their consequences. Any security breach of our platform or systems, the systems or networks of our
third-party service providers or partners, or any unauthorized access to information we or our providers and partners process or maintain, could harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently or may be designed to remain dormant
until a predetermined or other future event and often are not recognized until launched against a target. As a result, we and our third-party service providers and
partners may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. While we have implemented security measures intended to
protect our information technology systems and infrastructure, there can be no assurance that such measures or our third-party service providers’ and partners’
security measures will successfully prevent service interruptions or further security incidents. Although it is difficult to determine what harm may directly result
from any specific interruption or breach, any actual or perceived failure to maintain performance, reliability, security and availability of our network infrastructure,
or of any third-party networks or systems used or supplied by our third-party service providers or partners, to the satisfaction of creators and attendees may harm
our reputation and our ability to retain existing creators and attendees and attract new creators and attendees.
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Examples of situations which have in the past and may in the future lead to unauthorized access of data may include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

employees inadvertently sending financial information of one creator, attendee or employee to another creator, attendee or employee;
employee malfeasance;
creators’ failure to properly password protect their leased ticket scanning and site operations devices leaving the data available to anyone using the
device;
a device stolen from an event and data access, alteration or acquisition occurring prior to our remote wiping of the data;
an employee losing their computer or mobile device or otherwise, allowing for access to our email and/or administrative access, including access to
guest lists to events;
external breaches leading to the circulation of “dark web” lists of user name and password combinations openly vulnerable to attack without
immediate detection;
a hack of one of our databases;
account takeovers;
a hack of a third-party service provider’s or partner’s database; and
unauthorized access to our offices or other properties.

If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed, we could lose
creators and attendees or we could face lawsuits, regulatory investigations or other legal or regulatory proceedings and we could suffer financial exposure due to
such events or in connection with regulatory fines, remediation efforts, investigation costs, changes or augmentation of our security measures and the expense of
taking additional system protection measures.
The processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements
or differing applications of privacy regulations.
We receive, transmit and store a large volume of personal data and other user data. Numerous federal, state and international laws address privacy, data
protection and the collection, storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personal data and other user data. In the United States, numerous states already
have, and are looking to expand, data protection legislation requiring companies like ours to consider solutions to meet differing needs and expectations of creators
and attendees. For example, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), which took effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA establishes a new
privacy framework for covered businesses such as ours, and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and incur compliance related costs
and expenses. The CCPA provides new and enhanced data privacy rights to California residents, such as affording consumers the right to opt out of certain sales of
personal information and prohibits covered businesses from discriminating against consumers (e.g., charging more for services) for exercising any of their CCPA
rights. The CCPA provides for potentially severe statutory penalties, and a private right of action for data breaches resulting from a failure to implement reasonable
security procedures and practices. Some observers have noted that the CCPA could mark the beginning of a trend toward more stringent privacy legislation in the
United States, which could increase our potential liability and adversely affect our business. Moreover, the state of Nevada enacted a law that went into force on
October 1, 2019 and requires companies to honor consumers’ requests to no longer sell their data. Violators may be subject to injunctions and civil penalties.
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Outside the United States, personal data and other user data is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations in numerous jurisdictions around the world,
the intent of which is to protect the privacy of information that is collected, processed and transmitted in or from the governing jurisdiction. Foreign data
protection, privacy, information security, user protection and other laws and regulations are often more restrictive than those in the United States. In particular, the
European Union and the European Economic Area (EEA) and their member states traditionally have taken broader views as to types of data that are subject to
privacy and data protection laws and regulations, and have imposed greater legal obligations on companies in this regard. For example, the European Union
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) became effective May 25, 2018. The GDPR applies to any company established in the EEA as well as to those outside
the EEA if they collect and use personal data in connection with the offering of goods or services to individuals in the EEA or the monitoring of their behavior. The
GDPR enhances data protection obligations for processors and controllers of personal data, including, for example, expanded disclosures about how personal
information is to be used, limitations on retention of information, mandatory data breach notification requirements and onerous new obligations on services
providers. Non-compliance with the GDPR may result in monetary penalties of up to €20 million or 4% of annual worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. In
addition, some countries are considering or have passed legislation implementing data protection requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data or
similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services. For example, on September 18, 2020, Brazil enacted a data protection
law which imposes strict obligations related to data processing that are similar to those in the GDPR. The penalties for non-compliance with this law will become
applicable on August 1, 2021 and
allow for, among other corrective measures, fines of up to R$50 million per violation. The GDPR and other changes in laws or regulations associated with the
enhanced protection of certain types of personal data, such as healthcare data or other sensitive information, could greatly increase our cost of providing our
products and services, require significant changes to our operations or even prevent us from offering certain services in jurisdictions in which we operate.
Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EEA to the United States. For
example, on July 16, 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) invalidated the EU-US Privacy Shield Framework (Privacy Shield) under which
personal data could be transferred from the EEA to United States entities which had self-certified under the Privacy Shield scheme. While the CJEU upheld the
adequacy of the standard contractual clauses (a standard form of contract approved by the European Commission as an adequate personal data transfer mechanism,
and potential alternative to the Privacy Shield), it made clear that reliance on them alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all circumstances. Use of the standard
contractual clauses must now be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal regime applicable in the destination country, in particular applicable
surveillance laws and rights of individuals and additional measures and/or contractual provisions may need to be put in place, however, the nature of these
additional measures is currently uncertain. These recent developments will require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we transfer personal
data from the EEA to the United States. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where the
standard contractual clauses cannot be used, or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or
fines, or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we
provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and could adversely affect our financial results.
In addition, the EU Commission has proposed a new ePrivacy Regulation that would address various matters, including provisions specifically aimed at the
use of cookies to identify an individual’s online behavior, and any such ePrivacy Regulation may provide for new compliance obligations and significant penalties.
Any of these changes to European data protection law or its interpretation could disrupt and harm our business.
Further, following the withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union and the expiry of the transition period, from January 1, 2021, we have
to comply with the GDPR and separately the GDPR as implemented in the United Kingdom, each regime having the ability to fine up to the greater of €20 million/
£17 million or 4% of global turnover. The relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union in relation to certain aspects of data protection law
remains unclear, including how data transfers between European Union member states and the United Kingdom will be treated. These changes may lead to
additional compliance costs and could increase our overall risk.
The interpretation and application of many privacy and data protection laws are, and will likely remain, uncertain, and it is possible that these laws may be
interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our existing data management practices or product features. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines,
lawsuits and other claims and penalties, we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our products, which could
harm our business. In addition to government regulation, privacy advocacy and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either
legally or contractually apply to us. Any inability to adequately address privacy, data protection and data security concerns or comply with applicable privacy, data
protection or data security laws, regulations, policies and other obligations could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales
and harm our business.
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Our acquisition strategy to date, and going forward, often results in the winding down of the acquired platforms over a lengthy period of time while the
existing creators migrate to our platform. The focus often shifts away from these legacy platforms to meeting the needs of migrated creators on our platform. The
existence of these legacy platforms within a shifting landscape regarding privacy, data protection and data security may result in regulatory liability or exposure to
fines. A significant data incident on a legacy platform may harm our reputation and our brand and may adversely affect the migration of existing creators to our
platform. See the risk factor above titled “Data loss or security breaches could harm our business, reputation, brand and results of operations” for information
regarding the Ticketfly cyber incident. We may also become exposed to potential liabilities and our attention and resources may be diverted as a result of differing
privacy regulations pertaining to our applications.
Our failure, and/or the failure by the various third-party service providers and partners with which we do business, to comply with applicable privacy
policies or federal, state or similar international laws and regulations or any other obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, or any
compromise of security that results in the unauthorized release of personal data or other user data, or the perception that any such failure or compromise has
occurred, could damage our reputation, result in a loss of creators or attendees, discourage potential creators and attendees from trying our platform and/or result in
fines and/or proceedings by governmental agencies and/or users, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. In addition, given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, ongoing compliance with evolving interpretation of the GDPR and
other regulatory requirements requires time and resources and a review of the technology and systems currently in use against the requirements of GDPR and other
regulations.
The reputation and brand of our platform is important to our success, and if we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, our results of operations and
financial condition may be adversely affected.
We believe that maintaining and enhancing our reputation and brand as a differentiated and category-defining ticketing company serving creators and
attendees is critical to our relationship with our existing creators and to our ability to attract new creators and attendees. The successful promotion of our brand
attributes will depend on a number of factors that we control and some factors outside of our control.
The promotion of our brand requires us to make substantial expenditures and management investment, which will increase as our market becomes more
competitive and as we seek to expand our platform. To the extent that these activities yield increased revenue, this revenue may not offset the increased expenses
we incur. If we do not successfully maintain and enhance our brand and successfully differentiate our platform from competitive products and services, our
business may not grow, we may not be able to compete effectively and we could lose creators or fail to attract potential creators, all of which would adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, we must continue to make substantial efforts and investments to be associated with
events that are positively viewed by other creators and attendees.
However, there are also factors outside of our control, which could undermine our reputation and harm our brand. Negative perception of our platform may
harm our business, including as a result of complaints or negative publicity about us or creators; our inability to timely comply with local laws, regulations and/or
consumer protection related guidance; the use of our platform for fraudulent events; events being unsuccessful, either as a result of lack of attendance or attendee
experience not meeting expectations; responsiveness to issues or complaints and timing of refunds and/or reversal of payments on our platform (chargebacks);
actual or perceived disruptions or defects in our platform; security incidents; or lack of awareness of our policies or changes to our policies that creators, attendees
or others perceive as overly restrictive, unclear or inconsistent with our values.
Furthermore, creators use our platform for events that represent a variety of views, activities and interests, some of which many other creators or attendees
do not agree with or find offensive, or are illegal, or are perceived as such. For example, in the past, creators have tried to use our platform for events related to
illegal activity and extreme activist groups. These events may cause negative publicity and harm our reputation and brand. Some creators may not have, or are
perceived not to have, legal and ethical business practices. Although we maintain procedures and policies, both automated and by human review, to prevent the
usage of our platform for such purposes and to prevent such practices, our procedures and policies may not effectively reduce or eliminate the use of our platform
by such creators. In addition, certain creators or attendees may not agree with our decision to restrict certain creators from using our platform or the promotion of
certain events on our platform. If our platform is associated with illegal or offensive activity or creators and attendees disagree with our decision to restrict certain
creators or events, our reputation and brand may be harmed and our ability to attract and retain creators will be adversely impacted.
If we are unable to maintain a reputable platform that provides valuable solutions and desirable events, then our ability to attract and retain creators and
attendees could be impaired and our reputation, brand and business could be harmed.
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Our platform might be used for illegal or improper purposes, all of which could expose us to additional liability and harm our business.
Our platform remains susceptible to potentially illegal or improper uses by creators or attendees. Illegal or improper uses of our platform may include
money laundering, terrorist financing, drug trafficking, illegal online gaming, other online scams, illegal sexually-oriented services, phishing and identity theft,
prohibited sales of pharmaceuticals, fraudulent sale of goods or services, posting of unauthorized intellectual property, unauthorized uses of credit and debit cards
or bank accounts and similar misconduct. Creators may also encourage, promote, facilitate or instruct others to engage in illegal activities. Despite measures we
have taken to detect and lessen the risk of this kind of conduct, we cannot guarantee that these measures will stop all illegal or improper uses of our platform and
such uses have occurred in the past. Our business could be harmed if creators use our system for illegal or improper purposes, which may expose us to liability. At
the same time, if the measures we have taken to guard against these activities are too restrictive and inadvertently screen proper transactions, or if we are unable to
apply and communicate these measures fairly and transparently, or we are perceived to have failed to do so, this could diminish the experience of creators and
attendees, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Creators rely on third-party platforms, such as Facebook and Spotify, to connect with and attract attendees and we depend on our platform of partners and
developers to create applications that will integrate with our platform.
Our platform interoperates with other third-party distributors, such as Facebook and Spotify. Attendees are able to access our platform and purchase tickets
through these third-party services. Creators are able to publicize their events and sell tickets on these third-party sites. The interoperability of our platform with
these other sites allows creators to reach more attendees and makes our platform more appealing to creators. These third-party partners have in the past, and may in
the future, terminate their relationship with us, limit certain integration functionality, change their treatment of our services or restrict access to their platform by
creators at any time. For example, in the past, Facebook removed a feature of its service that allowed creators to include multiple hosts on a single event seamlessly
across platforms, which negatively impacted certain music creators’ use of the Facebook integration with our platform. If any such third-party services becomes
incompatible with our platform or the use of our platform and solutions on such third-party platforms are restricted in the future, our business will be harmed.
In addition, to the extent that Google, Facebook or other leading large technology companies that have a significant presence in our key markets
disintermediate ticketing or event management providers, whether by offering their own comprehensive event-focused or shopping capabilities, or by referring
leads to suppliers, other favored partners or themselves directly, there could be harm to our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We also depend on our platform of integrated product partners connecting through our API to create applications that will integrate with our platform, such
as Salesforce, HubSpot and MailChimp, and to allow them to integrate with our solutions. This presents certain risks to our business, including:
•
•
•
•
•

our inability to provide any assurance that these third-party applications and products meet the same quality and security standards that we apply to
our own development efforts, and to the extent that they contain bugs or defects, they may create disruptions in the use of our platform by creators or
negatively affect our brand;
our lack of support for software applications developed by our developer partners, which could cause creators and attendees to be left without support
and consequently could cease using our services if these developers do not provide adequate support for their applications;
our inability to assure that our partners will be able to successfully integrate with our products or that our partners will continue to do so;
our inability to confirm if our partners comply with all applicable laws and regulations; and
the risk that these partners and developers may not possess the appropriate intellectual property rights to develop and share their applications.

Many of these risks are not within our control to prevent, and our brand may be damaged if these applications do not perform to the satisfaction of creators
and attendees and that dissatisfaction is attributed to us.
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Changes in Internet search engine algorithms and dynamics, or search engine disintermediation, or changes in marketplace rules could have a negative
impact on traffic for our sites and ultimately, our business and results of operations.
We rely heavily on Internet search engines, such as Google, to generate traffic to our websites, principally through free or organic searches. Search engines
frequently update and change the logic that determines the placement and display of results of a user’s search, such that the purchased or algorithmic placement of
links to our websites can be negatively affected. In addition, a search engine could, for competitive or other purposes, alter its search algorithms or results causing
our websites to place lower in organic search query results. If a major search engine changes its algorithms in a manner that negatively affects the search engine
ranking of our websites or those of our partners, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be harmed. Furthermore, our failure to
successfully manage our search engine optimization could result in a substantial decrease in traffic to our websites, as well as increased costs if we were to replace
free traffic with paid traffic, which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We also rely on application marketplaces, such as Apple’s App Store and Google’s Play, to drive downloads of our applications. Such marketplaces have in
the past made, and may in the future make, changes to their marketplaces that make access to our products more difficult. For example, our applications may
receive unfavorable treatment compared to the promotion and placement of competing applications, such as the order in which they appear within marketplaces.
Further, Apple has introduced commission fees as part of its App Store rules that could require us to start paying fees on in-app purchases of tickets to online
events. Although Apple agreed to waive such commission fees until 2021, Apple’s App Store or other application marketplaces may in the future require us to pay
a fee per ticket for in-app purchase, which would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Similarly, if problems arise in our relationships
with providers of application marketplaces, traffic to our site and our user growth could be harmed.
If we do not manage the risks of operating internationally effectively, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
In 2019 and 2018, we derived 27.5% and 27.4%, respectively, of our net revenue from outside of the United States. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, we derived 31.5% and 27.2%, respectively, of our net revenue from outside of the United States. In response to the COVID-19
pandemic, we implemented a restructuring plan, which included the reduction of offices outside of the United States. We currently have six offices outside the
United States, including offices in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain, Australia, and Argentina. We have concentrated engineering and business development
teams in Argentina and Spain. Our international operations and results are subject to a number of risks, including:
• currency exchange restrictions or costs and exchange rate fluctuations, particularly in Argentina, and the risks and costs inherent in hedging such
exposures;
• new and modified laws and regulations regarding data privacy, data protection, ticketing and information security;
• exposure to local economic or political instability, threatened or actual acts of terrorism and violence and changes in the rights of individuals to
assemble;
• exposure to regional or global public health concerns, epidemics and pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic;
• compliance with U.S. and non-U.S. regulations, laws and requirements relating to anti-corruption, antitrust or competition, economic sanctions, data
content and privacy, consumer protection, employment and labor laws, health and safety and advertising and promotions;
• compliance with additional U.S. laws applicable to U.S. companies operating internationally and interpretations of U.S. and international tax laws;
• weaker enforcement of our contractual and intellectual property rights;
• preferences by local populations for local providers;
• laws and business practices that favor local competitors or prohibit or limit foreign ownership of certain businesses; and
• slower adoption of the Internet as a ticketing, advertising and commerce medium, which could limit our ability to migrate international operations to
our existing systems.
Despite our experience operating internationally, any future expansion efforts into new countries may not be successful. Our international expansion has
placed, and any future international growth may increasingly place, a significant strain on our management, customer service, product development, sales and
marketing, administrative, financial and other resources. We cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources required in expanding our international
operations will be successful or produce desired levels of revenue or profitability in a timely manner, or at all. Furthermore, certain international markets in which
we operate have lower margins than more mature markets, which could have a negative impact on our margins as our revenue from these markets grows over time.
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We may choose in certain instances to localize our platform to the unique circumstances of such countries and markets in order to achieve market
acceptance, which can be complex, difficult and costly and divert management and personnel resources. Our failure to adapt our practices, platform, systems,
processes and contracts effectively to the creator and attendee preferences or customs of each country into which we expand could slow our growth. If we are
unable to manage our international growth successfully, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
The pricing of our packages may affect our ability to attract or retain creators.
In September 2017, we launched pricing package options for creators based on the features required, service level desired and budget. We assess our pricing
packages based on prior experience, feedback from creators and data insights, and we periodically adjust the price of our packages. Creators’ price sensitivity may
vary by location, and as we expand into different countries, our pricing packages may not enable us to compete effectively in these countries. In addition, if our
platform or services change, then we may need to, or choose to, revise our pricing. Such changes to our pricing model or our ability to efficiently price our
packages and solution could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition and impact our ability to predict our future performance.
A significant number of our employees are located in Argentina, and any favorable or unfavorable developments in Argentina could have an impact on our
results of operations.
A significant number of our employees, including engineers, are located in Argentina, and therefore, a portion of our operating expenses are denominated in
Argentine pesos. As of November 1, 2020, we had a total of 142 employees located in Argentina, of which 107 are engineers. If the Argentine peso strengthens
against the U.S. dollar, it could have a negative impact on our results of operations as it would increase our operating expenses. Our business activities in Argentina
also subject us to risks associated with changes in and interpretations of Argentine law, including laws related to employment, the protection and ownership of
intellectual property and U.S. ownership of Argentine operations. Furthermore, if we had to scale down or close our Argentine operations, there would be
significant time and cost required to relocate those operations elsewhere, which could have an adverse impact on our overall cost structure.
The Argentine government has historically exercised significant influence over the country’s economy. For example, on September 1, 2019, the Argentine
government enacted foreign exchange currency controls. These controls include restrictions on Argentine citizens and Argentinian companies’ abilities to purchase
U.S. dollars, transfer money to foreign accounts and make payments of dividends or payments for services by related parties without permission from the
Argentine government. These controls could harm our business by making it more difficult to fund our operations in Argentina, including cash compensation
programs for our employees based there. For example, we are currently unable to offer our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) program to our employees in
Argentina. In addition, it is possible that the Argentine government may, in the future, impose additional controls on the foreign exchange market and on capital
flows from and into Argentina, in response to capital flight or depreciation of the Argentine peso. These restrictions may have a negative effect on the economy
and harm our business if imposed in an economic environment where access to local capital is constrained.
Additionally, Argentina’s economy and legal and regulatory framework have at times suffered radical changes, due to significant political influence and
uncertainties. In the past, government policies in Argentina included expropriation, nationalization, forced renegotiation or modification of existing contracts,
suspension of the enforcement of creditors’ rights, new taxation policies, including royalty and tax increases and retroactive tax claims, and/or changes in laws and
policies affecting foreign trade and investment. Currently, Argentina's federal government and certain provinces are conducting negotiations with respect to the
restructuring of their sovereign debt. Such policies, and the ongoing restructuring negotiations, could destabilize the country and adversely affect our business and
operating expenses.
In addition, Argentina has experienced labor unrest over wages and benefits paid to workers. In the past, the Argentine government has passed laws,
regulations and decrees requiring companies in the private sector to maintain minimum wage levels and provide specified benefits to employees and may do so
again in the future. Employers have also experienced significant pressure from their employees and labor organizations to increase wages and to provide additional
employee benefits. Any disruptions, labor unrest, or increased personnel-related expenses in Argentina could have an adverse effect on our business and operating
expenses.
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Doing business in Argentina poses additional challenges, such as finding and retaining qualified employees, particularly management-level employees,
navigating local bureaucracy and infrastructure-related issues and identifying and retaining qualified service providers, among other risks. Specifically, the
operating environment in Argentina continues to be a challenging business environment, including the continuing significant devaluation of Argentina's currency,
high inflation and economic recession. Argentina's fragile economic environment is currently challenged by the COVID-19 pandemic. The long-term effects to the
Argentine economy of the on-going COVID-19 pandemic are difficult to assess or predict, and may include risks to citizens’ health and safety, as well as reduced
economic activity. From March through September 2020, the Argentine government introduced several measures designed to address the COVID-19 pandemic,
which so far have resulted in a significant slowdown in economic activity that will adversely affect economic growth in 2020 and possibly 2021 and cannot be
currently quantified. Furthermore, despite recent enactments of local anti-corruption and anti-bribery legislation in a number of developing markets such as
Argentina, it may still be more common than in the United States for others to engage in business practices prohibited by laws and regulations applicable to us,
such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, U.K. Bribery Act or similar local anti-bribery laws. For example, the Argentine Government announced a largescale corruption investigation in Argentina in August 2018. The investigation relates to payments over the past decade to government officials from businesses
who had been awarded large government contracts. Depending on the results of such investigations and the time it takes to conclude them, they could affect the
investment levels in infrastructure in Argentina, as well as the continuation, development and completion of public works, which could ultimately lead to lower
growth in the Argentine economy. In turn, the decrease in investors’ confidence, among other factors, could have a significant adverse impact on the development
of the Argentine economy, which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our commitment to legal compliance could put us at a
competitive disadvantage, and any lapses in our compliance could subject us to civil and criminal penalties that could harm our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
Our metrics and estimates are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in those metrics may seriously harm and
negatively affect our reputation and our business.
We regularly review metrics to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions. These metrics are calculated using internal
company data and have not been validated by an independent third party. Errors or inaccuracies in our metrics or data could result in incorrect business decisions
and inefficiencies. Furthermore, if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics, we may not be able to accurately assess the health of our business and our
reputation and our business may be harmed.
Creator and attendee acquisition and retention depend upon effective interoperation with operating systems, networks, devices, web browsers and standards
that we do not control.
We make our platform available across a variety of operating systems and web browsers. We are dependent on the interoperability of our platform with
popular devices, mobile operating systems and web browsers that we do not control, such as Android, iOS, Chrome and Firefox. Any changes, bugs or technical
issues in such systems, devices or web browsers that degrade the functionality of our platform, make it difficult for creators or attendees to access or use our
platform, impose fees related to our platform or give preferential treatment to competitive products or services could adversely affect usage of our platform. In the
event that it is difficult for creators or attendees to access and use our platform, our business and results of operations could be harmed.
Our failure to successfully address the evolving market for transactions on mobile devices and to build mobile products could harm our business.
A significant and growing portion of creators and attendees access our platform through mobile devices. The number of people who access the Internet and
purchase goods and services through mobile devices, including smartphones and handheld tablets or computers, has increased significantly in the past few years
and is expected to continue to increase. If we are not able to provide creators and attendees with the experience and solutions they want on mobile devices, our
business may be harmed.
While we have created mobile applications and versions of much of our web content, if these mobile applications and versions are not well received by
creators and attendees, our business may suffer. In addition, we face different fraud risks and regulatory risks from transactions sent from mobile devices than we
do from personal computers. If we are unable to effectively anticipate and manage these risks, our business and results of operations may be harmed.
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We rely on software and services licensed from other parties. Defects in or the loss of software or services from third parties could increase our costs and
adversely affect the quality of our service.
Components of our platform include various types of software and services licensed from unaffiliated third parties. Our business would be disrupted if any
of the software or services we license from others or functional equivalents thereof were either no longer available to us or no longer offered on commercially
reasonable terms. In either case, we would be required to either redesign our platform to function with software or services available from other parties or develop
these components ourselves, which would result in increased costs and could result in delays in the release of new solutions and services on our platform.
Furthermore, we might be forced to limit the features available in our platform due to changes by our third-party software and service providers. In addition, if we
fail to maintain or renegotiate any of these software or service licenses, we could face significant delays and diversion of resources in attempting to license and
integrate functional equivalents.
If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets, generate reduced
revenue and incur costly litigation to protect our rights.
Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, service
marks, trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our intellectual property rights in our platform. However, the steps we take to protect
our intellectual property may be inadequate. We will not be able to protect our intellectual property if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do not detect
unauthorized use of our intellectual property. While we take precautions, it may still be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our technology and use our
proprietary information to create solutions and services that compete with ours. Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized use, copying, transfer and
disclosure of our technology may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries. Further, the laws of some countries do not protect
proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized copying
and use of our technology and proprietary information may increase.
It is our policy to enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and to enter into confidentiality
agreements with the parties with whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances. No assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in
controlling access to, and use and distribution of, our platform and proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our competitors from
independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our platform or solutions.
In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights
could be costly, time consuming and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Our efforts to
enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual
property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our
management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform or solutions, impair the functionality of our platform or
solutions, delay introductions of enhancements to our platform, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform or solutions, or
injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features in our platform or
solutions, and we cannot assure you that we could license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our inability to license such technology on
commercially reasonable terms could adversely affect our ability to compete, and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We use open source software in our platform, which could subject us to litigation or other actions.
We use open source software in our platform and may use more open source software in the future. The terms of many open source licenses to which we are
subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts, and there is a risk that open source software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide or distribute our platform. From time to time, there have been claims challenging the ownership of
open source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their solutions. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming
ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, harm our business, results of operations or financial condition
or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our platform. In addition, if we were to combine our proprietary software with
open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain of the open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software. If
we inappropriately use open source software, we may be required to re-engineer our platform, discontinue the sale of our platform or take other remedial actions.
In addition to risks related to license requirements, use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as
open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software.
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Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are subject to a protracted infringement claim or a claim that results in a significant damage award.
There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. Our success depends on our not infringing upon the
intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well as a number of other entities, including non-practicing entities and individuals, may own or claim to
own intellectual property rights relating to our industry and may challenge the validity or scope of our intellectual property rights. From time to time, third parties,
including our competitors and non-practicing entities, have claimed and may in the future claim that our products or technologies may infringe their intellectual
property rights and may assert patent, copyright, trade secret and other claims based on intellectual property rights against us and our customers, suppliers and
channel partners. A claim may also be made relating to technology or intellectual property rights that we acquire or license from third parties. If we were subject to
a claim of infringement, regardless of the merit of the claim or our defenses, the claim could:
• require costly litigation to resolve and the payment of substantial damages;
• require significant management time;
• cause us to enter into unfavorable royalty or license agreements;
• require us to discontinue the sale of products and solutions through our platform;
• require us to indemnify creators or third-party service providers or partners; and/or
• require us to expend additional development resources to redesign our platform.
The United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union could have a negative effect on global economic conditions and financial markets, European
Union regulatory procedures and our business.
Following a national referendum and enactment of legislation by the government of the United Kingdom, the United Kingdom formally withdrew from the
European Union on January 31, 2020 and entered into a transition period until the end of 2020 during which it will continue its ongoing and complex negotiations
with the European Union relating to the future trading relationship between the parties. Significant political and economic uncertainty remains about whether the
terms of the relationship will differ materially from the terms before withdrawal, as well as about the possibility that a so-called “no deal” separation will occur if
negotiations are not completed by the end of the transition period. These developments, or the perception that any of them could occur, have had and may continue
to have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity
and restrict the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets. Any of these factors could depress economic activity and restrict access to
capital, and increase compliance costs and regulatory exposure, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
Our failure to comply with the various export controls and trade and economic sanctions laws and regulations to which we are subject could subject us to
liability, including civil and criminal penalties.
Economic and trade sanctions programs that are administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) prohibit or
restrict transactions and dealings involving specified countries, their governments, and certain individuals and entities, including those that are specially designated
sanctions targets, majority-owned by the same, narcotics traffickers and terrorists or terrorist organizations (collectively, Sanctions). As federal, state and foreign
legislative regulatory scrutiny and enforcement actions in these areas increase, we expect our compliance costs to increase, perhaps substantially. Failure to comply
with any of these requirements could result in the limitation, suspension or termination of our platform, imposition of significant civil and criminal penalties,
including fines, and/or the seizure and/or forfeiture of our assets. Although we maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance with
these Sanctions, certain technical and other challenges, including the absence or reliability of identifying information regarding certain users, may from time to
time prevent us from achieving full compliance.
We endeavor to conduct our business in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to
ensure compliance with Sanctions. The development, implementation and maintenance of protective policies and procedures may be time-consuming or result in
the delay or loss of sales opportunities or impose other costs. Further, we cannot guarantee that these measures will be fully effective in ensuring compliance.
Violations of Sanctions may expose us to negative legal consequences, including the imposition of civil penalties of over $300,000 per violation for most sanctions
programs, or twice the value of the underlying transaction, or criminal penalties of up to $1,000,000 per violation (and/or possible imprisonment for individual
actors). Reputational harm and government investigations may also result.

75

Table of Contents

Further, our products incorporate encryption technology. These encryption products may be exported from the United States only with the required export
authorizations, including by a license, a license exception or other appropriate government authorizations. Such products may also be subject to certain regulatory
reporting requirements. Various countries also regulate the import of certain encryption technology, including through import permitting and licensing
requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our customers’ ability to import our services into those countries. Governmental regulation of encryption
technology and of exports and imports of encryption products, or our failure to obtain required approval for our products and services, when applicable, could
subject us to legal penalties, harm our international sales and adversely affect our revenue. Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the
provision of our products and services, including with respect to new products and services, may delay the introduction of our products and services in various
markets or, in some cases, prevent the provision of our products and services to some countries altogether.
Our business is subject to a wide range of laws and regulations. Our failure to comply with those laws and regulations could harm our business.
We are subject to a number of U.S. federal and state and foreign laws and regulations that involve matters central to our business. For example, our platform
is subject to an increasingly strict set of legal and regulatory requirements intended to help detect and prevent money laundering, terrorist financing, fraud and
other illicit activity. The interpretation of those requirements by judges, regulatory bodies and enforcement agencies is changing, often quickly and with little
notice. Changes in laws and regulations could impose more stringent requirements on us to detect and prevent illegal and improper activity by creators, which can
increase our operating costs and reduce our margins. For example, to date, in the United States, platforms like ours are immune from liability resulting from the
improper or illegal actions facilitated by the platform, but initiated by its users, under Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act (CDA). If the CDA is
amended in a manner that reduces protections for our platform, we will need to increase our content moderation operations, which may harm our results of
operations.
In addition, the ticketing business is subject to many laws and regulations, both foreign and domestic. These laws and regulations vary from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction and may sometimes conflict. Outside of ticketing regulations, creators are often subject to regulations of their own, such as permitting and crowd
control requirements. Regulatory agencies or courts may claim or hold that we are responsible for ensuring that creators comply with these laws and regulations,
which could greatly increase our compliance costs, expose us to litigation, subject us to fines and penalties and otherwise harm our business.
Failure to comply with anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws associated with our activities outside of the United States could subject us to penalties and
other adverse consequences.
We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (FCPA), the United Kingdom Bribery Act 2010 (Bribery Act), and other anticorruption and anti-bribery laws in various jurisdictions, both domestic and abroad, where we conduct business. The FCPA and the Bribery Act prohibit us and our
officers, directors, employees and business partners acting on our behalf, including agents, from corruptly offering, promising, authorizing or providing anything of
value to a “foreign official” for the purposes of influencing official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. The
FCPA further requires us to make and keep books, records and accounts that accurately reflect transactions and dispositions of assets and to maintain a system of
adequate internal accounting controls. The Bribery Act also prohibits “commercial” bribery not involving government officials, and accepting bribes. Our sales
team sells use of our platform abroad, and we face significant risks if we fail to comply with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws. We operate in
many parts of the world that have experienced governmental corruption to some degree. We may have also direct or indirect interactions with officials and
employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party
intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners, service providers and agents, even if we do not authorize such activities. While we have
policies and procedures to address compliance with such laws, we cannot ensure that all of our employees, users and agents, as well as those contractors to which
we outsource certain of our business operations, will not take actions in violation of our policies or agreements and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately
held responsible.
Any violation of the FCPA, the Bribery Act or other applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws could subject us to significant sanctions, including civil
or criminal fines and penalties, disgorgement of profits, injunctions and debarment from government contracts, as well as related stockholder lawsuits and other
remedial measures, all of which could harm our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition. Responding to any investigation may result in a
significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
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Failure to comply with applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations could harm our business and result of operations.
Due to the risk of our platform being used for illegal or illicit activity, any perceived or actual breach of compliance by us with respect to anti-money
laundering (AML) laws, rules, and regulations, including the Bank Secrecy Act, USA Patriot Act and Title 18 U.S.C. Sections 1956-57 and 1960, could have a
significant impact on our reputation and could cause us to lose existing creators and attendees, prevent us from obtaining new creators, require us to expend
significant funds to remedy civil and criminal problems caused by violations and to avert further violations and expose us to legal risk and potential liability that
could have a material effect on our business. Several of these laws require certain companies to adopt an AML compliance program, including those companies
that are characterized as a money services business or money transmitter. Moreover, many states have their own AML legal regulatory regimes and interpretations
and applications of those legal principles are complex and varied. If the federal government or any state government took the position that we were a money
services business or money transmitter, they could require us to register as such and obtain a money transmitter license.
While we maintain that we are not a money services business or money transmitter, we have voluntarily elected to adopt an AML compliance program to
mitigate the risk of our platform being used for illegal or illicit activity and to help detect and prevent fraud. Should a federal or state regulator make a
determination that we have operated as an unlicensed money services business or money transmitter, we could be subject to civil and criminal fines, penalties,
costs, legal fees, reputational damage or other negative consequences, all of which may harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Failure to comply with laws and regulations related to payments could harm our business and results of operations.
The laws and regulations related to payments are complex, subject to change, and vary across different jurisdictions in the United States and globally.
Furthermore, changes in laws, rules and regulations have occurred and may occur in the future, which may impact our business practices. In particular, in the
United States, certain state jurisdictions require a money transmission license to provide certain payments services, and the applicability of state money
transmission licensing laws to payment processing services such as those we provide is a matter of regulatory interpretation that is subject to change. In this regard,
changes to regulatory interpretations or decisions by applicable authorities that certain of our activities should be subject to regulation under state money
transmission licensing laws could subject us to investigation and the potential for resulting liability. As a result of regulatory uncertainty with respect to state
money transmission licensing and regulation and federal money services business registration, we are required to spend significant time and effort to comply with
those laws and regulations and to ensure that creators and attendees are complying with those laws and regulations. Any failure or claim of our failure to comply or
any failure by our third-party service providers and partners to comply with such laws and regulations or other requirements could divert substantial resources,
result in liabilities or force us to restructure or even to stop offering EPP, which will harm our business and results of operations.
For example, if we are deemed to be a money transmitter as defined by applicable regulation, we could be subject to certain laws, rules and regulations
enforced by multiple authorities and governing bodies in the United States and numerous state and local agencies who may define money transmitter differently. If
we were required to be licensed as a money transmitter (or otherwise determined that obtaining state money transmission licenses would further its business
purposes), we would be subject to recordkeeping and reporting requirements, as well as bonding requirements, restriction on the use of customer funds and other
obligations. We would also be subject to examination and oversight buy applicable state licensing authorities.
Additionally, outside of the United States, we could be subject to additional laws, rules and regulations related to the provision of payments and financial
services, and as we expand into new jurisdictions, the foreign regulations and regulators governing our business that we are subject to will expand as well. If we are
found to be a money transmitter under any applicable regulation and we are not in compliance with such regulations, we may be subject to fines or other penalties
in one or more jurisdictions levied by federal or state or local regulators, including state Attorneys General, as well as those levied by foreign regulators. In
addition to fines, penalties for failing to comply with applicable rules and regulations could include criminal and civil proceedings, forfeiture of significant assets
or other enforcement actions. We could also be required to make changes to our business practices or compliance programs as a result of regulatory scrutiny.
Additionally, we are subject to the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI-DSS), and if we experience substantial losses related to payment
card transactions or in the event of noncompliance with the PCI-DSS, we may choose to, or be required to, cease accepting certain payment cards for payment. If
we were unable to accept payment cards through EPP, creators would be required to use third-party payment options, which would reduce the simplicity and easeof-use of our platform.
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Our reported results of operations may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), the SEC,
and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant
effect on our reported results of operations, and may even affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement or effectiveness of a change. For
example, as a result of our adoption of ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASC 842) which was effective for us beginning January 1, 2019, there was an increase
of $3.7 million in operating lease expense related to the accounting treatment of our San Francisco office lease, which was accounted for as a build-to-suit lease
under ASC 840 prior to the adoption of ASC 842.
If currency exchange rates fluctuate substantially in the future, our results of operations, which are reported in U.S. dollars, could be adversely affected.
Our international operations expose us to the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Many of our creators live or operate outside the United
States, and therefore we have significant ticket sales denominated in foreign currencies, most notably the British Pound, Euro, Canadian Dollar, Australian Dollar,
Brazilian Real and Argentinian Peso. If currency exchange rates remain at current levels, currency translation could continue to negatively affect net revenue
growth for events that are not listed in U.S. dollars and could also reduce the demand for U.S. dollar denominated events from attendees outside of the United
States. Further, we incur expenses for employee compensation and other operating expenses at our international locations in the local currency. Because we
conduct business in currencies other than U.S. dollars but report our results of operations in U.S. dollars, we face exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange
rates, which could harm our results of operations.
Our business may be subject to sales tax and other indirect taxes in various jurisdictions. In addition, creators may also be subject to certain taxes.
The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, amusement tax, value-added tax, goods and services tax, business tax and gross receipts tax, to
businesses like ours and to creators and attendees is a complex and evolving issue. Significant judgment is required to evaluate applicable tax obligations and as a
result, amounts recorded are estimates and are subject to adjustments. In many cases, the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not clear how new
and existing statutes might apply to our business.
One or more states, localities, the federal government or other countries may seek to impose additional reporting, record-keeping or indirect tax collection
obligations on businesses like ours that facilitate online commerce. For example, taxing authorities in the United States and other countries have identified ecommerce platforms as a means to calculate, collect and remit indirect taxes for transactions taking place over the Internet, and are considering related legislation.
Certain jurisdictions have enacted laws which became effective in 2018 and 2019 or will become effective later requiring marketplaces to report user activity or
collect and remit taxes on certain items sold on the marketplace. Imposition of an information reporting or tax collection requirement could decrease creator or
attendee activity on our platform, which would harm our business. New legislation could require us or creators to incur substantial costs in order to comply,
including costs associated with tax calculation, collection and remittance and audit requirements, which could make using our platform less attractive and could
adversely affect our business and results of operations.
We face sales and use tax and value-added tax audits in certain states and international jurisdictions and it is possible that we could face additional sales and
use tax and value-added tax audits in the future in additional jurisdictions and that our liability for these taxes could exceed our reserves as state or international tax
authorities could assert that we are obligated to collect additional amounts as taxes from creators and remit those taxes to those authorities. We could also be
subject to audits and assessments with respect to states and international jurisdictions for which we have not accrued tax liabilities. A successful assertion that we
should be collecting additional sales or other taxes on our services in jurisdictions where we have not historically done so and do not accrue for sales or other taxes
could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales, discourage creators from using our platform or otherwise harm our business and results of operations.
Although we have reserved for potential payments of possible past tax liabilities in our financial statements as disclosed in Note 14 of the Notes to Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, if these liabilities exceed such reserves, our financial condition will be harmed.
Our international operations subject us to potential adverse tax consequences and additional taxes.
We generally conduct our international operations through wholly owned subsidiaries and report our taxable income in various jurisdictions worldwide
based upon our business operations in those jurisdictions. Because of these international operations, we may be subject to adverse tax changes or interpretation,
increased taxes due to increased international expansion, and tax charges due to complex intercompany agreements.
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We may be subject to income taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax laws, the application of which can be
uncertain. The amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased
tax rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and results of operations.
In addition, the authorities in these jurisdictions could review our tax returns and impose additional tax, interest and penalties, and the authorities could claim that
various withholding requirements apply to us or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us, any of which could have a negative impact on us or our
results of operations. As we earn an increasing portion of our revenue and accumulate a greater portion of our cash flow in foreign jurisdictions, we could face a
higher effective tax rate and incremental cash tax payments.
Additionally, our intercompany relationships are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions.
The relevant taxing authorities may disagree with our determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a disagreement
were to occur, and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which could result in one-time tax charges,
higher effective tax rates and reduced cash flows and may harm our results of operations and financial condition.
Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” (generally, a
greater than 50 percentage point change in our equity ownership by certain stockholders or groups of stockholders) is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize
its pre-change NOLs to offset future taxable income. We have undergone ownership changes in the past, which have resulted in limitations on our ability to utilize
our NOLs, and future changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under Section 382 of the
Code. The existing NOLs of some of our subsidiaries may be subject to limitations arising from ownership changes prior to, or in connection with, their acquisition
by us. Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations. There is also a risk that, due to
regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset
future income tax liabilities, including for state tax purposes. For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize some portion of our NOLs even if we attain
profitability.
On March 27, 2020, the President signed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the CARES Act), aimed at helping American workers
and businesses impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among other things, temporarily removes the current-law taxable income limitation
established under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, and permits NOL carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning
before 2021. In addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019 and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five preceding taxable years. The NOL
provisions of the CARES Act is not expected to result in a cash benefit to the Company nor did it impact our NOL balance upon enactment.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate
financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the listing standards of the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE). We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance
costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and resources. The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting. Our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms. We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant
resources in order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
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Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business, including increased
complexity resulting from our international expansion. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their
implementation or improvement, could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our
financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could also adversely affect the
results of management reports and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our internal control over financial reporting that we are required to
include in our periodic reports that we file with the SEC. While our management has previously been, and will continue in the future to be, required to perform an
evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting, our independent registered public accounting firm was not required to perform such an evaluation prior
to the year ended December 31, 2019, which is the date we were no longer an emerging growth company. Accordingly, we are required to include in each of our
Annual Reports on Form 10-K an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered accounting firm. There can be
no assurance that we or our independent registered auditors will not in the future identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting, which may have a negative impact on our ability to timely and accurately produce financial statements or which may negatively impact the confidence
level of our stockholders and other market participants with respect to our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements. Ineffective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information,
which would likely have a negative effect on the market price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements,
we may not be able to remain listed on the NYSE.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
We have a limited operating history in an evolving industry which makes it difficult to evaluate our current business future prospects and increases the risk of
your investment.
We launched operations in 2006. This limited history in an evolving industry makes it difficult to effectively assess or forecast our future prospects. You
should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we encounter or may encounter. These risks and difficulties include our ability to
cost-effectively acquire new creators and engage and retain existing creators, maintain the quality of our technology infrastructure that can efficiently and reliably
handle ticket sales and event management services globally and the deployment of new features and solutions and successfully compete with other companies that
are currently in, or may enter, the ticketing and event solution space. Additional risks include our ability to effectively manage growth, responsibly use the data that
creators and attendees share with us, process, store, protect and use personal data in compliance with governmental regulation, contractual obligations and other
legal obligations related to privacy and security and avoid interruptions or disruptions in our service or slower than expected load times for our platform. Other
risks posed by our limited operating history include the ability to hire, integrate and retain world class talent at all levels of our company, continue to expand our
business in markets outside the United States, and defend ourselves against litigation, regulatory, intellectual property, privacy or other claims. If we fail to address
the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above, our business and our results of operations will be harmed.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating performance.
Prior to our initial public offering, there was no public market for shares of our Class A common stock. The market prices of the securities of other newly
public companies have historically been highly volatile. The market price of our Class A common stock has in the past, and may in the future, fluctuate
significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

overall performance of the equity markets and/or publicly-listed technology companies;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our net revenue or other operating metrics;
changes in the financial projections we provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;
failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow our company
or our failure to meet the estimates or the expectations of investors;
the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;
rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;
announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;
lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
recruitment or departure of key personnel; and
other events or factors, including those resulting from war, public health concerns and epidemics, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events.
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In addition, extreme price and volume fluctuations in the stock markets have affected and continue to affect many technology companies’ stock prices.
Often, their stock prices have fluctuated in ways unrelated or disproportionate to the companies’ operating performance. The global stock markets have
experienced, and may continue to experience, significant volatility as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the price of our Class A common stock has been
volatile and has decreased significantly in recent months. The COVID-19 pandemic and the significant uncertainties it has caused for the global economy, business
activity, and business confidence have had, and is likely to continue to have, a significant effect on the market price of securities generally, including our Class A
common stock. In the past, stockholders have filed securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility. For example, beginning on April 15,
2019, purported stockholders of our company filed putative securities class action against Eventbrite, certain of our executives and directors, and our underwriters
for the IPO, on behalf of a putative class of persons who purchased or acquired Eventbrite securities traceable to our IPO and/or who purchased or acquired
Eventbrite securities between September 20, 2018 and May 1, 2019, inclusive. During this period, the closing price of our Class A common stock ranged from a
high of $37.97 to a low of $19.06. See the risk factor above titled “Unfavorable outcomes in legal proceedings may harm our business and results of operations.”
Moreover, because of these fluctuations, comparing our results of operations on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our
past results as an indication of our future performance. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or
financial analysts or investors for any period. If our net revenue or results of operations fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts
we may provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our Class A common
stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated net revenue or earnings forecasts
that we may provide.
The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our directors, executive officers and their affiliates and that
may depress the trading price of our Class A common stock.
Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of September 30, 2020, our directors,
executive officers and stockholders holding more than 5% of our outstanding shares, and their affiliates, beneficially owned in the aggregate 80.2% of the voting
power of our capital stock. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B common stock
collectively will continue to control a majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore be able to control all matters submitted to our
stockholders for approval until September 20, 2028, the date that is the ten-year anniversary of the closing of our IPO. This concentrated control will limit or
preclude your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents,
and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this
may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited
exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect,
over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long-term.
In addition, certain index providers, such as S&P Dow Jones, have restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures in certain of their
indices. Accordingly, the dual class structure of our common stock makes us ineligible for inclusion in certain indices and, as a result, mutual funds, exchangetraded funds and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track those indices may not invest in our Class A common stock and may make our Class A
common stock less attractive to other investors. It is possible that these policies may depress valuations of publicly-traded companies excluded from such indices,
as compared to similar companies that are included. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be harmed.
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Commencing December 31, 2019, we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies no longer apply to us.
As of June 28, 2019, the market value of our common stock that was held by non-affiliates exceeded $700 million, so we no longer qualified for emerging
growth company status as of December 31, 2019. As a large-accelerated filer, we are now subject to certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other
public companies that were not applicable to us as an emerging growth company. These requirements include:
•
•
•
•

compliance with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting;
compliance with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation
or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;
full disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation; and
compliance with the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved.

Compliance with these additional requirements may increase our compliance and financial reporting expenses and may divert management’s attention from
other aspects of our business. Failure to comply with these requirements could subject us to enforcement actions by the SEC, which could divert management’s
attention, damage our reputation and harm our business, results of operations or financial condition.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price of
our Class A common stock and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our
business. If industry analysts cease publishing research on our company, the trading price for our Class A common stock would be negatively affected. If one or
more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common
stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us on a regular basis, demand for our Class A
common stock could decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.
Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public markets, or the perception that sales might occur, could cause the market price of our
Class A common stock to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and
principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline. As of October 15,
2020, we had 68,281,695 shares of Class A common stock outstanding and 23,364,129 shares of Class B common stock outstanding.
Sales of our common stock may make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. These
sales also could cause our stock price to fall and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our common stock.
Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all other
stockholders.
In connection with the execution of the credit agreement we entered into in May 2020, we entered into a stock purchase agreement, pursuant to which we
issued and sold 2,599,174 shares of Class A common stock for a purchase price of $0.01 per share, resulting in dilution to our equity holders. We may also raise
capital through additional equity or equity-linked financings. For example, in June 2020, we issued the 2025 Notes, and the conversion of some or all of the 2025
Notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders to the extent we deliver shares upon any conversion of the 2025 Notes. Any sales in the public
market of our Class A common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our Class A common stock. In addition, the
existence of the 2025 Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the 2025 Notes could be used to satisfy short positions.
The anticipated conversion of the 2025 Notes into shares of our Class A common stock could also depress the price of our Class A common stock. We also expect
to grant equity awards to employees, directors and consultants under our stock incentive plans. As part of our business strategy, we may acquire or make
investments in complementary companies, products or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or investment. Any such issuances of
additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our Class A common stock
to decline.
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The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our ability to attract and retain executive
management and qualified board members.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing standards of the NYSE and other applicable securities
rules and regulations. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs,
make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and resources. As a result of the complexity
involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns,
which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we have already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with
these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses. Additionally, as
we are no longer an emerging growth company, we need to comply with additional disclosure and reporting requirements, including accelerated filing deadlines
and an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting as of each fiscal year-end issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. We are
also required to include additional information regarding executive compensation in our annual proxy statement and at our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders we
held a nonbinding advisory vote on the frequency of the nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation at our annual meetings of stockholders. Based on the
voting results at the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders, we determined to hold a stockholder advisory vote on named executive officer compensation every year
until the next required vote on the frequency of advisory votes on named executive officer compensation
In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies,
increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying
interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by
regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to
disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may
result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from business operations to compliance activities. If
our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to
their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
We also expect that these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation committee, and qualified executive officers.
As a result of disclosure of information in filings required of a public company, our business, results of operations and financial condition are more visible,
which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business,
results of operations and financial condition could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the
time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The individuals who now constitute our senior management team have limited experience managing a publicly-traded company and limited experience
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our senior management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our
regulatory and reporting obligations as a public company.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock and, consequently, the ability of Class A common stockholders to achieve a return on
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our Class A common stock.
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business,
and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, Class A common stockholders may only receive a return on your
investment in our Class A common stock if the market price of our Class A common stock increases.
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Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current board of directors and limit the market price of our Class A common stock.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change
of control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

provide that our board of directors be classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;
permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;
require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws;
authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;
provide that only the Chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer, or a majority of our board of directors is authorized to call a
special meeting of stockholders;
provide for a dual class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock have the ability to control the outcome of matters
requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our Class A and Class B common
stock, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets;
prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and
advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at
annual stockholder meetings.

Moreover, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company. Section 203
imposes certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations, and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.
Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that may
be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for:
•
•
•
•

any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;
any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;
any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws; or
any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our
directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum
provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. The exclusive forum provision does not apply to claims under the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act or any other claim for which the U.S. federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
There were no sales of unregistered equity securities during the three months ended September 30, 2020.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Class A Common Stock
On September 19, 2018, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-226978) was declared effective by the SEC for our IPO of Class A common
stock. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from that described in the final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)
under the Securities Act and other periodic reports previously filed with the SEC.
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Item 6. Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Exhibit Index
Exhibit
Number
3.2
3.4
4.1
10.1
31.1
31.2
32.1*
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Description of Exhibits

Form

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
Amended and Restated Bylaws.
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate.
Strategic Advisory Agreement between the Registrant and Lorrie Norrington,
as amended
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Inline XBRL Instance Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)

S-1/A
S-1/A
S-1/A

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number
Date Filed
3.2
3.4
4.1

August 28, 2018
August 28, 2018
September 7, 2018
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

*The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will not be deemed "filed" for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Eventbrite, Inc.
November 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Julia Hartz
Julia Hartz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

November 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Charles Baker
Charles Baker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT for 2020-2021
This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT for 2020-2021 (this “Agreement”) is entered into between Lorrie Norrington (“Contractor”),
and Eventbrite, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Eventbrite”), (collectively referred to as the “Parties”) and is dated as of the later of the dates set forth beneath the
signatures below.
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Contractor hereby agrees to provide to Eventbrite, an events technology platform, services described in Appendix A (the
“Services”), and in return for the Services, Eventbrite will pay Contractor at the negotiated rate set forth in Appendix A;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
1. Relationship of the Parties; Independent Contractor.
A. Eventbrite desires to enter into this Agreement with Contractor for the performance of Services. Both Contractor and Eventbrite fully and freely intend to create
an independent contractor relationship under this Agreement. Contractor is not an employee, agent, partner or joint venture of Eventbrite and shall not bind nor
attempt to bind Eventbrite to any contract. Contractor does not have the right to employ or contract with any person on behalf of Eventbrite. From time to time
upon request of Eventbrite, Contractor will provide evidence of self-employment, tax registration and certification of foreign status for US tax purposes as
Eventbrite may request and such delivery shall be a condition precedent to the payment of fees hereunder.
B. Contractor is not eligible to participate in any of Eventbrite’s employee benefit plans, fringe benefit programs, group insurance arrangements or similar
programs. Eventbrite shall not provide workers’ compensation, disability insurance, Social Security or unemployment compensation coverage, or any other
statutory benefit to Contractor. It is further expressly understood that Contractor’s compensation under this Agreement shall consist, in its entirety, of fees outlined
in Appendix A.
C. Contractor has the sole right to control the manner, method, mode, and means of performing Services under this Agreement and is free to ignore any and all
suggestions that Eventbrite may offer to Contractor. Contractor has the right to determine all equipment and supplies needed to perform the Services and
Contractor shall bear all expenses associated with the purchase, operation and maintenance of equipment and supplies that Contractor deems necessary.
D. Contractor will not be required to attend any meetings or group meetings of any kind, will not be subject to rules applicable only to Eventbrite employees, and
will not be required to submit any time reports.
1. Representations and Warranties.
A. Contractor represents and warrants to Eventbrite that Contractor shall comply at Contractor’s expense with all applicable provisions of workers’ compensation
laws, unemployment compensation laws, national insurance and social security laws, foreign, US federal, state and local income tax laws, and all other applicable
laws, regulations and codes in performing Services under this Agreement. Contractor will be solely responsible to pay any and all state and/or federal income,
social security and unemployment taxes for Contractor and Contractor’s employees.
B. Contractor further represents and warrants to Eventbrite that the Services by Contractor will not intentionally violate or infringe any copyright, patent, trade
secret or other legal obligation or right, and that use of the Services by Eventbrite will not require a license and/or payment of any additional fee and Contractor has
obtained all licenses, permits and other authorizations required to perform the Services. Contractor shall make a best effort to ensure that such licenses, permits
and/or other authorizations remain in force during the Term of the Agreement.
C. Eventbrite agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Contractor against all third-party and Eventbrite claims, damages, losses, liabilities, settlements, attorneys’
fees, costs and expenses arising out of or in connection with any action or inaction of Contractor or related to any of the Services provided by Contractor pursuant
to this Agreement except to the extent caused by Contractor’s willful misconduct. Contractor agrees that it will cooperate in the defense of any such claim at
Eventbrite’s expense.

Contractor has read and understands this page: _________________________

3. Assignment.
A. Although this Agreement is executed solely with Contractor, it is not a personal services contract. Contractor, without prior notice or approval of Eventbrite,
may employ or contract with any other person to assist in the performance of this Agreement. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the performance of this
Agreement and for all legal obligations, liabilities, and expenses arising therefrom. Any subcontractor shall be under the exclusive control of Contractor and
Contractor shall be responsible for each subcontractor, or for any act or omission of any subcontractor. Contractor will ensure that Contractor’s subcontractors,
employees and others involved in the Services, if any, are bound in writing to the foregoing, and to all of Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement.
B. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement is not assignable by Contractor. Consistent with Contractor's right to hire employees and contract with
subcontractors when Contractor deems it necessary, Contractor agrees that Contractor’s attention to fulfilling Contractor’s contractual obligations was a substantial
inducement to Eventbrite to sign this Agreement; therefore, Contractor agrees to devote such time as Contractor deems necessary to fulfill Contractor’s obligations
under this Agreement. Eventbrite may fully assign and transfer this Agreement in whole or part. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and
assigns of Eventbrite, and is binding upon Contractor’s heirs, executors and legal representatives.
4. Fee.
A. In exchange for the Services, Eventbrite will compensate Contractor at the negotiated rate stated in Appendix A.
B. Eventbrite and Contractor shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, to institute negotiations for changes in the negotiated rates paid to
Contractor under this Agreement.
C. If Contractor believes any payment of fees is not accurate, Contractor agrees to notify Eventbrite in writing within fourteen (14) days of the payment provided
Contractor. Failure to timely notify Eventbrite in writing waives any claim that the amount paid was inaccurate. Eventbrite agrees to remedy the error within
fourteen (14) days following receipt of written notification of a claimed error, or will notify Contractor within that time that it disputes the claim of error.
5. Risk of Loss. Contractor bears the risk of loss incurred as a result of Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, damages for
breach of this Agreement, and obligations and liabilities incurred to Eventbrite, subcontractors and third parties. Eventbrite makes no guarantee that Contractor will
make a profit as a result of performing its obligations under this Agreement. Whether Contractor incurs a loss or makes a profit will be determined by Contractor’s
business judgment in managing the manner, method, mode, and means of operations chosen by Contractor.
6. Confidential Information.
A. Definition. “Confidential Information” means any information applicable or relevant to the business of Eventbrite or applicable or relevant to the business of
any third party, which may be made known to Contractor by Eventbrite or by any third party or learned by Contractor in the context of the relationship between the
Parties, whether prior to or following the execution of this Agreement. By way of illustration, but not limitation, Confidential Information includes any and all
Eventbrite Inventions (as defined below), technical and non-technical information including patent, copyright, trade secret, and proprietary information,
techniques, sketches, drawings, models, inventions, know-how, processes, apparatus, equipment, algorithms, software programs, software source documents, and
formulae related to the current, future and proposed products and services of Eventbrite, and includes, without limitation, information concerning research,
experimental work, development, design details and specifications, engineering, financial information, procurement requirements, purchasing, manufacturing,
customer lists, business forecasts, sales and merchandising, marketing plans and information, and information regarding other Contractors.
B. Duties Regarding Non-Disclosure. Contractor warrants and agrees to keep all Confidential Information in strict confidence and shall not disclose such
Confidential Information to any third party and shall use best efforts to protect such Confidential Information (including, without limitation, all precautions
Contractor employs with respect to Contractor’s own confidential materials). Contractor shall use Confidential Information in a legal and proper manner consistent
with the terms of this Agreement and only as may be necessary in the ordinary course of performing Contractor’s duties under this Agreement. Contractor’s
internal disclosure of Confidential Information shall be only to those employees, contractors or agents having a need to know such information in connection with
this Agreement and only insofar as such persons are bound by a nondisclosure agreement consistent with this Agreement. Contractor shall promptly notify
Eventbrite of any unauthorized disclosure or use of Confidential Information by any person and/or entity. This Agreement imposes no obligation upon Contractor
with respect to Confidential Information that (i) is or becomes generally known to the public without violation of this Agreement or without a violation of an
obligation of confidentiality owed to Eventbrite or a third party, (ii) is known to Contractor at the time of disclosure to Contractor by the Company
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as evidenced by written records of Contractor, or (iii) has been rightfully received by Contractor from a third party who is authorized to make such disclosure. In
addition, Contractor may disclose Confidential Information that is specifically required by law or court order to be disclosed, provided that Contractor shall have
given Eventbrite reasonable notice and opportunity to object prior to such disclosure.
C. Ownership Interest in Confidential Information. All Confidential Information is provided “as-is” and Eventbrite makes no representation or warranty of any
kind express or implied, with respect to the suitability, accuracy or non-infringement of third party rights. Eventbrite shall at all times retain sole and exclusive title
to, ownership of, and all right in and control over the use of all Confidential Information. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to grant any rights or license to
Contractor under any intellectual property rights of Eventbrite, nor shall this Agreement grant Contractor any rights in or to any Confidential Information, except
the limited right to use such information in accordance with this Agreement. Upon termination of this Agreement or at the request of Eventbrite from time to time
before termination, Contractor will deliver to Eventbrite all written and tangible material in Contractor’s possession incorporating any Confidential Information or
otherwise relating to Eventbrite’s business.
7. Inventions. “Inventions” means any and all new or useful art, discovery, improvement, technical development, or invention whether or not patentable, knowhow, designs, works of authorship, maskworks, trademarks, formulae, processes, manufacturing techniques, trade secrets, ideas, artwork, software or other
copyrightable or patentable works. To the extent allowed by applicable law, for the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Inventions” (and the assignments and
licenses under this Section 7) shall include (and Contractor hereby expressly waives) all rights of paternity, integrity, disclosure and withdrawal and any other
rights that may be known as or referred to as “moral rights,” “artist’s rights,” “droit moral,” or the like (collectively “Moral Rights”). To the extent Contractor
retains any such Moral Rights under applicable law, Contractor hereby ratifies and consents to any action that may be taken with respect to such Moral Rights by
or authorized by Eventbrite and agrees not to assert any Moral Rights with respect thereto. Contractor will confirm any such ratifications, consents and agreements
from time to time as requested by Eventbrite.
A. Disclosure of Prior Inventions. Contractor has identified on Appendix B attached hereto all Inventions relating in any way to Eventbrite’s business or
proposed business which were made by Contractor prior to providing Services to Eventbrite (“Prior Inventions”). Contractor represents that such list is complete
and that Contractor has no rights in any such Inventions other than those Prior Inventions specified in Appendix B. If no Prior Inventions are listed on Appendix
B, Contractor thereby represents that there are no such Prior Inventions at the time of signing this Agreement.
B. Ownership of Eventbrite Inventions. Contractor hereby agrees to promptly disclose and describe to Eventbrite and agrees that Eventbrite shall own the entire
right, title, and interest (including patent rights, copyrights, trade secret rights, maskwork rights, sui generis database rights and all other intellectual property rights
of any sort throughout the world) in and to, all Inventions and any associated intellectual property rights which Contractor may solely or jointly conceive, develop
or reduce to practice during the period of Contractor’s Services with Eventbrite, whether prior to or following the execution of this Agreement, that relate to the
subject matter of or arise out of or in connection with the Services or any Confidential Information, including, without limitation, any creative assets to be
delivered pursuant to Appendix A (“Eventbrite Inventions”). All Eventbrite Inventions are works made for hire for Eventbrite to the extent allowed by law, and,
if at any time for any reason any Eventbrite Invention is deemed not to be a work made for hire, Contractor hereby irrevocably transfers and assigns, and agrees to
transfer and assign, to Eventbrite or its designee, all right, title and interest therein, including all copyrights and all renewals and extensions thereto. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Eventbrite will have exclusive worldwide royalty free rights to modify, adapt, and prepare derivative works based upon the
Eventbrite Inventions and to use, reproduce, distribute, publicly perform, and display the Eventbrite Inventions in any manner and in any and all media now or
hereafter known. Contractor will cooperate with Eventbrite and will execute and cause to be executed any assignments, instruments, and documents reasonably
requested by Eventbrite to evidence Eventbrite’s interest or rights hereunder.
C. Assignment and License of Prior Inventions. Contractor agrees to grant Eventbrite or its designees a non-exclusive, royalty free, perpetual, irrevocable,
transferable, sublicensable (with rights to sublicense through multiple tiers of distribution), worldwide license to practice all applicable patent, copyright and other
intellectual property rights relating to any Prior Inventions which Contractor incorporates, or permits to be incorporated, in any Eventbrite Inventions, products or
services, or which is necessary for the use, reproduction, distribution or other exploitation of any Eventbrite Inventions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor
agrees that Contractor will not incorporate, or permit to be incorporated, such Prior Inventions in any Eventbrite Inventions, products or services without
Eventbrite’s prior written consent.
D. Cooperation in Perfecting Rights to Inventions. Contractor will perform, during and after the term of this Agreement, all acts deemed necessary or desirable
by Eventbrite to permit and assist it, at its expense, in obtaining and enforcing the full benefits, enjoyment, rights and title throughout the world in the Inventions
hereby assigned or licensed to Eventbrite. Such acts may include, but are not limited to, execution of documents and assistance or cooperation in the registration
and enforcement of applicable patents, copyrights, maskworks or other legal proceedings. In the event that Eventbrite is unable for any reason to secure
Contractor’s
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signature to any document required to apply for or execute any patent, copyright, mask work or other applications with respect to any Inventions (including
improvements, renewals, extensions, continuations, divisions or continuations in part thereof), Contractor hereby irrevocably designates and appoints Eventbrite
and its duly authorized officers and agents as Contractor’s agents and attorneys-in-fact to act for and on Contractor’s behalf and instead of Contractor, to execute
and file any such application and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the prosecution and issuance of such patents, copyrights, maskworks or other
rights with the same legal force and effect as if executed by Contractor. If any other person is in any way involved in any Services, Contractor will obtain the
foregoing ratifications, agreements, licenses, assignments, consents and authorizations from each such person for Eventbrite’s exclusive benefit.
8. Expectation of Privacy. Contractor recognizes and agrees that Contractor has no expectation of privacy with respect to Eventbrite’s telecommunications,
networking or information processing systems (including, without limitation, stored computer files, email messages and voice messages) and that Contractor’s
activity, and any files or messages, on or using any of those systems may be monitored at any time without notice.
9. Notices. Any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been effectively made or given if in writing and sent by confirmed
email.
10. Arbitration. Contractor agrees to execute the Arbitration Agreement attached as Appendix C. The Parties agree that any disagreement or controversy arising
out of or relating to this Agreement shall be resolved pursuant to the Parties’ Arbitration Agreement.
11. Complete Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the Parties and fully supersedes all prior and contemporaneous
agreements, correspondence, discussions and understandings between the Parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof. In case of conflict between
Appendix A and the body of this Agreement, the body of this Agreement shall control. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument. If a Party to this Agreement signs the signature page and faxes
(or scans and emails) the signature page to the other Party, then such signature page shall be deemed an original signature page to this Agreement and shall
constitute the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the sending Party. There have been no representations, inducements, promises or agreements of any
kind that have been made by any Party, or by any person acting on behalf of any Party, which are not embodied within this Agreement. This Agreement may not be
changed or altered except in writing duly executed by Eventbrite and the Contractor, or their duly authorized representatives. The waiver by either Party of a
breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. The headings in this Agreement are
inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to define, limit or in any way describe the scope of this Agreement or the intent of any provisions
hereof. The failure of either Party to enforce its rights under this Agreement at any time for any period shall not be construed as a waiver of such rights. No
changes or modifications or waivers to this Agreement will be effective unless in writing and signed by both Parties. In the event that any provision of this
Agreement shall be determined to be illegal or unenforceable, that provision will be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that this Agreement
shall otherwise remain in full force and effect and enforceable.
12. Term and Termination.
A. Contractor will provide the Services to Eventbrite for the time period stated in Appendix A.
B. Either Party may terminate this Agreement at any time in its sole and absolute discretion and without further liability (other than for obligations that accrued
prior to such termination and obligations that survive the termination of this Agreement) upon giving the other Party at least 7 days’ prior written notice. Sections
1-3 and 5-11 (inclusive) of this Agreement shall survive the termination hereof.
C. Either party may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause by providing written notice to the opposite party. “Cause” shall include, but not be limited to,
material breach of this Agreement.
D. Eventbrite may terminate this Agreement or suspend its performance hereunder, without prior notice, in the event that Eventbrite’s facilities are damaged or
destroyed or Eventbrite’s performance hereunder is prevented or hindered by labor disturbances (including but not limited to strikes and picketing), acts of God,
the elements, order of governmental, civil or military authority, or any other cause (whether similar or dissimilar to the above mentioned) not within the reasonable
control of Eventbrite.
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In Witness Whereof, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

EVENTBRITE, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:
CONTRACTOR
By:
Name: Lorrie Norrington
Date:

By Contractor’s signature above, Contractor acknowledges that, prior to signing, he or she has read this Agreement in its entirety and was afforded the
opportunity to have it reviewed by legal counsel. Specifically, Contractor understands that this contractual relationship is an independent contractor
relationship. Contractor also acknowledges that this Agreement is negotiable, including the Fees herein. If Contractor is a company, the signer warrants that
he or she has the authority to sign on behalf of the company.
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Appendix A
Services
TERM: June 1, 2020 through January 31, 2021 (the “Term”)
FEE: The fee for the Services will (i) $126,000 in Eventbrite stock options for services rendered prior to August 1, 2020; and (ii) $18,000 in Eventbrite stock
options (the “2020-2021 Consulting Options”) per month for August 1, 2020 through January 31, 2021. The 2020-2021 Consulting Options will fully vest as
described in the schedule below. The strike price for the 2020-2021 Consulting Options will be the closing market price on August 19, 2020, the date that the 20202021 Consulting Options were approved and granted by the Board.
Award Value in Options
$126,000
$18,000
$18,000
$18,000
$18,000
$18,000
$18,000

Vesting Commencement Date (VCD)
June 1, 2020
August 1, 2020
September 1, 2020
October 1, 2020
November 1, 2020
December 1, 2020
January 1, 2021

Vesting Schedule
100% vests on the Grant Date
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*
100% vests on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD*

* Shares subject to the stock options shall vest and become exercisable on on the 1-month anniversary of the VCD, subject to the grantee’s continued service
through such date.
PROJECT SUMMARY:
Contractor will advise and consult with Eventbrite executives on business drivers, organizational structure and strategy.
OPTION EXERCISE PERIOD:
The Company has previously granted Contractor one or more options for service as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors and service as a consultant
(collectively, the “Previous Options” and, together with the 2020-2021 Consulting Options the “Options”) to purchase shares of its common stock under the
Company’s 2010 Stock Option Plan, as amended (the “2010 Plan”) and/or the 2018 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”). The Options, to the extent
vested, shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to provide that the vested portion thereof shall remain exercisable until June 30, 2022 (provided that such
Option will remain subject to earlier termination in connection with a corporate transaction or event in accordance with applicable stock option agreements and
equity incentive plan). Each of the Options that is an “incentive stock option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, will be deemed modified for the purposes of Section 424 of the Code upon the Committee’s approval of the extension of exercisability. Therefore, to the
extent any such Option has an exercise price that is less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock as of the date of the Committee’s approval,
such Option will no longer qualify as an incentive stock option and the Advisor will lose the potentially favorable tax treatment associated with such Options.
SERVICE ON BOARD OF DIRECTORS:
On August 18, 2020, Contractor informed the Company that she intended to resign from the Board and on August 19, 2020 Contractor’s resignation was accepted
by the Board. On August 19, 2020 the Board approved a resolution that the equity grant made to Contractor on May 21, 2020 for service as a member of the Board
of Directors for service from June 2020 through June 2021 will vest in its entirety.
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Prior Inventions

___________
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Initials

Contractor has read and understands this page: _________________________

Appendix C
ARBITRATION AGREEMENT
This Arbitration Agreement covers important issues relating to your Independent Contractor Agreement with Eventbrite and the settlement of any
disputes that may arise from time to time between you and Eventbrite. You are free to seek assistance from independent advisors of your choice outside
Eventbrite or to refrain from doing so, if that is your choice.
1. How This Agreement Applies
This Arbitration Agreement applies (the “Agreement”) to any dispute arising out of or related to your Independent Contractor Agreement with Eventbrite, Inc. (the
“Independent Contractor Agreement”) or one of its affiliates, successor, subsidiaries or parent companies (collectively, "Eventbrite") or termination of Services and
survives after the Independent Contractor Agreement terminates. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent or excuse you (individually or
in concert with others) or Eventbrite from utilizing the Parties’ existing procedures for resolution of complaints, and this Agreement is not intended to be a
substitute for such procedures.
Except as it otherwise provides, this Agreement is intended to apply to the resolution of disputes that otherwise would be resolved in a court of law or before a
forum other than arbitration. This Agreement requires all such disputes to be resolved only by an arbitrator through final and binding arbitration and not by a court
or jury trial. Such disputes include without limitation disputes arising out of or relating to interpretation or application of this Agreement, including without
limitation as to the enforceability, conscionability, revocability, or validity of this Agreement or any portion of this Agreement other than the Class Action Waiver
contained in paragraph 6 below and disputes arising out of or related to the independent contractor relationship, including without limitation claims for breach of
contract, misclassification and failure to pay.
This Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq. and evidences a transaction involving commerce.
2. Limitations On How This Agreement Applies
This Agreement does not apply to: (i) claims for workers compensation, state disability insurance and unemployment insurance benefits, (ii) disputes which may
not be subject to pre-dispute arbitration agreements as provided in the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, and (iii) claims for which
applicable law permits access to an administrative agency notwithstanding the existence of this Agreement and which are then brought before such administrative
agency, including without limitation claims or charges brought before the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (www.eeoc.gov), the U.S. Department of
Labor (www.dol.gov), the National Labor Relations Board (www.nlrb.gov), or the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs (www.dol.gov/esa/ofccp).
Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to preclude or excuse a party from bringing an administrative claim before any agency in order to fulfill the party's
obligation to exhaust administrative remedies before making a claim in arbitration.
3. Selecting The Arbitrator
The neutral Arbitrator shall be selected by mutual agreement of you and Eventbrite. Unless you and Eventbrite mutually agree otherwise, the Arbitrator shall be an
attorney licensed to practice in the location where the arbitration proceeding will be conducted or a retired federal or state judicial officer who presided in the
jurisdiction where the arbitration will be conducted. If for any reason the parties cannot agree to an Arbitrator, either party may apply to a court of competent
jurisdiction with authority over the location where the arbitration will be conducted for appointment of a neutral Arbitrator. The court shall then appoint an
arbitrator, who shall act under this Agreement with the same force and effect as if the parties had selected the arbitrator by mutual agreement. The location of the
arbitration proceeding shall be no more than 45 miles from an Eventbrite office, unless each party to the arbitration agrees in writing otherwise.
4. Starting The Arbitration
All claims in arbitration are subject to the same statutes of limitation that would apply in court. The party bringing the claim must demand arbitration in writing
and deliver the written demand by hand or first class mail to the other party within the applicable statute of limitations period. The demand for arbitration shall
include identification of the parties, a statement of the legal and factual basis of the claim(s), and a specification of the remedy sought. Any demand for arbitration
made to Eventbrite shall be provided to Eventbrite’s Legal Department at Eventbrite’s then current registered address for the service of process in California. The
arbitrator shall resolve all disputes regarding the timeliness or propriety of the demand for arbitration. A party may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for
temporary or preliminary injunctive relief in connection with an arbitrable controversy, but only upon the ground that the award to which that party may be entitled
may be rendered ineffectual without such provisional relief.
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5. How Arbitration Proceedings Are Conducted
In arbitration, the parties will have the right to conduct adequate civil discovery, bring dispositive motions, and present witnesses and evidence as needed to present
their cases and defenses, and any disputes in this regard shall be resolved by the Arbitrator. At a party’s request or on the Arbitrator’s own initiative, the Arbitrator
may subpoena witnesses or documents for discovery purposes or for the arbitration hearing.
6. Class Action Waiver
You and Eventbrite agree not to bring any dispute in arbitration on a class basis. Accordingly, there will be no right or authority for any dispute to be brought,
heard or arbitrated as a class action ("Class Action Waiver").
The Class Action Waiver shall be severable from this Agreement in the event it is found unenforceable. Notwithstanding any other clause contained in this
Agreement, any claim that all or part of the Class Action Waiver is invalid, unenforceable, unconscionable, revocable, void or voidable may be determined only by
a court of competent jurisdiction and not by an arbitrator. The Class Action Waiver shall be severable in any case in which the dispute is filed as an individual
action and severance is necessary to ensure the individual action proceeds in arbitration.
7. Paying For The Arbitration
Each party will pay the fees for his, her or its own attorneys, subject to any remedies to which that party may later be entitled under applicable law. However, you
will only pay so much of the arbitration filing fees as you would have paid had you filed a Complaint in a court of law and Eventbrite will pay all remaining
administrative and/or hearing fees charged by the Arbitrator.
8. The Arbitration Hearing And Award
The parties will arbitrate their dispute before the Arbitrator, who shall confer with the parties regarding the conduct of the hearing and resolve any disputes the
parties may have in that regard. Within 30 days of the close of the arbitration hearing, any party will have the right to prepare, serve on the other party and file with
the Arbitrator a brief. The Arbitrator may award any party any remedy to which that party is entitled under applicable law, but such remedies shall be limited to
those that would be available to a party in his or her individual capacity in a court of law for the claims presented to and decided by the Arbitrator, and no remedies
that otherwise would be available to an individual in a court of law will be forfeited by virtue of this Agreement. The Arbitrator shall apply applicable controlling
law and will issue a decision or award in writing, stating the essential findings of fact and conclusions of law. Except as may be permitted or required by law, as
determined by the Arbitrator, neither a party nor an Arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written
consent of all parties. A court of competent jurisdiction shall have the authority to enter a judgment upon the award made pursuant to the arbitration.
9. Enforcement Of This Agreement
This Agreement is the full and complete agreement relating to the formal resolution of disputes covered by this Agreement. Except as stated in paragraph 6, above,
in the event any portion of this Agreement is deemed unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will be enforceable. If the Class Action Waiver is deemed to
be unenforceable, you and Eventbrite agree that this Agreement is otherwise silent as to any party's ability to bring a class action in arbitration.
I acknowledge that I have received, read, and understood this Dispute Resolution Agreement, including the Class Action Waiver contained herein.
CONTRACTOR NAME (PRINTED): Lorrie Norrington
CONTRACTOR SIGNATURE:
DATE:
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Julia Hartz, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eventbrite, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 5, 2020
/s/ Julia Hartz
Julia Hartz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to
Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a),
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Charles Baker, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eventbrite, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: November 5, 2020
/s/ Charles Baker
Charles Baker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of
Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Julia Hartz, Chief Executive Officer of Eventbrite, Inc. (the “Company”), and Charles Baker,
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies that, to the best of his or her knowledge:
1. The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2020, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1
(the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: November 5, 2020
/s/ Julia Hartz
Julia Hartz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Charles Baker
Charles Baker
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

